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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including statements regarding business, product and marketing plans, strategies and initiatives;
renewal of licenses and authorizations; the recoverability of goodwill and other long-lived assets; the performance of our equity affiliates;
the proposed Liberty Live Split-Off (as defined below); projected sources and uses of cash; fluctuations in interest rates and stock prices;
the anticipated non-material impact of certain contingent liabilities related to legal and tax proceedings; and other matters arising in the
ordinary course of business. In particular, statements under Item 1. “Business,” Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” Item 2. “Properties,” Item 7.
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Item 7A. “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk™ contain forward-looking statements. You can identify some of the forward-looking statements by the use
of forward-looking words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “should,” “may” and other similar
expressions, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Where, in any forward-looking statement, we
express an expectation or belief as to future results or events, such expectation or belief is expressed in good faith and believed to have a
reasonable basis, but there can be no assurance that the expectation or belief will result or be achieved or accomplished. You are therefore
cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following
include some but not all of the factors (as they relate to our consolidated subsidiaries and equity affiliates) that could cause actual results or
events to differ materially from those anticipated:

» ”»

e the historical financial information of the Liberty Formula One Group (the “Formula One Group”) and the Liberty Live
Group may not necessarily reflect their results had they been separate companies;

e our ability to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms and cash in amounts sufficient to service debt and other
financial obligations;

e our and our subsidiaries’ indebtedness could adversely affect operations and could limit the ability of our subsidiaries to react
to changes in the economy or our industry;

e the success of businesses attributed to each of our tracking stock groups and their popularity with audiences;
e  our ability to realize the benefits of acquisitions or other strategic investments;

e the impact of weak and uncertain economic conditions on consumer demand for products, services and events offered by our
businesses attributed to our tracking stock groups;

e our overlapping directors and management with QVC Group, Inc., formerly known as Qurate Retail, Inc. (“QVC Group”),
Liberty Broadband Corporation (“Liberty Broadband”) and Liberty TripAdvisor Holdings, Inc. (“TripCo”);

e the outcome of pending or future litigation;

e the operational risks of our subsidiaries and business affiliates with operations outside of the United States (“U.S.”);

e  our ability to use net operating loss, disallowed business interest and tax credit carryforwards to reduce future tax payments;
e the degradation, failure or misuse of our information systems;

e the ability of our subsidiaries and business affiliates to comply with government regulations, including, without limitation,
competition laws and adverse outcomes from regulatory proceedings;

e the regulatory and competitive environment of the industries in which we, and the entities in which we have interests, operate;
e changes in the nature of key strategic relationships with partners, vendors and joint venturers;

e the impact of a future pandemic and other public health related risks and events, such as COVID-19, on our customers,
vendors and businesses generally;

e reliance on intellectual property and the ability to protect intellectual property;

e reliance on third parties;




Table of Contents

e the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel;

e the impact of our equity method investment in Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (“Live Nation™) on our net earnings and the
net earnings of the Liberty Live Group;

e termination of or changes in any of the agreements, commitments or policies Formula 1 relies on to operate and the
limitations such agreements, commitments and policies impose on Formula 1;

e challenges by tax authorities in the jurisdictions where Formula 1 operates;

e changes in tax laws that affect Formula 1 and the Formula One Group;

e the ability of Formula 1 to expand into new markets;

e changes in laws and regulations and/or their interpretations related to advertising, media rights and the environment;

e the establishment of rival motorsports events or other circumstances that impact the competitive position of Formula 1;

e the impact of cancelations or postponements of events or accidents or terrorist attacks during events;

e changes in consumer viewing habits and the emergence of new content distribution platforms;

e fluctuations in currencies against the U.S. dollar;

e the risks associated with the Company as a whole and our use of tracking stock groups, even if a holder does not own shares
of common stock of both of our groups;

e market confusion that results from misunderstandings about our capital structure;

e market price of our tracking stocks may be volatile;

e we may not pay dividends equally to our tracking stocks or at all;

e our directors’ or officers’ equity ownership may create the appearance of conflicts of interest;

e geopolitical incidents, accidents, terrorist acts, international conflicts, natural disasters, including the effects of climate

change, or other events that cause one or more events to be cancelled or postponed, are not covered by insurance, or cause
reputational damage to our subsidiaries and business affiliates;

e challenges related to assessing the future prospects of tracking stock groups based on past performance;
e  our ability to recognize anticipated benefits from the proposed Liberty Live Split-Off;
e the possibility that our business may suffer as a result of uncertainty surrounding the proposed Liberty Live Split-Off; and

e the possibility that the proposed Liberty Live Split-Off may have unexpected costs.

These forward-looking statements and such risks, uncertainties and other factors speak only as of the date of this Annual Report,
and we expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement
contained herein, to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto, or any other change in events, conditions or circumstances
on which any such statement is based. When considering such forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the factors described
in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and other cautionary statements contained in this Annual Report. Such risk factors and statements describe
circumstances that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement.

This Annual Report includes information concerning Live Nation, our equity method affiliate that files reports and other
information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Information in this Annual Report concerning Live Nation has been derived from the reports and other
information filed by Live Nation with the SEC. If you would like further information about Live Nation, the reports and other information
it files with the SEC can be accessed on the Internet website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov. Unless explicitly stated herein, those
reports and other information are not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.
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PART 1.
Item 1. Business.

General Development of Business

Liberty Media Corporation (“Liberty”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our”) owns interests in subsidiaries and other companies
that are engaged in the media and entertainment industries primarily in North America and the United Kingdom (“U.K.”). Our principal
businesses and assets include our consolidated subsidiaries, Formula 1 and QuintEvents, LLC (“QuintEvents”), and our equity affiliate,
Live Nation.

Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Sirius XM Holdings”) was a subsidiary of the Company until the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off
(defined below) on September 9, 2024. Braves Holdings, LLC ("Braves Holdings") was a subsidiary of the Company until the Atlanta
Braves Holdings Split-Off (defined below) on July 18, 2023.

On April 15, 2016, the Company reclassified its then-outstanding shares of common stock into three tracking stocks—Liberty
Braves common stock, Liberty Media common stock and Liberty SiriusXM common stock (the “Recapitalization”). The Liberty Media
common stock was renamed the Liberty Formula One common stock in January 2017.

A tracking stock is a type of common stock that the issuing company intends to reflect or “track” the economic performance of a
particular business or “group,” rather than the economic performance of the company as a whole.

On July 18, 2023, the Company completed the split-off (the “Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off”) of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. (“Atlanta Braves Holdings”). The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off was accomplished by a redemption by
the Company of each outstanding share of Liberty Braves common stock in exchange for one share of the corresponding series of Atlanta
Braves Holdings common stock. Atlanta Braves Holdings was comprised of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty
Braves Group (the “Braves Group”) immediately prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, except for the intergroup interests in the
Braves Group attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group and the Formula One Group, which were settled and extinguished in connection
with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off.

On August 3, 2023, the Company reclassified its then-outstanding shares of common stock into three new tracking stocks —
Liberty SiriusXM common stock, Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock, and, in connection therewith,
provided for the attribution of the businesses, assets and liabilities of the Company’s remaining tracking stock groups among its newly
created Liberty SiriusXM Group, Formula One Group and Liberty Live Group (the “Reclassification”). As a result of the Reclassification,
each then-outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty
SiriusXM common stock and 0.2500 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock and each outstanding share of
Liberty Formula One common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty Formula One common stock
and 0.0428 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock.

Each of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification were intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the
Company, except with respect to the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares. In July 2024, the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”)
completed its review of the Reclassification and notified the Company that it agreed with the nontaxable characterization of the transaction.
In September 2024, the IRS completed its review of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and notified the Company that it agreed with the
nontaxable characterization of the transaction. The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification are reflected in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements on a prospective basis.

On January 2, 2024, the Company purchased QuintEvents for total consideration of approximately $277 million, comprised of
$205 million of cash, net of cash acquired of $66 million, and a $6 million settlement of a pre-existing condition.

I-3




Table of Contents

On September 9, 2024, the Company completed the split-off (the “Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off”) of its wholly owned
subsidiary, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Liberty Sirius XM Holdings”). The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was accomplished
through the redemption by the Company of each outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock in exchange for 0.8375 of a share of
Liberty Sirius XM Holdings common stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares. Liberty Sirius XM Holdings was comprised of the
businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group immediately prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off.
The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was intended to be tax-free to holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock (except with respect
to cash received in lieu of fractional shares).

Following the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, on September 9, 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Sirius XM
Holdings merged with and into Sirius XM Holdings, with Sirius XM Holdings surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of
Liberty Sirius XM Holdings (the “Merger” and, together with the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the “Transactions”). As a result of
the Transactions, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings became an independent public company, separate from the Company.

While the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group have separate collections of businesses, assets and liabilities attributed
to them, no group is a separate legal entity and therefore cannot own assets, issue securities or enter into legally binding agreements.
Holders of tracking stock have no direct claim to the group’s stock or assets and therefore, do not own, by virtue of their ownership of a
Liberty tracking stock, any equity or voting interest in a public company, such as Live Nation, in which Liberty holds an interest that is
attributed to a Liberty tracking stock group, the Liberty Live Group. Holders of tracking stock are also not represented by separate boards
of directors. Instead, holders of tracking stock are stockholders of the parent corporation, with a single board of directors and subject to all
of the risks and liabilities of the parent corporation.

The Liberty Formula One common stock is intended to track and reflect the separate economic performance of the businesses,
assets and liabilities attributed to the Formula One Group, which, as of December 31, 2024, include Liberty’s interests in Formula 1 and
QuintEvents, cash and Liberty’s 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027.

The Liberty Live common stock is intended to track and reflect the separate economic performance of the businesses, assets and
liabilities attributed to the Liberty Live Group. As of December 31, 2024, the Liberty Live Group is primarily comprised of Liberty’s
interest in Live Nation, cash, other minority investments, Liberty’s 2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053 and an undrawn
margin loan.

Prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM common stock was intended to track and reflect the
separate economic performance of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group. At the time of the Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM Group was comprised of Liberty’s interest in Sirius XM Holdings, corporate cash,
Liberty’s 3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028, Liberty’s 2.75% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2049 and a margin loan
obligation incurred by a wholly-owned special purpose subsidiary of Liberty. Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is presented as a discontinued
operation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Prior to the Reclassification, Liberty’s interest in Live Nation, Liberty’s
0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050 and a margin loan secured by shares of Live Nation were attributed to the Liberty
SiriusXM Group and are presented as continuing operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty Braves common stock was intended to track and reflect the separate
economic performance of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Braves Group. The Braves Group was primarily comprised
of Braves Holdings, which indirectly owns the Atlanta Braves Major League Baseball Club (the “Braves”), certain assets and liabilities
associated with the Braves’ stadium (the “Stadium”) and a mixed-use development around the Stadium that features retail, office, hotel and
entertainment opportunities and corporate cash. Braves Holdings is not presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements as the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off did not represent a strategic shift that had a major effect on the
Company’s operations and financial results.
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On March 29, 2024, the Company agreed, subject to certain conditions, to acquire approximately 86% of the equity interests in
Dorna Sports, S.L., (“Dorna”) for a purchase price of approximately €3.0 billion, to be funded with cash. The Company entered into foreign
currency forward contracts for close to the full purchase price. In December 2024, the European Commission (“E.C.”) notified the
Company that a Phase II investigation would occur, extending regulatory review beyond December 31, 2024. The Company agreed to pay
€126 million to the sellers to extend the longstop date to June 30, 2025 in order to accommodate the Phase II investigation. The €126
million is considered prepaid purchase consideration and is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2024. Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company extended a portion of the foreign currency forward contracts through
the extended longstop date.

On November 13, 2024, the Company announced that it is pursuing a plan to split-off the Liberty Live Group (the “Liberty Live
Split-Off”). Immediately prior to the Liberty Live Split-Off, QuintEvents would be reattributed from the Formula One Group to the Liberty
Live Group in exchange for certain private assets and cash. The Liberty Live Split-Off would be effected through the redemption of Liberty
Live common stock in exchange for common stock of a newly formed company, Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. The Company would redeem
each outstanding share of its Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Live common stock for one share of the corresponding series of
common stock of Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. As a result of the Liberty Live Split-Off, the Company and Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. would
be separate publicly traded companies, and the Company would no longer have a tracking stock structure. The Liberty Live Split-Off is
subject to various conditions including, among other things, shareholder approval and the receipt of an opinion of tax counsel. The Liberty
Live Split-Off is intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the Company.

As of December 31, 2021, 6,792,903 notional shares represented an 11.0% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously held
by the Formula One Group, 2,292,037 notional shares represented a 3.7% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously held by the
Liberty SiriusXM Group and 5,271,475 notional shares represented a 2.2% intergroup interest in the Formula One Group previously held
by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

During September 2022, the Formula One Group and the Braves Group paid approximately $64 million and $14 million,
respectively, to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to settle a portion of the intergroup interests in the Formula One Group and Braves Group held
by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a portion of Liberty’s 1.375% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the
“Convertible Notes”). During March 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $202 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to
settle a portion of the intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a
portion of the Convertible Notes. On July 12, 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $71 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group
to settle and extinguish the remaining intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

In connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the intergroup interests in the Braves Group attributed to the Liberty
SiriusXM Group and Formula One Group were settled and extinguished through the attribution, to the respective tracking stock group, of
Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock on a one-for-one basis equal to the number of notional shares representing the intergroup
interest. On July 19, 2023, the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock attributed to the Formula One Group to settle and
extinguish the intergroup interest in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off were distributed on a pro rata basis to holders of
Liberty Formula One common stock. During November 2023, Liberty exchanged the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common
stock attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group with a third party to satisfy certain debt obligations attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM
Group.
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Description of Business
The following table identifies our more significant subsidiaries and minority investments.

Consolidated Subsidiaries
Formula 1

Equity Method Investments
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (NYSE:LYV)

Formula 1

Formula 1 holds the exclusive commercial rights with respect to the Fédération Internationale de I’ Automobile (“FIA”) Formula
One World Championship (the “World Championship”), an annual, approximately nine-month long, motor race-based competition in which
teams (the “Teams”) compete for the Constructors’ Championship and drivers compete for the Drivers’ Championship. The World
Championship, which has been held every year since 1950 and takes place on high profile iconic circuits, is a global series with a varying
number of events (“Events”) taking place in different countries around the world each season. In 2024, 24 Events took place in 21 countries
across Europe, Asia-Pacific, the Middle East and North and South America. In 2024, the World Championship was followed by hundreds of
millions of television viewers in approximately 200 territories and Formula 1’s largest Events have hosted live audiences in excess of
450,000 on race weekends.

Formula 1 is responsible for the commercial exploitation and development of the World Championship, in the course of which it
coordinates and transacts with the FIA, the governing body and regulator of world motor sport, the Teams, the race promoters that stage
Events, various media organizations worldwide, as well as advertisers and sponsors. Formula 1 also performs activities related to critical
components of the World Championship, including filming and providing technical support at Events, production of the international
television feed and logistics related to the transport of its and the Teams’ equipment, ensuring high quality and reducing delivery risk
around the World Championship. Additionally, Formula 1, pursuant to other agreements with the FIA, holds the exclusive right to promote
and commercially exploit the F2 and F3 series through 2041, and in 2023 launched F1 Academy, a series aimed at developing and
preparing young female drivers to progress to higher levels of competition.

Formula 1 also generates revenue from a variety of other sources, including the operation of the Formula 1 Paddock Club
hospitality program (the “Paddock Club”), freight, logistical and travel related services for the Teams and other third parties, the F2 and F3
race series, which run principally as support races during Event weekends, F1 Academy, various television production and post-production
activities, digital and social media activities and revenue from other licensing of the commercial rights associated with the Formula 1 brand.

Formula 1 recognizes the majority of its revenue and expenses in connection with Events that take place in different countries
around the world, generally between March and December each year. As a result, the revenue and expenses recognized by Formula 1 are
generally lower during the first quarter as compared to the rest of the quarters throughout the year.

Primary Revenue

Formula 1 derives its primary revenue from the commercial exploitation and development of the World Championship through a
combination of race promotion, media rights and sponsorship arrangements. A significant majority of the race promotion, media rights and
sponsorship contracts specify payments in advance and annual increases in the fees payable over the course of the contracts.

Race Promotion. Race promotion revenue comprised 29.3%, 29.3% and 28.6% of Formula 1’s total revenue for the years ended

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Formula 1 grants to race promoters the rights to host,
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stage and promote each Event pursuant to contracts that typically have an initial term of three to seven years. For established Events, the
duration of subsequent renewals is more variable according to local market conditions. These contracts may allow for flat fees over the
term, but more typically they include annual fee escalators over the life of the contract, which are typically based on annual movement in a
selected consumer price index or fixed percentages of up to 5% per year.

Race promoters are generally circuit owners, local and national automobile clubs, special event organizers or governmental bodies.
Race promoters generate revenue from ticket sales and sometimes from concessions, secondary hospitality offerings (other than the
Paddock Club), local sponsorship opportunities and on-site activations. Tickets are sold by the promoters for the entire Event weekend or
individual days.

In 2024 and 2023, the Las Vegas Grand Prix was the only Event that was directly promoted by Formula 1, and as a result, Formula
1 was responsible for the development and operation of the circuit and paddock facilities. As a self-promoted event, Formula 1 received the
revenue from ticket sales and other commercial arrangements in connection with the event. Revenue from the sale of grandstand and
general access tickets is included in Race Promotion revenue.

Media Rights. Media rights revenue comprised 32.8%, 32.2% and 36.4% of Formula 1’s total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Formula 1 licenses rights to broadcast Events on television and other media platforms in
specified countries or regions and in specified languages. These may also include rights to broadcast the race, practice and qualifying
sessions, interactive television/digital services, repeat broadcasts and highlights. Contracts with broadcasters, which we refer to as
television rights agreements (“TRAs”), typically have a term of three to five years. While annual fees from broadcasters may stay constant,
they often increase each year during the term of the TRA by varying amounts. Formula 1’s media rights revenue is primarily generated
from: (a) free-to-air television broadcasts, which are received by the end user without charge (other than any television license fee), and
non-premium cable, satellite and other broadcasts, which are received as part of a subscriber’s basic package (together, “free-to-air
television”); (b) premium and pay-per-view cable and satellite broadcasts, where the subscriber pays a premium fee to receive
programming on a package or per-event basis (“pay television”) and (c) subscription revenue from Formula 1’s own direct-to-consumer
over-the-top broadcast product F1 TV. In 2024, Formula 1 had 11 free-to-air television agreements, 13 pay television agreements and
27 agreements, including multi-territory agreements, covering both free-to-air and pay television. Formula 1’s key broadcasters include Sky
(pay television) in the U.K., Sky Deutschland (pay television) in Germany, Sky Italia (pay television) in Italy, DAZN (pay television) in
Spain, ESPN (pay television) in Pan Latin America, Canal+ (pay television) in France, Vietham and Myanmar, Bandeirantes (free-to-air
and pay television) in Brazil, Viaplay (free-to-air and pay television) in Denmark, Finland, Norway, Sweden and Netherlands, Viaplay (pay
television) in Iceland and Poland, ESPN and ESPN Deportes (pay television) in the U.S., beIN Sports (pay television) in Pan Asia and beIN
Sports (free-to-air and pay television) in the Middle East, North Africa and Turkey.

Sponsorship. Sponsorship revenue comprised 18.6%, 18.0% and 16.9% of Formula 1’s total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Formula 1 sells Event-based sponsorship in the form of trackside advertising and race
title sponsorship packages. In addition, sponsors can acquire status as a Global Partner of Formula 1 and/or Official Supplier to Formula 1.
These advertiser and sponsor contracts typically have a term of three to five years (but may on occasion be of longer duration). Payments
often increase each year based on a fixed amount, a fixed percentage or in accordance with the U.S. or European consumer price index or
another agreed metric.

Other Revenue
The remainder of Formula 1’s revenue is typically generated from a variety of other sources including facilitating the shipment of
cars and equipment to and from events outside of Europe, revenue from the sale of tickets to the Paddock Club at most Events, support

races at Events, various television production activities and other ancillary operations. Other revenue also includes the sale of hospitality
tickets for the Las Vegas Grand Prix.
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FIA and the Teams

Formula 1’s business is built on a number of key relationships—those with the FIA, the Teams and Formula 1’s principal
commercial partners. See “—Key Commercial Agreements” below for more information about Formula 1’s relationships with the FIA and
the Teams.

FI4

The FIA is the governing body for world motor sport and as such, is solely responsible for regulating the sporting, technical and
safety aspects of the World Championship, including race circuits to be used by race promotors, through the FIA’s F1 Commission and
World Motor Sport Council. The FIA regulates all international motor sports, with the World Championship being the most prominent. The
FIA owns the World Championship and has granted Formula 1 the exclusive commercial rights to the World Championship until the end of
2110 under the 100-Year Agreements (described below). In addition, the FIA, through its World Motor Sport Council, approves the
calendar for the World Championship each year based on the agreed race promotor contracts for the coming season. Under the 100-Year
Agreements, Formula 1 is only permitted to enter into race promotion contracts that are substantially in the form agreed between Formula 1
and the FIA.

Teams

The Teams are the participants in the World Championship and its Events, competing for the annual Constructors” Championship,
and their drivers compete for the annual Drivers” Championship. There were 10 Teams competing in the 2024 World Championship. To be
eligible to compete, a Team is responsible for the design and manufacturing of certain key parts of its cars, including the chassis. Currently,
the Teams are supplied race engines by one of Ferrari, Mercedes, Renault or Red Bull Powertrains, with Audi and Honda committing to
become an engine supplier beginning in the 2026 season and Renault withdrawing as an engine supplier after 2025. Under the terms of the
2021 Concorde Agreement (described below), Teams are entitled to receive significant team payments from a Formula 1 prize fund (the
“Prize Fund”) based primarily on their results in prior years’ Constructors’ Championships. Formula 1 has no direct or indirect ownership
interest in any Team, nor does it have any contractual arrangements with the drivers, who are all employed or contracted directly by the
Teams. Each Team is responsible for securing its own drivers and funding the costs of competing in the World Championship. They receive
Prize Fund payments from Formula 1, as well as sponsorship and advertising revenue from their own partners. The 2021 Concorde
Agreement between Formula 1, the FIA and the Teams define the terms of the Team’s participation in the World Championship (for further
detail, see “—Key Commercial Agreements—Concorde Agreement” below.)

Drivers

One of the distinctive features of the World Championship is the celebrity and diversity of its drivers. Differences in nationalities,
temperaments and racing styles form part of the attractive mosaic of Formula 1. The success of a local driver also impacts the television
viewership and revenue generated from that country or region. High profile drivers from the U.K. (Hamilton), the Netherlands (Verstappen)
and Spain (Alonso) have helped grow and sustain the Formula 1 business in those countries. For this reason, Formula 1 encourages the
development of drivers from other strategic markets. F2 and F3 provide the training ground and final stepping stones to Formula 1 for these
drivers. All drivers are employed or contracted by the Teams and have no contractual relationship with Formula 1.
Key Commercial Agreements

100-Year Agreements

Under the 100-Year Agreements entered into by Formula 1 and the FIA in 2001, which took effect on January 1, 2011 and will
expire on December 31, 2110, Formula 1 is the exclusive holder of all commercial rights to the World Championship.

The 100-Year Agreements also provide that Formula 1 may appoint a representative to the FIA, subject to the FIA’s approval, and
that person will be a member of the FIA’s F1 Commission and World Motor Sport Council. The FIA
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may terminate the 100-Year Agreements, leading to a transfer of material commercial rights into effective FIA ownership, upon a change of
control of Formula 1, unless either the FIA previously approved the transaction or the transaction falls within one of a number of
exceptions. Formula 1 obtained the FIA’s approval of its acquisition by Liberty in January 2017 under the 100-Year Agreements.

In addition, the FIA may terminate the 100-Year Agreements if (i) certain Delta Topco Limited (“Delta Topco™) subsidiaries party
to the 100-Year Agreements become insolvent; (ii) Formula 1 fails to pay an amount due to the FIA and such non-payment is not cured
within 30 days of FIA’s demand for payment; (iii) arbitrators declare that Formula 1 materially breached the 100-Year Agreements and
Formula 1 has not paid to the FIA certain penalties to cure such breach; or (iv) Formula 1 changes or removes certain of the FIA’s rights
without its prior consent.

Concorde Agreement

From 1981 until 2012, successive Concorde Agreements governed the relationship between Formula 1, the FIA and the Teams,
including the regulation of the World Championship. After the then-current Concorde Agreement expired on December 31, 2012,
Formula 1 entered into a separate binding bilateral agreement with each Team (the “Team Agreements”), securing the relevant Team’s
commitment to continue participating in the World Championship until December 31, 2020. In addition, Formula 1 entered into the 2013
Concorde Implementation Agreement with the FIA in 2013. The 2013 Concorde Implementation Agreement, in addition to making certain
modifications to the 100-Year Agreements for the period to end 2030, provides that the FIA agrees to provide certain sporting governance
arrangements and regulatory safeguards for the benefit of the Teams, to enter into a new Concorde Agreement for a term of eight years
(from 2013 to 2020) reflecting those sporting governance arrangements and regulatory safeguards and to enter into a subsequent Concorde
Agreement from 2021 to 2030 or to extend the sporting governance arrangements or regulatory safeguards agreed under the 2013 Concorde
Implementation Agreement on substantially the same terms from 2021 to 2030. The Team Agreements and the 2013 Concorde
Implementation Agreement together provided, until December 31, 2020, the contractual framework for the World Championship that was
previously set out in the Concorde Agreements.

In August 2020, Formula 1, the FIA and the Teams entered into the 2021 Concorde Agreement, securing the commitment of the
Teams to continue participating in the World Championship from January 1, 2021 until December 31, 2025, and governing the relationship
between the parties during that period. The 2021 Concorde Agreement is made up of two separate documents: (a) the 2021 Concorde
Commercial Agreement between Formula 1 and each of the Teams; and (b) the 2021 Concorde Governance Agreement between Formula 1,
the FIA and each of the Teams.

The 2021 Concorde Agreement provides, among other things, for the participation of the Teams in the World Championship during
the term of that agreement, and provides for Formula 1 to make certain Prize Fund payments to the Teams based on their performance in
the Constructors’ Championship and other principles (such as success and heritage in Formula 1).

Key Provisions

As discussed above, the 2021 Concorde Agreement establishes a Prize Fund, establishes procedures for setting the World
Championship calendar, and provides for certain termination rights. The 2021 Concorde Agreement establishes rules for the determination
of the Prize Fund to be paid to the Teams, which is calculated with reference to certain percentages of Formula 1’s Prize Fund Adjusted
EBIT (defined by Formula 1 as operating profit adjusted to exclude certain specific, and largely non-cash items). A share of the Prize Fund
is paid to Ferrari in recognition of its heritage, with the remainder paid to Teams based on their results in prior Constructors’
Championships (a significant majority of which is based on their position in the prior year’s World Championship). Under the 2021
Concorde Agreement, the consent of 70% of the Teams is required if there are more than 24 Events in a season or if there are fewer than
eight Events across Europe and North America combined.

The 2021 Concorde Agreement may be terminated with respect to a Team if the Team fails to participate in more than three Events
in a season, fails to submit a valid entry for participation in the World Championship or becomes
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insolvent. Teams may terminate their rights and obligations pursuant to the 2021 Concorde Agreement by giving one full season’s written
notice to Formula 1, as well as under certain other circumstances, including:

e Formula I is unable to pay its debts when they become due;
e Formula 1 fails for three months to pay an aggregate amount due in excess of $10 million to the Team; or

o  Upon the occurrence of specified compliance violations or sanctions-related events.
Circuit Rights Agreements

Under circuit rights agreements (the “Circuit Rights Agreements”), Formula 1 acquires from race promoters certain rights to
commercially exploit at the Events, including the rights to sell trackside advertising and title sponsorship, the right to sell Paddock Club
hospitality (other than at three Events) and commercial use of the name of the Event and circuit. In a few cases a cash payment is made for
the grant of these circuit rights and in others Formula 1 offers a commission or share of revenue to a race promoter where they have been
instrumental in introducing a new sponsor from its territory that purchases a title sponsorship or trackside advertising. Circuit Rights
Agreements typically have a term that is tied to the relevant race promoter contract.

Intellectual Property

Formula 1 is the registered owner of a portfolio of trademark registrations and applications, including for the F1 logo, the World
Championship logo (which is used only in sporting contexts), “Formula One”, “Formula 1”7, “F1” and “Grand Prix” when used in
connection with any of the aforementioned and most of the official Event titles where they are capable of registration.

Formula 1 owns the copyright on footage of each Event since 1981 as well as footage related to a large number of pre-1981
Events. Ownership of this copyright enables Formula 1 to license that footage to broadcasters and to take legal action against infringers of
that copyright. Under the 2021 Concorde Agreement, Formula 1 also has the exclusive right, subject to limited exceptions, to use each
Team’s intellectual property rights (including image rights) to portray the World Championship and/or any Event in any visual form.

Licenses and Permits

Formula 1 is required to obtain permits for the allocation and use of radio frequencies which are necessary for the operation of live
camera and other equipment used in the production of live television images and also in live radio communications used by Formula 1, the
FIA, the Teams (including car to pit radio transmissions) and the emergency services. Such radio frequency permits are obtained by a
dedicated unit in the television production team, with assistance from the local race promoter. Typically, such radio frequency permits are
obtained from the relevant governmental authority responsible for licensing the use of radio frequencies in the host country of the relevant
Event. The requirements and procedures for obtaining such permits vary by country and they may involve the completion of written
formalities or the inspection by the relevant governmental authority of all equipment to be operated with a radio frequency. Permits are
typically issued subject to conditions, which Formula 1 has generally been able to satisty.

Strategy

Formula 1°s goal is to further broaden and increase the global scale and appeal of the World Championship in order to improve the
overall value of Formula 1 as a sport and its financial performance. Key factors of this strategy include:

o Maximizing the value of Formula 1’s commercial rights;

o Leveraging high demand and positive competitive tension for Event renewals to increase the quality and value of
every race slot
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o Maximizing media rights across markets, including alternate media platforms; continuing to grow Formula 1’s
direct-to-consumer F1 TV product, alongside its growing suite of digital media assets

o Developing sponsorship revenue by optimizing Formula 1’s existing inventory to maximize impact, exclusivity and
value for Formula 1°s partners, while creating new, tailored assets to satisfy growing demand from a broad-spectrum
of global brands

o Enhancing Formula 1’s hospitality and experience business by developing its existing Paddock Club, together with
new premium offerings

e Augmenting Formula 1’s diverse and valuable fanbase by expanding the ways in which it interacts with fans, which will drive
deeper fan engagement and improved fan data;

e Driving growth in key strategic markets with under-monetized fan potential;

e Improving the on-track competitive balance of the World Championship and the long-term financial stability of the
participating Teams; and

e Improving the environmental and social impact of Formula 1 and its related activities by delivering Net Zero by 2030, leaving
a legacy of positive change wherever it races, and building a more diverse and inclusive sport. Formula 1 is also pioneering a
100% advanced sustainable fuel to be introduced in 2026 that will be a “drop-in fuel” and can be used in road cars without
modification worldwide.

Live Nation
Live Nation is considered the world’s leading live entertainment company.
Live Nation's Business Segments

Concerts. Live Nation’s Concerts segment principally involves the global promotion of live music events in its owned or
operated venues and in rented third-party venues, the operation and management of music venues, the production of music festivals across
the world, the creation of associated content and the provision of management and other services to artists. While its Concerts segment
traditionally operates year-round, Live Nation experiences higher revenue during the second and third quarters due to the seasonal nature of
shows at its outdoor amphitheaters and festivals, which primarily occur from May through October. Live Nation expects its seasonality
trends to evolve as it continues to expand its global operations. Revenue is generally impacted by the number of events, volume of ticket
sales and ticket prices. Event costs such as artist fees and production expenses are included in direct operating expenses and are typically
substantial in relation to the revenue.

Ticketing. Live Nation’s Ticketing segment is primarily an agency business that sells tickets for events on behalf of its clients
and retains a portion of the service charge as a fee. Live Nation sells tickets for its events and also for third-party clients across multiple live
event categories, providing ticketing services for leading arenas, stadiums, amphitheaters, music clubs, concert promoters, professional
sports franchises and leagues, college sports teams, performing arts venues, museums and theaters. Live Nation sells tickets through mobile
apps, websites, and ticket outlets. Live Nation’s Ticketing segment also manages its online activities including enhancements to its websites
and product offerings. Live Nation’s ticketing sales are impacted by fluctuations in the availability of events for sale to the public, which
may vary depending upon event scheduling by its clients.

Sponsorship & Advertising. Live Nation’s Sponsorship & Advertising segment employs a sales force that creates and maintains
relationships with sponsors through a combination of strategic, international, national and local opportunities that allow businesses to reach
customers through its concert, festival, venue and ticketing assets, including advertising on Live Nation websites. Live Nation works with
its corporate clients to help create marketing programs that support their business goals and connect their brands directly with fans and
artists. Live Nation also develops, books and produces custom events or programs for its clients’ specific brands, which are typically
presented exclusively to the clients’ consumers. These custom events can involve live music events with talent and media, using both online
and traditional outlets. Live Nation typically experiences higher revenue in the second and third quarters as a large portion of sponsorships
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are typically associated with its outdoor venues and festivals which are primarily used in, or occur from, May through October.
Terms of Live Nation Investment

At December 31, 2024, we beneficially owned approximately 69.6 million shares of Live Nation common stock, which
represented approximately 30% of the issued and outstanding shares as of December 31, 2024.

Under our stockholders agreement with Live Nation, we have the right to nominate two directors (one of whom must qualify as an
independent director) to the Live Nation board of directors, currently comprised of 12 directors, for so long as our ownership interest
provides us with not less than 5% of the total voting power of Live Nation’s equity securities. We also have the right to cause one of our
nominees to serve on the audit committee and the compensation committee of the board, provided they meet the independence and other
qualifications for membership on those committees. Live Nation has waived the director independence requirement with respect to our
nominees to the Live Nation board of directors, and we have waived our right to cause one of our nominees to serve on the audit and
compensation committees of the board.

We have agreed under the stockholders agreement not to acquire beneficial ownership of Live Nation equity securities that would
result in our having in excess of 35% of the voting power of Live Nation’s equity securities. That percentage is subject to decrease for
specified transfers of our Live Nation stock. We have been exempted from the restrictions on business combinations set forth in Section 203
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, and Live Nation has agreed in the stockholders agreement not to take certain actions that would
materially and adversely affect our ability to acquire Live Nation securities representing up to 35% of the voting power of Live Nation’s
equity securities.

Other Minority Investments

We also own a portfolio of minority equity investments in public and private companies. These non-core assets may be monetized
in the future, potentially through derivative and structured transactions as well as public and private sales.

Regulatory Matters

The operations and business of Formula 1 are subject to European and national competition laws which require Formula 1 at all
times to ensure its business practices and agreements are consistent with the operation of competitive markets. Following an investigation
by the E.C. into the commercialization of Formula 1 and related agreements in 1999, Formula 1 modified certain of its business practices
and changed the terms of a number of its commercial contracts with Teams, broadcasters, promoters and the FIA. In October 2001, the E.C.
issued two comfort letters to Formula 1 stating that it was no longer under investigation. Comfort letters are not binding on the E.C. and if it
believes that there has been a material change in circumstances, further enforcement action could be taken. The E.C. issued a press release
in October 2003 stating that it was satisfied that Formula 1 had complied with the modified practices and terms that had led to its issuing
the 2001 comfort letters and that it had ended its monitoring of Formula 1°s compliance.

Competition

With respect to Formula 1, the World Championship competes with many alternative forms of entertainment, such as other
sporting and live events, for television viewership, live attendance and advertising. For example, Formula 1 competes for media rights and
advertising revenue with other global and regional Tier 1 sports, including the Olympic Games, FIFA World Cup, Champions League and
Premier League. Within national markets, Formula 1 competes with local racing events, such as the Indianapolis 500 race and NASCAR in
the U.S.

Live Nation faces competition in the live music industry, in attracting touring artists to the venues it owns and operates and from
ticketing services primarily through online and mobile channels but also through phone, outlet and box office channels. Competition in the
live entertainment industry is intense. Live Nation believes that it competes primarily on the basis of its ability to deliver quality music
events, sell tickets and provide enhanced fan and artist experiences. It believes that its primary strengths include the quality of service
delivered to its artists, fans, ticketing clients and corporate
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sponsors, its track record and reputation in promoting and producing live music events and tours both domestically and internationally, its
artist relationships, its global footprint, the quality of its ticketing software and services, its ecommerce site and extensive database, its
diverse distribution platform of venues, the scope, effectiveness and expertise of its advertising and sponsorship programs and its financial
stability.

Human Capital Resources
General

As of December 31, 2024, we had 84 corporate employees, and our consolidated subsidiaries had an aggregate of approximately
1,100 full and part-time employees. We believe that our employee relations are good.

Liberty and its subsidiaries strive to create diverse, inclusive and supportive workplaces, with opportunities for employees to grow
and develop in their careers, supported by competitive compensation, benefits and health and wellness programs, and by programs that
build connections between employees and their communities.

Talent Development

Liberty fosters a strong learning culture by investing in our employees and empowering them to participate in opportunities for
personal and professional growth. Some of these opportunities (which vary across our company and our subsidiaries) include tuition
reimbursement for professional related coursework, executive and career coaching, paid professional seminars, paid membership in
professional organizations, on-site lunch and learn educational meetings and internally led presentations on industry topics.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Liberty strives to cultivate a culture that provides a sense of belonging and inclusiveness. Our Company respects diversity and the
unique perspectives, ideas, skills and abilities of our employees that lead our Company to achieve better business results. To reinforce this
commitment to inclusion and diversity at the corporate level, Liberty supports domestic partner benefits, paid parental leave, fertility
benefits, flexible work arrangements, on-going training, mentorship for female leaders and quarterly town-hall meetings with our Chief
Executive Officer.

Similarly, our subsidiaries have undertaken their own individual commitments to developing a diverse workforce. Through its
efforts to develop diversity within motorsport, Formula 1 seeks to find the next generation of talent emerging from underrepresented
backgrounds. Following the launch of the Formula 1 Engineering Scholarship Program in 2021, Formula 1 has since committed to
extending the program through 2025, supporting 10 students per year in their undergraduate and post-graduate engineering degrees at
leading universities in the U.K. and Italy. In 2023, Formula 1 launched the F1 Academy series, an all-female driver category, to develop and
prepare young female drivers to progress to higher levels of competition. In 2024, the F1 Academy series was featured as a support race at
seven Events. As part of a wider program of diversity and inclusion initiatives, Formula 1 has also committed to creating employment
opportunities for those from disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds by offering apprenticeships and internships across the business.

Compensation and Benefits
Liberty and its subsidiaries aim to provide attractive compensation and benefits programs for their employees. In addition to
salaries, these programs (which vary across our company and our subsidiaries) may include, among other items, bonuses, stock awards,

401(k) plans, non-qualified deferred compensation plans, healthcare and insurance benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts,
paid time off, paid parental leave, advocacy resources, flexible work schedules and employee assistance programs.
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Available Information

All of our filings with the SEC, including our Form 10-Ks, Form 10-Qs and Form 8-Ks, as well as amendments to such filings are
available on our Internet website free of charge generally within 24 hours after we file such material with the SEC. Our website address is
www.libertymedia.com.

Our corporate governance guidelines, code of business conduct and ethics, compensation committee charter, nominating and
corporate governance committee charter, and audit committee charter are available on our website. In addition, we will provide a copy of
any of these documents, free of charge, to any shareholder who calls or submits a request in writing to Investor Relations, Liberty Media
Corporation, 12300 Liberty Boulevard, Englewood, Colorado 80112, Tel. No. (877) 772-1518.

The information contained on our website and the websites of our subsidiaries and affiliated businesses mentioned throughout this
report is not incorporated by reference herein.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in our common stock involves risk. Before investing in our common stock, in addition to the other information
described in Item 7 (“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”) of Part II, you should
carefully consider the following risks. Such risks are not the only ones that relate to our businesses and capitalization. The risks described
below are considered to be the most material. However, there may be other unknown or unpredictable economic, business, competitive,
regulatory or other factors that also could have material adverse effects on our businesses. Past financial performance may not be a
reliable indicator of future performance and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results or trends in future periods. If any of
the events described below or in the documents incorporated by reference herein were to occur, our businesses, prospects, financial
condition, results of operations and/or cash flows could be materially adversely affected, which in turn could have a material adverse effect
on the value of our common stock.

Risks Relating to our Company, as a Whole

The historical financial information of the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K may not necessarily reflect their results had they been separate companies.

One of the reasons for the creation of a tracking stock is to permit equity investors to apply more specific criteria in valuing the
shares of a particular group, such as comparisons of earnings multiples with those of other companies in the same business sector. In
valuing shares of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock, investors should recognize that the historical
financial information of the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group has been extracted from our consolidated financial statements
and may not necessarily reflect what the Formula One Group’s and the Liberty Live Group’s results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows would have been had these groups been separate, stand-alone entities pursuing independent strategies during the periods
presented.

We may have future capital needs and may not be able to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms.

As of December 31, 2024, we had outstanding corporate-level indebtedness in the principal amount of $1.7 billion. Our ability to
access the cash flow of Formula 1 is subject to covenant restrictions set forth in the debt instruments of certain subsidiaries of Delta Topco,
the parent company of Formula 1. Accordingly, our ability to obtain significant financing in the future, on favorable terms or at all, may be
limited. If debt financing is not available to us in the future, we may obtain liquidity through the sale or monetization of our debt or equity
securities, or we may issue equity securities. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, our stockholders may
experience significant dilution. If we are unable to obtain sufficient liquidity in the future, we may be unable to develop our businesses
properly, complete acquisitions or otherwise take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and those attributed to our groups.
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A substantial portion of our consolidated debt is held above the operating subsidiary level, and we could be unable in the future to
obtain cash in amounts sufficient to service that debt and our other financial obligations.

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $1.7 billion principal amount of corporate-level debt outstanding, consisting of
$475 million outstanding under our 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027, $1.15 billion outstanding under our 2.375% Exchangeable
Senior Debentures due 2053 and $53 million of other obligations. Our ability to meet our financial obligations will depend on our ability to
access cash. Our primary sources of cash include our available cash balances, dividends and interest from our investments, monetization of
our public investment portfolio and proceeds from asset sales. We do not have the right to cause Live Nation to pay dividends (See “—We
do not have the right to manage our business affiliate, Live Nation, which means we are not able to cause it to operate in a manner that is
favorable to us.”) and following the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, we no longer receive dividends from Sirius XM Holdings.
Further, our ability to receive dividends or payments or advances from our businesses depends on their individual operating results, any
statutory, regulatory or contractual restrictions to which they may be or may become subject and the terms of their own indebtedness. The
agreements governing such indebtedness restrict sales of assets and prohibit or limit the payment of dividends or the making of
distributions, loans or advances to stockholders, non-wholly owned subsidiaries or our partners. We generally do not receive cash, in the
form of dividends, loans, advances or otherwise, from any of our subsidiaries or business affiliates.

The success of businesses attributed to each of our tracking stock groups, in part, depends on their popularity with audiences, which is
difficult to predict.

Live entertainment events, including sporting events, are inherently risky businesses because the revenue derived from these
businesses depends primarily upon their popularity with public audiences, which is difficult to predict. The commercial success of live
entertainment depends upon the quality and acceptance of competing programs, the availability of alternative forms of entertainment and
leisure time activities, general economic conditions and other tangible and intangible factors, many of which are difficult to predict. In the
case of sponsorship agreements, audience size is an important factor when rates are negotiated. Audience size is also an important factor
when determining ticket pricing for live entertainment events and the value of broadcast rights. Consequently, low public acceptance of the
services and events provided by companies such as Formula 1 and Live Nation could hurt the ability of these companies to maintain or
grow revenue, which would adversely impact the financial performance of the groups to which these companies are attributed.

QOur businesses attributed to the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group, such as Formula 1 and Live Nation, may not realize
the benefits of acquisitions or other strategic investments and initiatives.

Our business strategy and that of our subsidiaries and business affiliates, including Formula 1 and Live Nation, may include
selective acquisitions, other strategic investments and initiatives that allow them to expand their business. The success of any acquisition,
including the acquisition of Dorna, depends upon effective integration and management of acquired businesses and assets into the
acquirer’s operations, which is subject to risks and uncertainties, including the realization of the growth potential, any anticipated synergies
and cost savings, the ability to retain and attract personnel, the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns and
undisclosed or potential legal liabilities of acquired businesses or assets.

Weak and uncertain economic conditions may reduce consumer demand for products, services and events offered by our businesses
attributed to each of our groups.

A weak or uncertain economy in the U.S. or, in the case of the Formula One Group, globally, could adversely affect demand for
our products, services and events. A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from discretionary spending by individuals, which
typically falls during times of economic recession or instability. A reduction in discretionary spending could adversely affect revenue
through reduced live-entertainment and sporting event expenditures. Accordingly, the ability of our businesses attributed to each of our
groups to increase or maintain revenue and earnings could be adversely affected to the extent that relevant economic environments remain
weak or decline further. In addition, inflation, which has significantly risen, may increase operational costs, including labor costs, and
elevated interest rates or further increases in interest rates in response to concerns about inflation may have the effect of further increasing
economic
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uncertainty and heightening these risks. We currently are unable to predict the extent of any of these potential adverse effects.

QOur Company has overlapping directors and management with QVC Group, Liberty Broadband and TripCo, which may lead to
conflicting interests.

As a result of transactions between 2011 and 2014 that resulted in the separate corporate existence of our Company, QVC Group,
Liberty Broadband and TripCo, all or most of the executive officers of Liberty also serve as executive officers of QVC Group, Liberty
Broadband and TripCo, and there are overlapping directors at each of QVC Group, Liberty Broadband and TripCo. Our executive officers
and members of Liberty’s board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) have fiduciary duties to our stockholders. Likewise, any such
persons who serve in similar capacities at QVC Group, Liberty Broadband or TripCo have fiduciary duties to that company’s stockholders.
For example, there may be the potential for a conflict of interest when our Company, QVC Group, Liberty Broadband or TripCo pursues
acquisitions and other business opportunities that may be suitable for each of them. Therefore, such persons may have conflicts of interest
or the appearance of conflicts of interest with respect to matters involving or affecting more than one of the companies to which they owe
fiduciary duties. Moreover, most of our Company’s directors and officers continue to own QVC Group, Liberty Broadband and/or TripCo
stock and options to purchase stock in those companies. These ownership interests could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts of
interest when the applicable individuals are faced with decisions that could have different implications for our Company, QVC Group,
Liberty Broadband and/or TripCo. Any potential conflict that qualifies as a “related party transaction” (as defined in Item 404 of
Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended) is subject to review by an independent committee of the applicable issuer’s
board of directors in accordance with its corporate governance guidelines. Each of Liberty Broadband and TripCo has renounced its rights
to certain business opportunities and its respective restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions deeming directors and officers
not in breach of their fiduciary duties in certain cases for directing a corporate opportunity to another person or entity (including our
Company, QVC Group, Liberty Broadband and TripCo) instead of such company. Other potential conflicts that arise will be addressed on a
case-by-case basis, keeping in mind the applicable fiduciary duties owed by the executive officers and directors of each issuer. From time to
time, we may enter into transactions with QVC Group, Liberty Broadband, TripCo and/or their respective subsidiaries or other affiliates.
There can be no assurance that the terms of any such transactions will be as favorable to our Company, QVC Group, Liberty Broadband,
TripCo or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates as would be the case where there is no overlapping officer or director.

The unfavorable outcome of pending or future litigation could have a material adverse impact on the operations and financial
condition of businesses attributed to each of our groups.

Our subsidiaries and business affiliates are parties to several legal proceedings arising out of various aspects of their businesses,
including class actions arising out of their marketing practices. The outcome of these proceedings may not be favorable, and one or more
unfavorable outcomes could have a material adverse impact on their financial condition, which can impact the financial performance of the
group to which they are attributed.

Certain of our subsidiaries and business affiliates have operations outside of the U.S. that are subject to numerous operational risks.

Certain of our subsidiaries and business affiliates have operations in countries other than the U.S. In many foreign countries,
particularly in certain developing economies, it is not uncommon to encounter business practices that are prohibited by certain regulations,
such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar laws. Although certain of our subsidiaries and business affiliates have undertaken
compliance efforts with respect to these laws, their respective employees, contractors and agents, as well as those companies to which they
outsource certain of their business operations, may take actions in violation of their policies and procedures. Any such violation, even if
prohibited by the policies and procedures of these subsidiaries and business affiliates or the law, could have certain adverse effects on the
financial condition and reputation of these subsidiaries and business affiliates. Any failure by these subsidiaries and business affiliates to
effectively manage the challenges associated with the international operation of their businesses could materially adversely affect their, and
hence our, financial condition.
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We may be subject to significant tax liabilities related to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off.

In connection with the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, we received an opinion of our tax counsel to the effect that, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Oft will qualify as a generally tax-free transaction under Section 355,
Section 368(a)(1)(D) and related provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) to Liberty and to former
holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock. We did not obtain a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”)
regarding the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Oft. Opinions of counsel are not binding on the
IRS or the courts, and there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge the conclusions reached in such opinions or that a court
would not sustain such a challenge. If it is determined that the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off does not qualify under Section 355,
Section 368(a)(1)(D) and related provisions of the Code, we and the former holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock who received
common stock of Liberty Sirius XM Holdings in the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off could incur significant tax liabilities.

Even if the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off otherwise qualifies under Section 355, Section 368(a)(1)(D), and related
provisions of the Code, the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off would result in a significant U.S. federal income tax liability to us (but
not to former holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock) under Section 355(e) of the Code if one or more persons acquire, directly or
indirectly, a 50% or greater interest (measured by vote or value) in the stock of our Company or in the stock of Liberty Sirius XM Holdings
(or any successor corporation) as part of a plan or series of related transactions that includes the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off. The
process for determining whether an acquisition is part of a plan under these rules is complex, inherently factual in nature, and subject to a
comprehensive analysis of the facts and circumstances of the particular case. Notwithstanding the opinion of tax counsel described above,
we or Liberty Sirius XM Holdings might inadvertently cause or permit a prohibited change in our or Liberty Sirius XM Holdings’
ownership to occur, thereby triggering tax liability to us.

Prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, we entered into a tax sharing agreement with Liberty Sirius XM Holdings.
Under this agreement, our Company is generally responsible for taxes and losses resulting from the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off;
however, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is required to indemnify us for any taxes and losses (other than any taxes or tax-related losses that
result from Section 355(e) of the Code applying to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off as a result of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings
Split-Off being part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to which one or more persons acquire a 50-percent or greater
interest (measured by vote or value) in the stock of our Company) resulting from the failure of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off to
qualify as a generally tax-free transaction under Section 355, Section 368(a)(1)(D) and related provisions of the Code, to the extent such
taxes or losses (i) result primarily from, individually or in the aggregate, the breach of certain covenants made by Liberty Sirius XM
Holdings (applicable to actions or failures to act by Liberty Sirius XM Holdings and its subsidiaries following the completion of the Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off), (ii) result primarily from, individually or in the aggregate, the failure of certain representations made by
Sirius XM Holdings in support of the opinion of our tax counsel regarding the generally tax-free status of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings
Split-Off to be true and correct, or (iii) result from the application of Section 355(e) of the Code to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-
Off as a result of the treatment of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off as part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to
which one or more persons acquire, directly or indirectly, a 50% or greater interest (measured by vote or value) in the stock of Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings (or any successor corporation), except, in the case of clauses (i) and (ii), if such taxes and losses result from an action
required to be taken pursuant to the transaction agreements relating to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off. As the taxpaying entity,
however, we are subject to the risk of non-payment by Liberty Sirius XM Holdings of its indemnification obligations under the tax sharing
agreement. Cash for the payment of any taxes and losses resulting from the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off which are not allocated to
and paid by Liberty Sirius XM Holdings pursuant to our tax sharing agreement with Liberty Sirius XM Holdings generally would be drawn
from funds attributed to the Liberty Live Group, except that cash for the payment of any taxes and losses (a) resulting primarily from a
breach by us following the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off of any contractual covenants made by us in connection with the Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off or (b) resulting from Section 355(e) of the Code applying to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off as a
result of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off being part of a plan (or series of related transactions) pursuant to which one or more
persons acquire a 50% or greater interest (measured by vote or value) in the stock of our Company shall, in each case, be drawn
proportionately from funds attributed to the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group based upon the relative market capitalizations
of the tracking stock of each group over the first three trading days following completion of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, as
determined in accordance with our tax sharing policies.
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To preserve the tax-free treatment of the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, we may determine to forgo certain transactions
that might have otherwise been advantageous to our Company, including certain asset dispositions or other strategic transactions for some
period of time following the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off. In addition, our potential tax liabilities related to the Liberty Sirius XM
Holdings Split-Off might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control transaction for some period of time following the Liberty Sirius
XM Holdings Split-Off.

The degradation, failure or misuse of the Company’s information systems could cause a disruption of services or improper loss, use and
disclosure of personal data or other confidential information, resulting in increased costs, liabilities or loss of revenue.

Cloud services, information systems and other technologies that we or our vendors or other partners use are critical to our business
activities, and shutdowns or disruptions of, and cybersecurity threats and cybersecurity incidents on, such systems pose increasing risks.
Disruptions, such as computer hacking and phishing, theft, computer viruses, ransomware, worms or other destructive software, process
breakdowns, denial of service attacks or other malicious activities, as well as power outages, natural or other disasters (including extreme
weather), terrorist activities or human error, have occurred in the past and may in the future affect the systems and services we utilize and
could result in disruption of our services, misappropriation, misuse, alteration, theft, loss, leakage, falsification, and accidental or premature
release or improper disclosure of confidential or other information, including intellectual property and personal data (of third parties or
employees) contained on such information systems. Further, the use of Al and machine learning by cybercriminals may increase the
frequency and severity of cybersecurity attacks against us or our businesses’ vendors and other service providers. The techniques used to
access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems change frequently and continue to become more sophisticated and targeted, and the
increasing use of artificial intelligence may intensify the risks of cybersecurity threats and cybersecurity incidents. While we and our
vendors and partners continue to develop, implement and maintain security measures seeking to identify and mitigate the risks of
cybersecurity threats and cybersecurity incidents, including unauthorized access or misuse, as discussed under Item 1C of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, such efforts are costly, require ongoing monitoring and updating and may not be successful in preventing these
events from occurring.

In addition, the Company’s recovery and business continuity plans may not be adequate to address any cybersecurity incidents that
occur. Although no cybersecurity incident has been material to the Company’s businesses to date, we expect to continue to be subject to
cybersecurity threats and cybersecurity incidents and there can be no assurance that we will not experience a material cybersecurity
incident. In addition, third party service providers, such as telecommunications and cloud services providers, have been subject to
increasing cyberattacks from state-sponsored threat actors that could materially impact our information systems and operations. Any
cybersecurity incident could result in a disruption of our operations, customer or advertiser dissatisfaction, damage to our reputation or
brands, regulatory investigations, claims, lawsuits or loss of customers or revenue of Formula 1 and Live Nation, and the Company may
also be subject to liability under relevant contractual obligations and laws and regulations protecting personal data and may be required to
expend significant resources to defend, remedy and/or address any cybersecurity incidents and claims, investigations, penalties, fines,
damages or settlements arising from cybersecurity incidents. The Company may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate it for
any losses that may occur.

Formula 1 and Live Nation have been, and may in the future be, materially impacted by a pandemic or epidemic, such as COVID-19.

Although Formula 1 and Live Nation saw a return to normal business operations, schedules and events following the COVID-19
pandemic, it is unclear whether and to what extent a future pandemic or epidemic will impact the use of and/or demand for the
entertainment, events and services provided by these businesses and demand for sponsorship and advertising assets. If these businesses face
cancelled events, closed venues and reduced attendance, as was the result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the impact may substantially
decrease our revenue. For example, due to the revenue reductions caused by COVID-19 in 2020 and 2021, these businesses looked to
reduce expenses and they may not be able to reduce expenses to the same degree as any decline in revenue due to any future pandemic or
epidemic, which may adversely affect our results of operations and cash flow.
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In addition, our businesses are particularly sensitive to reductions in travel and discretionary consumer spending. We cannot
predict the time period over which our businesses would be impacted by a future pandemic or epidemic. Over the long-term, a future
pandemic or epidemic could impede economic activity in impacted regions or globally, causing a global recession, leading to a further
decline in discretionary spending on sports and entertainment events and other leisure activities, which could result in long-term effects on
our businesses.

For the reasons set forth above and other reasons that may come to light as a result of a future pandemic or epidemic, we cannot
reasonably estimate the impact to our future revenue, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition, but such impacts have been,
and may in the future be, significant and could have a material adverse effect on our business, revenue, results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition.

Risks Relating to the Formula One Group

There could be a decline in the popularity of Formula 1, which may have a material adverse effect on Formula 1’s ability to exploit its
commercial rights to the World Championship.

The success of Formula 1’s business and its ability to profitably renew or enter into beneficial new commercial arrangements,
including race promotion, media rights and sponsorship contracts, is largely dependent upon the continued popularity of the World
Championship. Similarly, the sponsorship and other revenue generation of the Teams are dependent on such continued popularity and, if
such revenue decreased, it may impact their ability or willingness to continue participating in the World Championship. The popularity of
Formula 1, globally and in particular countries and regions, may be influenced by competition from any rival championship and other
forms of motor sport or similar entertainment which challenge Formula 1’s position and reputation as the pinnacle of world motor sport, the
continued participation of the leading Teams, the perceived entertainment value of the World Championship, changes in societal views on
automobiles more generally and an unfavorable economic climate which may discourage fans from attending Events or make it more
difficult to expand into new markets, all of which could change rapidly and cannot be predicted. See “—Rival motor sport events could be
established involving existing Teams or different teams, or existing Teams may divert their resources to participate in another motor sport
event, which could lead to fewer Teams and race circuits being involved in Formula 1, or a Team's primary engagement in motor sport
being in another motor sport event, either of which could diminish the competitive position of Formula 1.” Formula 1 also faces stiff
competition from other live sporting events, and with sporting events delivered over television networks, radio, the Internet and online
services, mobile applications and other alternative sources, as well as from the availability of alternative forms of entertainment and leisure
activities. Formula 1 competes for attendance, viewership and advertising with a wide range of alternatives, such as top flight soccer
leagues in many of its non-U.S. markets. As a result of the large number of options available, Formula 1 faces strong competition for the
attention of sports fans.

Further, a scandal which undermines the credibility of the sport, such as a race fixing scandal, or accident could also impact the
popularity of Formula 1. In particular regions, the popularity of the World Championship varies depending upon the participation and
performance of drivers and Teams from that region. There is no assurance that Formula 1 will be able to compete effectively with other
forms of sports or entertainment or that the World Championship will maintain its popularity either globally or in any particular country or
region. Any decrease in the continued popularity of the World Championship may affect Formula 1’s ability to enter into or renew race
promotion, media rights, advertising, sponsorship or other commercial agreements which may materially adversely affect Formula 1’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and in turn materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Termination of the 100-Year Agreements could cause Formula 1 to discontinue its operations.

Under the 100-Year Agreements, entered into by Formula 1 and the FIA in 2001, Formula 1 was granted an exclusive license with
respect to all of the commercial rights to the World Championship, including its trademarks. This license, which took effect on January 1,
2011 and will expire on December 31, 2110, maintains Formula 1’s exclusive commercial rights to the World Championship which
Formula 1 held under previous agreements with the FIA, among other things. The license under the 100-Year Agreements is critical to the
ongoing operation of Formula 1’s business. Formula 1’s rights under these agreements can be terminated by the FIA if Formula 1 materially
breaches the relevant agreements (with certain of such breaches subject to certain cure rights), undergoes an unpermitted change of control,
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interferes with certain of the FIA’s rights under the 100-Year Agreements or experiences certain insolvency events. If Formula 1’s license
under the 100-Year Agreements was terminated in accordance with its terms or the FIA or another person successfully challenged the
validity of that license (or the 100-Year Agreements as a whole), it could cause Formula 1 to discontinue its operations, lead to the
termination of substantially all of Formula 1’s commercial contracts, prevent Formula 1 from exploiting the commercial rights to the World
Championship and require Formula 1 to discontinue use of the World Championship trademarks and other intellectual property rights,
which would materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Teams may, in certain circumstances, terminate their existing commitment to participate in the World Championship until (and
including) 2025 or breach their obligations and withdraw.

Formula 1’s ability to effectively stage the World Championship depends on the ongoing involvement of its participants. Pursuant
to the 2021 Concorde Agreement, each of the current 10 Teams have committed to participate in the World Championship until
December 31, 2025, subject to earlier termination upon the occurrence of certain events. Formula 1 cannot provide assurance that any of
the Teams will commit to participate in the World Championship beyond 2025, or that the FIA will enter into a subsequent Concorde
Agreement beyond 2030. If any of the current Teams cease to participate in the World Championship, Formula 1 may attempt to encourage
new entrants to the World Championship; however, there is no assurance Formula 1 will be able to do this. If such Teams were not replaced,
it could result in fewer competitors in the World Championship as compared to recent seasons which may impact the perceived
entertainment value of Events. In addition, any negotiation for an extension to the term of the Team Agreements or the Concorde
Arrangements could result in less favorable terms to Formula 1.

Even if a Team has committed to participate in the World Championship it may be able to exercise termination rights under the
2021 Concorde Agreement in certain circumstances and withdraw. For additional information regarding the 2021 Concorde Agreement, see
“Item 1. Business—Formula 1—Key Commercial Agreements—Key Provisions.”

A lesser number of teams may reduce the popularity of Formula 1 which may affect its ability to enter into or renew race
promotion, media rights, advertising, sponsorship or other commercial agreements, which may materially and adversely affect Formula 1’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and in turn may materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.

The FIA may take actions which are not in Formula 1’s interest.

The FIA is the governing body of the World Championship and a party to the 100-Year Agreements and the 2013 Concorde
Implementation Agreement. In its capacity as the governing body of the World Championship, the FIA must place safety and other sporting
concerns over Formula 1’s commercial interests. As a result, the FIA may take actions with respect to safety and sporting standards and
regulations which conflict with Formula 1’s interests as the commercial rights holder, including by increasing the cost to Teams of
participating in the World Championship, diminishing the visual and sonic spectacle of Events, imposing fines on or excluding Teams,
cancelling or delaying an Event, withholding approval for the staging of an Event, a new circuit or Formula 1’s proposed season calendar or
establishing regulations without the support of the Teams. As a party to the 100-Year Agreements and the 2021 Concorde Governance
Agreement, the FIA has certain rights, and the exercise or purported exercise of the FIA’s rights thereunder may conflict with Formula 1’s
interests. Any actions taken by the FIA which conflict with Formula 1°s interests may adversely impact Formula 1’s operations and revenue,
and in turn may materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Formula 1 may be subject to enforcement actions under competition laws.

As further described in “Item 1.Business—Regulatory Matters,” following an investigation by the E.C. in 1999 in relation to
Formula 1’s compliance with competition laws, Formula 1 modified certain of its business practices and changed the terms of a number of
Formula 1’s commercial contracts. Following these modifications and changes, the E.C. issued two comfort letters to Formula 1 in October
2001 stating that Formula 1 was no longer under investigation. Comfort letters are not binding on the E.C. and if it believes there has been a
material change in circumstances, it could take further enforcement action. The E.C. issued a press release in October 2003 stating that it
was satisfied that Formula 1 had complied with the modified practices and terms that had led to its issuing its comfort letters and that it had
ended its
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monitoring of Formula 1’s compliance. In adopting practices and concluding commercial contracts (including as to contracts with
broadcasters (and the manner in which these rights are offered), contracts with Teams and contracts with promoters), Formula 1 takes into
account the modified practices that formed the basis of the EC’s comfort letters.

Formula 1 is also required to comply with general European Union and national competition laws, which require Formula 1 at all
times to ensure its business practices and agreements are consistent with the operation of competitive markets. Failure to comply with the
relevant practices, terms, laws and rules can give rise to challenges by the EC, national competition regulators and other interested parties.
In addition, they could cause or deem certain of Formula 1’s commercial contracts (including the Team Agreements) to be unenforceable in
whole or in part and/or require various terms (including duration, scope and exclusivity) to be modified, and/or Formula 1 could be liable
for damages or other sanctions. In August 2024, we received a notification from the Department of Justice, Antitrust Division that an
investigation has been opened with respect to Formula 1’s conduct concerning the application by Andretti Formula Racing to enter the
World Championship. Although we are fully cooperating with the investigation, there can be no assurance of the outcome.

Formula 1 has sought to adopt practices and conclude commercial contracts that take into account competition law as it applies to
the specific nature of Formula 1’s sporting and entertainment businesses, Formula 1’s role within those businesses and the roles of the
counterparties to Formula 1’s commercial contracts. However given the uncertainty of the law in this area, and the possibility of third
parties instigating action, there is a risk of further E.C. investigations, challenges or proceedings against Formula 1. For example, two
Teams made a complaint against Formula 1 to the E.C. in September 2015 regarding the distribution of the Prize Fund and current sporting
governance arrangements (though Formula 1 rejected the complaint as being without merit and believed it was in any event, a commercial
dispute and not one that involved any breach of competition law). Although this particular complaint was withdrawn by the two Teams in
early 2018, for the reasons set out above, no assurance can be given that there will be no future E.C. investigations, challenges or
proceedings regarding unasserted matters.

Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect Formula 1’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects, which in turn could materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Formula 1 may be unable to renew, replace or renegotiate on favorable terms one or more of Formula 1’s race promotion, media rights
or sponsorship contracts.

Formula 1’s race promotion, media rights and sponsorship contracts typically have terms of three to seven years, three to five
years and three to five years, respectively, but may on occasion be of longer duration. When these contracts expire, Formula 1 may not be
able to renew or replace them with contracts on similar terms or at all. Further, counterparties to Formula 1 contracts may seek to terminate
or renegotiate them, and Formula 1 may not be able to replace terminated contracts with contracts on similar terms or at all or renegotiate
contracts on terms that are as favorable to us. Formula 1°s ability to renew, replace or renegotiate its contracts on similar terms, or at all, is
dependent on a number of factors which Formula 1 may not be able to control or predict including the popularity of Formula 1, the value of
live sports rights generally, relevant regulations, economic conditions in the relevant countries and the spending capacity and priorities of
Formula 1’s counterparties. Additionally, many of Formula 1’s race promotion and media rights contracts are directly or indirectly with, or
guaranteed by, governmental bodies or agencies and a change in their spending capacity or priorities could impact Formula 1’s negotiations
with them. A failure to renew, replace or renegotiate Formula 1’s existing contracts on similar or improved terms could result in, among
other things, the cancellation of an Event, the payments Formula 1 receives decreasing, the term of the contracts being shortened,
termination rights being granted to Formula 1’s counterparties and other contractual terms and conditions being introduced which could
materially and adversely affect Formula 1°s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and in turn could materially
adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Formula 1 is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to Formula 1°s key commercial
contracts.

Future payments under Formula 1’s core commercial contracts, including Formula 1’s race promotion, media rights and
sponsorship contracts are typically made periodically over the course of several years. Formula 1’s ability to
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generate cash flow is heavily dependent on collecting amounts owed to it under these contracts. A change in the credit quality of one or
more of Formula 1’s counterparties over the term of their contract with Formula 1 may increase the risk of non-payment. Certain of
Formula 1’s counterparties are directly or indirectly governments or agencies thereof, some of which have recently experienced a
deterioration in their credit quality. Formula 1 may also generally experience difficulties or be unable to recover payments owed to it by
governments or agencies thereof because of their sovereign or semi-sovereign status. Additionally, an appreciation of the U.S. dollar against
the functional currencies of Formula 1’s counterparties increases the risk of non-payment. See “—Fluctuations in the value of the U.S.
dollar against the functional currencies of Formula 15 business and Formula 1s counterparties’ business could adversely affect
Formula 1'% profitability and the Formula One Group.” The failure of one or more of Formula 1’s counterparties to pay outstanding
amounts owed to it could have a material adverse effect on Formula 1’s cash flows and results of operation, and in turn could materially
adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Potential challenges by tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which Formula 1 operates could adversely affect Formula 1’s financial
results and position and in turn, the Formula One Group.

Formula 1’s taxes are based upon the applicable tax laws and tax rates in effect in the jurisdictions in which it operates and upon
the nature of Formula 1’s business arrangements and activities with and in such jurisdictions. When computing its tax obligations in these
jurisdictions, Formula 1 endeavors to apply national and international tax rules consistently and in accordance with generally accepted
interpretations and practice. However, such rules, and their application to Formula 1’s business, may not be entirely clear in all cases and
may be interpreted differently by the applicable tax authorities. There can be no assurance that, upon review of Formula 1’s positions, the
applicable tax authorities will agree with such positions. If a tax authority successfully challenges Formula 1’s positions with respect to its
business arrangements, intercompany pricing policies, or the taxable presence of subsidiaries in certain jurisdictions, or if Formula 1 loses a
material tax dispute in any jurisdiction, then Formula 1 may be exposed to additional tax liabilities and penalties, which may adversely
affect its financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and in turn may materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.

Changes in tax laws could adversely affect Formula 1 and the Formula One Group.

Formula 1 operates in various jurisdictions and is subject to changes in applicable tax laws, treaties or regulations in those
jurisdictions. A material change in the tax laws, treaties or regulations, or their interpretation, of any jurisdiction with which Formula 1 does
business, or in which Formula 1 has significant operations, could adversely affect Formula 1.

For example, during October 2021, the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (the “OECD”) announced that
136 countries and tax jurisdictions had agreed to implement a new “Two Pillar” approach to international taxation. Numerous countries
have now enacted, or are in the process of enacting, new legislation consistent with this approach, which took effect for the first time in
2024. More countries have committed to introduce similar legislation, at different times and in different ways, through their individual
agreement to tax treaty changes and through changes to their own domestic tax laws.

The first of the OECD’s “pillars” establishes a new taxing right for countries in which a business has a significant economic
presence, even though it may not have the degree of physical presence in that country needed to establish a taxing right under existing tax
treaties. This new taxing right is subject to several conditions, exclusions and exceptions, and will initially affect only multinational
enterprises with global turnover above 20 billion euros.

The second pillar establishes a Global Minimum Tax Rate of 15%, such that multinational enterprises with an effective tax rate in
a jurisdiction below this minimum rate will need to pay additional tax, which could be collected by the parent company’s tax authorities or
by those in other countries, depending on whether and how each country implements the OECD’s approach in its tax treaties and domestic
tax legislation. In an initial transition period from 2024 to 2026, enterprises are exempt from this additional tax if certain “Safe Harbour”
tests are met.

Depending on how the jurisdictions in which Formula 1 operates, and those in which Liberty and its subsidiaries are based, choose
to implement the OECD’s approach in their tax treaties and domestic tax laws, and depending on the
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future evolution of the OECD’s “Two Pillar” approach, Formula 1 could be adversely affected due to its income being taxed at higher
effective rates.

Formula 1 may face difficulties expanding into new markets, including as a result of being unable to attract race promoters for new
Events.

Formula 1 has recently staged Events in a number of new markets and intends to explore further opportunities for expansion.
Attracting the relevant race promoters to the World Championship in these markets on terms that are attractive to Formula 1 will be largely
dependent on the popularity of the Formula 1 brand in these markets and Formula 1’s perceived ability to deliver the benefits that race
promoters desire, such as publicity for the host city/region, economic impact or tourism. See “—There could be a decline in the popularity
of Formula 1 which may have a material adverse effect on Formula 1's ability to exploit its commercial rights to the World Championship.”
Additionally, Formula 1 may have difficulties entering into agreements with race promoters that have the necessary resources and
experience to obtain all the necessary FIA, governmental and sporting approvals and successfully stage an Event. Events in new markets
also require significant investments in circuit infrastructure and other administrative costs by Formula 1’s race promoters which may not be
recouped and may generate fees below those received from Formula 1°s Events staged in more developed markets. In addition, under the
2021 Concorde Agreement, the consent of 70% of the Teams is required if there are more than 24 Events in a season or if there are fewer
than eight Events across Europe and North America combined. See “ltem 1. Business—Formula 1—Key Commercial Agreements—Key
Provisions.” Also, under the 100-Year Agreements as amended by the 2013 Concorde Implementation Agreement, Formula 1 must obtain
the FIA’s approval to stage more than 25 Events (or beginning in 2031, more than 17 Events unless the FIA and Formula 1 make a new
agreement on this point), and there is no assurance such approval will be obtained.

Formula 1’s business is subject to laws and regulations including with respect to advertising, media rights and the environment, and
changes in and judicial interpretations of such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on Formula 1 and the
Formula One Group.

Formula 1’s business is subject to laws and regulations including advertising, media rights, environmental and health and safety
laws and regulations. Such regimes are subject to periodic governmental review, legislative initiatives and judicial interpretations, any of
which could adversely affect Formula 1’s business and its profitability. A substantial part of Formula 1’s, broadcasters’ and the Teams’
revenue come from sponsorship contracts. If new restrictions or bans on advertising specific products or services which are advertised in
Formula 1 are introduced, it may reduce Formula 1’s or the Teams’ sponsorship revenue or advertising revenue of Formula 1’s broadcasters,
which in turn may reduce the value of Formula 1’s media rights contracts and impact the Teams’ desire to continue participating in
Formula 1. For example, advertising of alcohol is restricted in certain countries where Events are held. Advertising laws could also be
introduced which prevent the broadcast of images which include a restricted brand, thereby preventing Formula 1 from licensing the
television rights in an affected country. Additionally, as Formula 1 expands into new markets, local customs, practices and cultural
sensitivities may require Formula 1 and the Teams to restrict advertising of certain products even if not required by law.

Broadcasting laws could be introduced which require that Events be broadcast only on free-to-air television which would prevent
Formula 1 from entering into pay television contracts in the relevant jurisdiction. Additionally, judicial decisions or other governmental
action could interfere with the manner in which Formula 1 exploits its media rights, including in relation to Formula 1’s segmentation of
such rights among different geographic regions.

Environmental laws could also be introduced which place limits on engine design and Event activities. Motor sport has also been
banned in certain countries. For example, Switzerland banned motor sport from 1955 to 2007 following an accident at the 24 Hours of
Le Mans that killed spectators and a driver. A ban on motor sport in any country where Formula 1 holds an Event could result in a reduction
in Formula 1’s revenue and as a consequence, may materially and adversely affect Formula 1’s business, financial condition and prospects,
which in turn may materially adversely impact the Formula One Group.
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Events beyond Formula 1’s control may cause one or more Events to be cancelled or postponed or prevent Formula 1 from providing
an international television feed, each of which could result in the loss of revenue under Formula 1’s commercial contracts.

An Event may have to be postponed or cancelled, or Formula 1 may be unable to provide an international television feed of an
Event, due to factors beyond its control, including an inability to transport Formula 1’s and the Teams’ equipment to an Event, power
failures, natural disasters or extreme weather, geopolitical conditions or international conflicts, parties to Formula 1 race promotion
contracts terminating those contracts, embargoes or sanctions, cancellation of large-scale public events by a competent authority due to a
security or terrorism risk, or outbreak of disease, which could result in the loss of revenue under Formula 1’s commercial contracts. Most
recently, the 2023 Emilia-Romagna Grand Prix was cancelled due to severe flooding in the region. Additionally, the 2022 Russian Grand
Prix was cancelled due to circumstances arising from Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. During the 2021 and 2020 seasons, a number of Events
were cancelled and/or replaced due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As a general matter, Formula 1’s insurance policies do not cover the
cancellation of an Event. Whether a race promoter is required to pay Formula 1 the race promotion fee with respect to an Event that is
cancelled due to any factor beyond the control of Formula 1 depends on the terms and provisions of the applicable promoter agreement. In
addition, Formula 1’s broadcast contracts include a provision to reduce the fee payable to Formula 1 if there are fewer than a specified
number of Events in a season for reasons other than a force majeure event. The minimum number of Events varies by broadcast contract
but is typically between 14 and 16 Events. However, if an Event were to be cancelled due to the race promoter failing to meet its
obligations under the race promotion contract, then Formula 1 may be entitled to indemnification from the race promoter for any lost media
rights revenue. If an Event is not held, cancelled or does not receive international television coverage (for example, as a result of a technical
problem), Formula 1’s fees under the relevant sponsorship contract are likely to be reduced unless the sponsorship contract allows
Formula 1 to substitute another Event for the cancelled Event and Formula 1 does so. If an Event is cancelled, Formula 1 will also be
required to refund amounts paid under other arrangements, including amounts paid for tickets to the Paddock Club, the principal high end
corporate hospitality offering at certain Event weekends.

Accidents during Events may cause losses that are not covered by insurance, disrupt an Event and cause Formula 1 reputational
damage.

Racing accidents occur in Formula 1 and its support races. The last racing accident to cause the death of a driver was in 2019
during a Formula 2 support race at the Belgian Grand Prix and there have also been two fatalities involving race marshals since 1994. Fatal
accidents, particularly if they involve public spectators, could damage the reputation of Formula 1 and decrease its popularity, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on Formula 1. Accidents can also result in the cancellation of a practice, a qualifying session or a race.
Additionally, persons harmed in any accident could seek compensation from Formula 1. Formula 1 and its promoters purchase insurance
coverage for each Event. However, there can be no assurance that such insurance policies will provide adequate coverage at all times and in
all circumstances. If Formula 1 is held liable for damages beyond the scope of the insurance coverage available to Formula 1 (including the
insurance contract procured by the race promoter to include coverage for Formula 1), Formula 1’s business, financial condition and results
of operations could be materially and adversely affected, which in turn could materially adversely affect the Formula One Group.

Terrorist acts during Events may cause Formula 1 damage and losses that are not covered by insurance.

Formula 1 is a high profile sport with a global fan base and Events are attended by a large number of spectators. An Event, like
any other major sporting event, could be the target of an actual or threatened terrorist act, either of which could disrupt Formula 1 and lead
to the cancellation of Events, increase security requirements and result in a decline of spectator attendance at Events. Additionally, persons
harmed in any terrorist act may attempt to seek compensation from Formula 1. The general risk of a terror attack has increased recently in a
number of the countries in which Events are held. Formula 1 purchases annual insurance policies covering all Events, and individual race
promoters purchase insurance coverage for their own Events under which Formula 1 is also covered, which provide coverage for third party
liability covering personal injury, equipment and property damage. However, there can be no assurance that this insurance will be adequate
at all times and in all circumstances. Terrorism is expressly excluded from the public liability coverage arranged by the race promoters,
although Formula 1’s own insurance policies cover both its broadcast and Event systems equipment and its employer and public liabilities
exposures for terrorism risks. However, attacks involving an active assailant are not
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covered by insurance policies for terrorism, and would require supplemental coverage. If Formula 1 is held liable for damages beyond the
scope of the insurance coverage (its own and that arranged by the race promoter) and/or is unable to obtain indemnification from the
relevant insurer(s), Formula 1’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, which in
turn could materially adversely affect the Formula One Group.

Rival motor sport events could be established involving existing Teams or different teams, or existing Teams may divert their resources
to participate in another motor sport event, which could lead to fewer Teams and race circuits being involved in Formula 1, or a Team’s
primary engagement in motor sport being in another motor sport event, either of which could diminish the competitive position of
Formula 1.

In the future, it is possible that a rival motor racing series similar to Formula 1 could be established, involving existing Teams
and/or different teams or an existing motor sport event could become more popular and become a rival series to Formula 1. Such a rival
series could lead to fewer Teams and race circuits in Formula 1, reduce the budget that a Team is willing to spend on its participation in
Formula 1, or diminish the competitive position of Formula 1 and have a material adverse effect on Formula 1’s results of operations and
business and the Formula One Group. In addition, certain of Formula 1’s commercial contracts could be terminated if Formula 1 ceased to
be the premier motor racing series for open wheel single-seater cars. Pursuant to the 2021 Concorde Agreement, each of the 10 Teams have
committed to participate in the World Championship until December 31, 2025. If a rival motor racing series is established (or if an existing
series develops into a rival series), this may reduce the popularity of Formula 1 leading to a decline in the value of Formula 1’s commercial
contracts which may materially adversely affect Formula 1’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects, and in turn
may materially adversely affect the Formula One Group. See “—There could be a decline in the popularity of Formula 1 which may have a
material adverse effect on Formula 1% ability to exploit its commercial rights to the World Championship” and “—Teams may, in certain
circumstances, terminate their existing commitment to participate in the World Championship until (and including) 2025 or breach their
obligations and withdraw.”

Changes in consumer viewing habits and the emergence of new content distribution platforms could adversely affect Formula 1’s
business and the Formula One Group.

The manner in which consumers view televised sporting events is changing rapidly with the emergence of alternative distribution
platforms. Digital cable, internet and wireless content providers are continuing to improve technologies, content offerings, user interface
and business models that allow consumers to access video-on-demand or internet-based tools with interactive capabilities including start,
stop and rewind. Formula 1’s exclusive commercial rights place no limits on the platforms on which it can operate, including online.
However, such developments may impact the profitability or effectiveness of Formula 1’s existing licensing practices and there is no
guarantee that Formula 1 will be successful in adapting its licensing practices and/or media platform as consumer viewing habits change. If
Formula 1 is unsuccessful in adapting its licensing practices and/or media platform as consumer viewing habits change, Formula 1’s
viewership levels (whether on traditional or new platforms) may decrease and/or its licensing practices may become less profitable leading
to the possibility of a reduction in the value of its media rights and sponsorship contracts. Any reduction in the value of Formula 1’s
commercial rights and/or contracts may materially and adversely affect its revenue, business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects, which in turn may materially adversely affect the Formula One Group. While Formula 1’s monetization of its television rights
has increased in recent years, there can be no assurance that such increases will continue or that Formula 1°s level of such monetization will
be comparable to that of other sporting events.

If confidential information regarding Formula 1’s business arrangements is disclosed or leaked, it could affect Formula 1’s
relationships with counterparties and/or Teams and result in less favorable commercial contracts and adversely affect Formula 1’s
business and the Formula One Group.

The success of Formula 1’s business depends on maintaining good relationships with Formula 1’s counterparties (including race
promoters, broadcasters and sponsors) and the Teams and entering into race promotion, media rights, sponsorship and other commercial
contracts on favorable terms. If confidential information regarding Formula 1’s business arrangements with its counterparties and/or the
Teams were to be disclosed or leaked, it could harm Formula 1’s relationships with those parties and result in less favorable terms in its
commercial contracts, including with respect to

1-25




Table of Contents

pricing and adversely affect its business, results of operation, financial condition and prospects, which in turn could materially adversely
affect the Formula One Group.

Formula 1 depends on trademarks, copyrights and intellectual property.

Formula 1 relies on certain trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property to protect its rights, including its brands, logos
and television footage. The existence of complex factual and legal issues may give rise to uncertainty as to the validity or subsistence,
scope and enforceability of a particular trademark, copyright or other intellectual property or contractual right in a particular jurisdiction.
While historically Formula 1 has been widely transmitted by free-to-air television which reduced its attractiveness as a target for piracy and
other infringement, Formula 1 is increasingly transmitted by pay TV operators that are greater targets for piracy. In any event, Formula 1’s
intellectual property, and in particular the Formula 1 brand (including the F1 logo) and television footage are potential targets for
counterfeiting, piracy and other infringement. New technologies such as the convergence of computing, communication, and entertainment
devices, the falling prices of devices incorporating such technologies, increased broadband internet speed and penetration and increased
availability and speed of mobile data transmission have made the unauthorized digital pirating and distribution of televised sporting events
easier and faster and enforcement of intellectual property rights more challenging. The unauthorized use of intellectual property in the
entertainment industry generally continues to be a significant challenge for intellectual property rights holders. If Formula 1 is unsuccessful
in preventing widespread piracy and illegal live streaming of Events in the future, these activities could result in lost revenue and a
reduction in the value of Formula 1’s media rights which may materially and adversely affect Formula 1’s business, results of operation,
financial condition and prospects, and in turn may materially adversely affect the Formula One Group. Further, the availability of certain
artificial intelligence tools could facilitate the creation of infringing works based on the unauthorized use of our and our business affiliates’
intellectual property. The legal landscape for some new technologies, including some artificial intelligence tools remains uncertain, and
development of the law in this area could impact our and our business affiliates’ intellectual property.

Formula 1’s processing, storing, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of
governmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements and policies or differing views of personal privacy rights.

Formula 1 receives, transmits and stores a large volume of personal data and other user data, primarily in the processing of
consumer transactions and managing its employees. The processing, storage, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of this information are
governed by the privacy and data security policies maintained by Formula 1. Moreover, there are federal, state and international laws
regarding privacy and the processing, storage, sharing, use, disclosure and protection of personal data and user data. Specifically, personal
data is increasingly subject to legislation and regulations, in numerous jurisdictions around the world, which are intended to protect the
privacy of personal data that is collected, processed and transmitted in or from the governing jurisdiction. Compliance with these laws and
regulations may be onerous and expensive and may be inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, further increasing the cost of
compliance. For example, the European Court of Justice in 2015 invalidated the U.S.-EU Safe Harbor Framework, which facilitated
personal data transfers to the U.S. in compliance with applicable European data protection laws. The E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield, which
replaced the U.S.-E.U. Safe Harbor Framework, and became fully operational in 2016, provided a mechanism to comply with data
protection requirements when transferring personal data from the European Union (“E.U.”) to the U.S. On July 16, 2020, the Court of
Justice of the European Union invalidated the E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield, and imposed new obligations on the use of standard contractual
clauses (“SCCs”) - another key mechanism to allow data transfers between the U.S. and the E.U.

The E.C. adopted revised SCCs on June 4, 2021. In October 2024, the E.C. announced a consultation regarding new SCCs, which
may be adopted in final form in 2025. In March 2022, the U.S. and the E.C. announced a new Transatlantic Data Privacy Framework
(“DPF”) to replace the E.U.-U.S. Privacy Shield. On December 13, 2022, the E.C. issued an adequacy decision initiating the formal
adoption process for the DPF and the E.U. formally adopted the adequacy decision on July 10, 2023. The U.S. and the E.U. implemented
the DPF in July 2023. Further, the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which became effective in 2018, gives consumers in the
E.U. additional rights and imposes additional restrictions and penalties on companies for illegal collection and misuse of personal data. The
timing of enactment of the E.U.’s proposed ePrivacy Regulation, which, among other things, would adopt additional regulation of

1-26




Table of Contents

“cookies” and other internet tracking tools, is uncertain. Following the U.K.’s withdrawal from the E.U. (“Brexit”), on June 28, 2021, the
E.C. determined that the U.K.’s data protection laws essentially are equivalent to data protection laws in the European Economic Area. As a
result, personal data transfers from the E.U. to the U.K. may continue without a new data transfer framework.

California has enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (“CCPA”), which, among other things, allows California
consumers to request that certain companies disclose the types of personal information collected by such companies. The CCPA became
effective on January 1, 2020. The California Attorney General has issued draft implementing regulations and guidance regarding the CCPA
and undertook enforcement actions in 2024 regarding violations of the law. In November 2020, California voters approved the California
Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (“CPRA”), which amends and expands the CCPA and establishes the California Privacy Protection Agency
(“CPPA”) to implement and enforce consumer privacy laws. Regulations under the CPRA became effective in March 2023. The CPPA also
proposed new regulations in November 2024 that would require companies to conduct risk assessment, annual cybersecurity audits and set
up notice and opt-out and access procedures for the use of automated decision-making technology. These proposed new requirements could
increase Formula 1’s costs of compliance and impact its operations and the products and services it offers. Since the enactment of the
CCPA, 19 additional states have enacted comprehensive privacy legislation.

In addition to broad consumer privacy laws, states in the U.S. are enacting and may continue to enact sectoral-specific privacy
laws focused on health data, data about people under the age of 18, biometric data, the use of algorithms by organizations, and other
matters. In addition to the increasing adoption of privacy laws by governments, other platforms where Formula 1 operates (including social
media platforms) may have separate policies that limit its use of personal information that Formula 1 collects through its operations on such
platforms, either now or in the future. Private litigants are also using federal and state laws to pursue litigation related to the use of personal
data, video content, chat tools and other communication tools, and trackers commonly used by organizations in the operation of consumer-
facing websites and applications. Formula 1’s failure, and/or the failure by the various third party vendors and service providers with which
it does business, to comply with applicable privacy policies or federal, state or similar international laws and regulations, or changes in
applicable laws and regulations, or changes in the policies of third party platforms where Formula 1 conducts business, or any compromise
of security that results in the unauthorized release of personal identifiable information or other user data could damage its reputation and the
reputation of its third party vendors and service providers, discourage potential fans, result in fines and/or proceedings by governmental
agencies and/or fans and/or result in limits on Formula 1’s use of personal information it uses in the operation of its business, any one or all
of which could adversely affect Formula 1’s business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, Formula 1 may not have
adequate insurance coverage to compensate for losses.

The terms of Formula 1’s indebtedness may limit its financial and operating flexibility.

Covenants contained in the agreements governing Formula 1’s credit facilities will restrict the ability of its subsidiaries to, among
other things:

e incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or be a creditor in respect of financial indebtedness;

e pay dividends, redeem their share capital, purchase capital stock, make investments or other restricted payments;

e make any payment in respect, or on account of, indebtedness owing to Liberty or certain of its affiliates;

® in certain circumstances, make any payment or distribution in respect, or on account of, intra-group debt;

e issue or sell capital stock;

® acquire assets or make investments;

e sell assets (including capital stock of subsidiaries);

e create liens;
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e enter into sale and leaseback or finance lease transactions;
® acquire an interest in or invest in any joint venture;

e enter into transactions with shareholders or affiliates except on arm’s length terms for full market value, including in relation
to the provision of goods or services;

e enter into any contractual or similar restriction which restricts their ability to pay dividends or other distributions, make intra-
group loan repayments, loan repayments or loans;

e effect a consolidation or merger;
e amend material commercial contracts; and

e enter into derivative transactions in respect of exposures which are unconnected to Formula 1’s credit facilities.

Formula 1 may also be required to repay its credit facilities upon the occurrence of certain events and Formula 1 cannot give any
assurance that it will be able to finance such a repayment. Failure to comply with an obligation to repay the credit facilities would result in
an event of default which could have a material adverse effect on Formula 1 and the Formula One Group.

These restrictive covenants could limit Formula 1°s ability to pursue Formula 1’s growth plans, restrict Formula 1’s flexibility in
planning for, or reacting to, changes in Formula 1’s business and industry and increase Formula 1’s vulnerability to adverse economic and
industry conditions. Formula 1 may enter into additional financing arrangements in the future, which could further restrict Formula 1’s
flexibility.

Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar against the functional currencies of Formula 1’s business and Formula 1’s counterparties’
business could adversely affect Formula 1’s profitability and the Formula One Group.

In 2024, a significant proportion of Formula 1’s revenue and costs were denominated in U.S. dollars. Formula 1 also operates in a
number of other currencies, most notably the pound sterling and Euro. There may be a mismatch between the amount of a local currency
Formula 1 generates in revenue and incurs in expenses. Our financial statements translate local currency transactions into U.S. dollars.
Formula 1 occasionally uses derivatives to hedge its exposure to more significant foreign currency risk. There is no assurance that such
measures will be successful and fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar against Formula 1’s functional currencies could affect its
profitability. Additionally, most payments Formula 1 receives from Formula 1’s counterparties under Formula 1°s commercial contracts are
denominated in U.S. dollars while their revenue is typically denominated in other currencies, most notably the Euro or the local currency in
the country where the relevant Event is held. An appreciation of the U.S. dollar, against the functional currencies of Formula 1’s
counterparties whose revenue is denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars, increases the cost of their payments to Formula 1 in
their functional currencies and the risk that they will not make their payments to Formula 1 or cause them to request Formula 1 to enter into
a new contract with such counterparty, which could affect Formula 1’s profitability and financial position, and in turn could impact the
Formula One Group. See “—Formula 1 is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to
Formula 1's key commercial contracts.”

The Teams have certain governance rights under the 2021 Concorde Agreement that may limit or, at a minimum, influence actions that
Liberty may seek to cause Formula 1 to take.

The Teams are entitled to certain consent rights under the 2021 Concorde Agreement, including in relation to the number of Events
in a season exceeding 24 or if there are fewer than eight Events across Europe and North America combined and the introduction of new
sporting and technical regulations applying to the World Championship. The interests or opinions of the Teams with regard to certain
actions proposed to be taken by Formula 1 may differ from those of Liberty. In such event, the Teams may be able to block these actions.
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Risks Relating to the Liberty Live Group

We do not have the right to manage our business affiliate, Live Nation, which means we are not able to cause it to operate in a manner
that is favorable to us.

We do not have the right to manage the businesses or affairs of our business affiliate Live Nation. Rather, our rights take the form
of representation on the board of directors and board committees of Live Nation. Although our board representation rights may enable us to
exercise influence over the management or policies of Live Nation, such representation will not enable us to cause Live Nation to take any
actions we believe are favorable to us (such as paying dividends or distributions).

Our equity method investment in Live Nation may have a material impact on net earnings of Liberty and the Liberty Live Group.

We have a significant investment in Live Nation that is attributed to the Liberty Live Group, which we account for under the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, we report our proportionate share of the net earnings or losses of our equity
affiliates in our statement of operations under “share of earnings (losses) of affiliates,” which contributes to our earnings (loss) before
income taxes. Due to the impact of COVID-19, Live Nation recorded significant losses during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020. If the earnings or losses of Live Nation are material in any year, those earnings or losses may have a material effect on our net
earnings or losses and those attributed to the Liberty Live Group. Notwithstanding the impact on our net earnings or losses and those
attributed to the Liberty Live Group, we do not have the ability to cause Live Nation to pay dividends or make other payments or advances
to its stockholders, including us. In addition, our investment in Live Nation is in publicly traded securities, which is not reflected at fair
value on our balance sheet and is subject to market risk that is not directly reflected in our statement of operations.

Live Nation’s business is highly sensitive to public tastes and is dependent on its ability to secure popular artists and other live music
events, and Live Nation and its ticketing clients may be unable to anticipate or respond to changes in consumer preferences, which may
result in decreased demand for its services.

Live Nation’s business is highly sensitive to rapidly changing public tastes and is dependent on the availability of popular artists
and events. Live Nation’s live entertainment business depends in part on its ability to anticipate the tastes of consumers and to offer events
that appeal to them. Since Live Nation relies on unrelated parties to create and perform at live music events, any unwillingness to tour or
lack of availability of popular artists could limit its ability to generate revenue. In particular, there are a limited number of artists that can
headline a major North American or global tour or who can sell out larger venues, including many of Live Nation’s amphitheaters. If those
artists do not choose to tour, or if Live Nation is unable to secure the rights to their future tours, then its concerts business would be
adversely affected. Live Nation’s artist management business could be adversely affected if the artists it represents do not tour or perform as
frequently as anticipated, or if such tours or performances are not as widely attended by fans as anticipated due to changing tastes, general
economic conditions or otherwise. Live Nation’s ticketing business relies on third parties to create and perform live entertainment, sporting
and leisure events and to price tickets to such events. Accordingly, Live Nation’s ticketing business’ success depends, in part, upon the
ability of these third parties to correctly anticipate public demand for particular events, as well as the availability of popular artists,
entertainers and teams.

In addition, Live Nation’s live entertainment business typically books its live music tours four to eight months in advance of the
beginning of the tour and often agrees to pay an artist a fixed guaranteed amount prior to receiving any revenue. Therefore, if the public is
not receptive to the tour, or Live Nation or an artist cancel the tour, Live Nation may incur a loss for the tour depending on the amount of
the fixed guarantee or incurred costs relative to any revenue earned, as well as revenue Live Nation could have earned at booked venues.
Live Nation has cancellation insurance policies in place to cover a portion of its losses if an artist cancels a tour but such policies may not
be sufficient and are subject to deductibles. Furthermore, consumer preferences change from time to time, and Live Nation’s failure to
anticipate, identify or react to these changes could result in reduced demand for its services, which would adversely affect its business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Live Nation’s business depends on relationships between key promoters, executives, agents, managers, artists and clients and any
adverse changes in these relationships could adversely affect Live Nation’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The live music business is uniquely dependent upon personal relationships, as promoters and executives within live music
companies such as Live Nation’s leverage their existing network of relationships with artists, agents and managers in order to secure the
rights to the live music tours and events which are critical to Live Nation’s success. Due to the importance of those industry contacts to
Live Nation’s business, the loss of any of its promoters, officers or other key personnel could adversely affect its business. Although Live
Nation has entered into long-term agreements with many of those individuals described above to protect its interests in those relationships,
Live Nation can give no assurance that all or any of those key employees or managers will remain with it or will retain their associations
with key business contacts, including music artists, as some agreements between a manager and an artist are not for a fixed period of time
and are instead terminable at will.

The success of Live Nation’s ticketing business depends, in significant part, on its ability to maintain and renew relationships with
existing clients and to establish new client relationships. Live Nation anticipates that, for the foreseeable future, the substantial majority of
its ticketing segment revenue will be derived from both online and mobile sales of tickets. Live Nation also expects that revenue from
primary ticketing services, which consists primarily of its portion of per ticket convenience charges and per order service fees, will continue
to comprise the substantial majority of its ticketing segment revenue. Live Nation cannot provide assurances that it will be able to maintain
existing client contracts, or enter into or maintain new client contracts, on acceptable terms, if at all, and the failure to do so could have a
material adverse effect on Live Nation’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Another important component of Live Nation’s success is its ability to maintain existing and to build new relationships with third-
party distribution channels, advertisers, sponsors and service providers. Any adverse change in those relationships, including the inability of
those parties to fulfill their obligations to Live Nation’s businesses for any reason, could adversely affect its business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Live Nation faces intense competition in the live music and ticketing industries, and it may not be able to maintain or increase its
current revenue, which could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

Live Nation’s businesses are in highly competitive industries, and it may not be able to maintain or increase its current revenue
due to such competition. The live music industry competes with other forms of entertainment for consumers’ discretionary spending and
within this industry Live Nation competes with other venues to book artists, and, in the markets in which it promotes music concerts, it
faces competition from other promoters and venue operators. Live Nation’s competitors compete with it for key employees who have
relationships with popular music artists and who have a history of being able to book such artists for concerts and tours. These competitors
may engage in more extensive development efforts, undertake more far-reaching marketing campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing
policies and make more attractive offers to existing and potential artists. Due to increasing artist influence and competition to attract and
maintain artist clients, Live Nation may enter into agreements on terms that are less favorable to it, which could negatively impact its
financial results. Live Nation’s competitors may develop services, advertising options or music venues that are equal or superior to those
Live Nation provides or that achieve greater market acceptance and brand recognition than Live Nation achieves. Within the live music
industry, Live Nation’s artist management business also competes with numerous other artist management companies and individual
managers in the United States alone, both to discover new and emerging artists and to represent established artists. Across the live music
industry, it is possible that new competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share.

Live Nation’s ticketing business faces significant competition from other national, regional and local primary ticketing service
providers to secure new and retain existing clients on a continuous basis. Additionally, it faces significant and increasing challenges from
companies that sell self-ticketing systems and from clients who choose to self-ticket, through the integration of such systems into their
existing operations or the acquisition of primary ticket services providers or by increasing sales through venue box offices and season and
subscription sales. Live Nation also faces competition in the resale of tickets from resale marketplaces and from other ticket resellers with
online distribution capabilities. The advent of new technology, particularly as it relates to online ticketing, has amplified this competition.
The intense
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competition that Live Nation faces in the ticketing industry could cause the volume of our ticketing services business to decline. As Live
Nation is also a content provider and venue operator it may face direct competition with its prospective or current primary ticketing clients,
who primarily include live event content providers. This direct competition with Live Nation’s prospective or current primary ticketing
clients could result in a decline in the number of ticketing clients it has and a decline in the volume of its ticketing business, which could
adversely affect Live Nation’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In the secondary ticket sales market, Live Nation has restrictions on its business that are not faced by its competitors, imposed as a
result of agreements entered into with the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), the Attorneys General of several individual states, and
various international governing bodies. These restrictions include: a requirement to clearly and conspicuously disclose on any primary
ticketing website where a link or redirect to a resale website owned or controlled by Live Nation is posted, that the link is directing the user
to a resale website and that ticket prices often exceed the ticket’s original price; and a requirement to make certain clear and conspicuous
disclosures and in certain instances disclose when a ticket being offered for resale is not “in-hand” as well as a requirement to monitor and
enforce the compliance of third parties offering tickets on Live Nation’s websites with such disclosure requirements. There are certain state
laws that now ban such speculative ticket listings, and the New York Attorney General has in the past brought lawsuits against resale
companies for these practices; Live Nation does not, however, allow the use of such speculative ticketing practices on its websites.

Other variables related to the competitive environment that could adversely affect Live Nation’s financial performance by, among
other things, leading to decreases in overall revenue, the number of sponsors, event attendance, ticket prices and fees or profit margins
include:

e an increased level of competition for advertising dollars, which may lead to lower sponsorships as Live Nation attempts to
retain advertisers or which may cause it to lose advertisers to its competitors offering better programs that Live Nation is
unable or unwilling to match;

e unfavorable fluctuations in operating costs, including increased guarantees to artists, which Live Nation may be unwilling or
unable to pass through to its customers via higher ticket prices;

e inability or unwillingness to fund the significant up-front cash requirements associated with Live Nation’s touring and
ticketing businesses due to insufficient cash on hand or capacity under its senior secured credit facility, which could result in
the loss of key tours to competitors or the inability to secure and retain ticketing clients;

e competitors’ offerings that may include more favorable terms than Live Nation does in order to obtain agreements for new
venues or ticketing arrangements or to obtain events for the venues they operate;

e technological changes and innovations that Live Nation is unable to adopt or are late in adopting that offer more attractive
entertainment alternatives than it or other live entertainment providers currently offer, which may lead to a reduction in
attendance at live events, a loss of ticket sales or lower ticket fees; and

e other entertainment options available to Live Nation’s audiences that it does not offer.

The success of Live Nation’s ticketing business and other operations depends, in part, on the integrity of its systems and infrastructure,
as well as affiliate and third-party computer systems, computer networks and other communication systems. System interruption and the
lack of integration and redundancy in these systems and infrastructure may have an adverse impact on Live Nation’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

System interruption and the lack of integration and redundancy in the information systems and infrastructure, both of Live
Nation’s own ticketing systems and other computer systems and of affiliate and third-party software, computer networks and other
communications systems service providers on which it relies, may adversely affect its ability to operate websites, process and fulfill
transactions, respond to customer inquiries and generally maintain cost-efficient operations. Such interruptions could occur by virtue of
natural disaster, malicious actions such as hacking or acts of terrorism or war, or human error. In addition, the loss of some or all of certain
key personnel could require Live Nation to expend additional resources to continue to maintain its software and systems and could subject
it to systems interruptions. The large
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infrastructure plant that is required to operate Live Nation’s systems requires an ongoing investment of time, money and effort to maintain
or refresh hardware and software and to ensure it remains at a level capable of servicing the demand and volume of business that
Ticketmaster receives. Failure to do so may result in system instability, degradation in performance, or unfixable security vulnerabilities
that could adversely impact both the business and the consumers utilizing its services.

While Live Nation has backup systems for certain aspects of its operations, disaster recovery planning by its nature cannot be
sufficient for all eventualities. In addition, Live Nation may not have adequate insurance coverage to compensate for losses from a major
interruption. If any of these adverse events were to occur, it could adversely affect Live Nation’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Data loss or other breaches of Live Nation’s network security could materially harm its business and results of operations, and the
processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal or sensitive information could give rise to liabilities and additional costs as a result
of governmental regulation, litigation and conflicting legal requirements relating to personal privacy rights.

Due to the nature of Live Nation’s business, it processes, stores, uses, transfers and discloses certain personal or sensitive
information about its customers and employees. Penetration of its network or other misappropriation or misuse of personal or sensitive
information and data, including credit card information and other personally identifiable information, could cause interruptions in Live
Nation’s operations and subject it to increased costs, litigation, inquiries and actions from governmental authorities, and financial or other
liabilities. In addition, security breaches, incidents or the inability to protect information could lead to increased incidents of ticketing fraud
and counterfeit tickets. Security breaches and incidents could also significantly damage its reputation with consumers, ticketing clients and
other third parties, and could result in significant costs related to remediation efforts, such as credit or identity theft monitoring.

Although Live Nation has developed systems and processes that are designed to protect customer and employee information and
to prevent security breaches or incidents (which could result in data loss or other harm or loss), such measures cannot provide absolute
security or certainty. It is possible that advances in computer and hacker capabilities, new variants of malware, the development of new
penetration methods and tools, inadvertent violations of company policies or procedures or other developments could result in a
compromise of customer or employee information or a breach of the technology and security processes that are used to protect customer
and employee information. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, automate or expedite transactions or other activities on its
platform, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems (or otherwise bring about one or more of these effects) may change frequently and
as a result, may be difficult for its business to detect for long periods of time and may impact the efficacy of its defenses and/or the products
and services Live Nation provides. In addition, despite Live Nation’s best efforts, Live Nation may be unaware of or unable to anticipate
these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. Live Nation has expended significant capital and other resources to protect
against and remedy such potential security breaches, incidents and their consequences, including the establishment of a dedicated
cybersecurity organization within its larger technology environment, and will continue to do so in the future.

Live Nation also face risks associated with security breaches and incidents affecting third parties with which it is affiliated or with
which we otherwise conduct business. In particular, hardware, software or applications it develops or procures from third parties may
contain, and have contained, defects in design or manufacture and/or may pose a security risk that could unexpectedly compromise
information security, but none of which have been material to date. Consumers are generally concerned with the security and privacy of the
internet, and any publicized security problems affecting our businesses and/or third parties may discourage consumers from doing business
with Live Nation, which could have an adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to the above concerns related to network and data security, the collection, transfer, use, disclosure, security and
retention of personal or sensitive information and other user data are governed by existing and evolving federal, state and international
laws. Live Nation has expended significant capital and other resources to keep abreast of the evolving privacy landscape, including the
establishment of a dedicated global privacy organization within its legal team. However, Live Nation’s business could be adversely affected
if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in business practices or policies (including, for example, practices or policies
regarding the collection, transfer, use, disclosure, security, and retention of personal or sensitive information), or if governing jurisdictions
interpret or
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implement legislation or regulations in a manner which negatively affects its business, financial condition and/or results of operations. Due
to the changes in the data privacy regulatory environment, Live Nation may incur additional costs and challenges to its business that restrict
or limit its ability to collect, transfer, use, disclose, secure, or retain personal or sensitive information. These changes in data privacy laws
may require Live Nation to modify its current or future products, services, programs, practices or policies, which may in turn impact the
products and services available to Live Nation’s customers.

Regulators and government enforcement actions worldwide are imposing significant fines against companies for data privacy
violations. Live Nation’s business operations, including its ticketing business, involve the collection, transfer, use, disclosure, security, and
disposal of personal or sensitive information in various locations around the world, including the E.U., where the GDPR governs data
privacy and can result in the imposition of significant fines and penalties. In addition, following the withdrawal of the U.K. from the E.U.
on December 31, 2020, Live Nation was required to separately comply with the U.K.’s data protection law, under which additional fines
and penalties could be imposed independent of the GDPR. U.K. data protection law has continued to evolve and, notwithstanding the
current E.U. decision that allows data to be transferred from the E.U. to the U.K., Live Nation anticipates additional changes to U.K. data
protection law within the next 12-18 months. In the United States, several states (including California, Virginia, and Colorado) have
required Live Nation to update its policies and procedures to continue to protect data as required under those laws. State and federal
legislators in the United States continue to consider, and enact, new privacy laws, which may require further updates to ensure compliance.
Additional changes to data privacy laws and regulations around the world, including in the E.U., U.K., and/or the United States, could lead
to additional compliance costs and could increase Live Nation’s overall risk.

As Live Nation expands its operations into new jurisdictions, the costs associated with compliance with applicable local data
privacy laws and regulations increases. It is possible that government or industry regulation in these markets will require Live Nation to
deviate from its standard processes and/or make changes to its products, services and operations, which will increase operational cost and
risk.

Live Nation’s failure or the failure of the various third-party vendors and service providers with which it is affiliated or otherwise
conduct business to comply with applicable federal, state or international laws and regulations and/or to comply with its privacy policies
and/or or any compromise of security that results in the unauthorized collection, transfer, use or disclosure of personal or sensitive
information or other user data may result in negative publicity resulting in reputation or brand damage, may discourage potential users from
purchasing tickets or trying Live Nation’s products and services, and may result in proceedings/fines by governmental agencies and/or
private litigation brought by consumers; the realization of one or all of the foregoing could adversely affect Live Nation’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Live Nation may fail to adequately protect its intellectual property rights or may be accused of infringing upon intellectual property
rights of third parties.

Live Nation regards its intellectual property rights, including patents, trademarks and domain names, copyrights, trade secrets and
similar intellectual property (as applicable) as critical to its success. Live Nation also relies heavily upon software codes, informational
databases and other components that make up its products and services.

Live Nation has been granted trademark registrations and patents and/or have trademark and patent applications pending with the
United States Patent and Trademark Office and/or various foreign authorities for various proprietary trademarks, technologies and other
inventions. Any patent or trademark application filed may not result in a patent or trademark registration being issued, or existing or future
patents or trademarks may not be adjudicated valid by a court or be afforded adequate protection against competitors. Likewise, the
issuance of a patent or trademark registration to Live Nation does not mean that its processes, inventions or trademark will not be found to
infringe upon rights previously issued to third parties. Live Nation relies on a combination of laws and contractual restrictions with
employees, customers, suppliers, affiliates and others to establish and protect these proprietary rights. Despite these precautions, it may be
possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use Live Nation’s intellectual property without authorization which, if discovered,
might require legal action to correct. In addition, third parties may independently and lawfully develop substantially similar intellectual
properties.
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From time to time, Live Nation is subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including claims of
alleged infringement of the intellectual property rights of third parties. Live Nation’s failure to protect its intellectual property rights in a
meaningful manner or challenges to related contractual rights could result in erosion of brand names or other intellectual property and could
adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations. Therefore, litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce its
intellectual property rights, protect trade secrets or determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights claimed by others. Any litigation
of this nature, regardless of outcome or merit, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management and technical resources, any of
which could adversely affect Live Nation’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to the Ownership of Our Common Stock Due to Our Tracking Stock Capitalization
The following risks relate to the ownership of our common stock due to our tracking stock capitalization.

Holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock are common stockholders of our Company and,
therefore, are subject to risks associated with an investment in our Company as a whole, even if a holder does not own shares of
common stock of both of our groups.

Even though we have attributed, for financial reporting purposes, all of our consolidated assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and
cash flows among the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group in order to prepare the separate financial statement schedules for
each of those groups, we will retain legal title to all of our assets and our tracking stock capitalization does not limit our legal responsibility,
or that of our subsidiaries, for the liabilities included in any set of financial statement schedules. Holders of Liberty Formula One common
stock and Liberty Live common stock do not have any legal rights related to specific assets attributed to their associated group and, in any
liquidation, holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and holders of Liberty Live common stock will be entitled to receive a pro rata
share of our available net assets based on their respective numbers of liquidation units.

Possible market confusion may result from holders of our tracking stocks mistakenly believing that they (i) directly own stock of a
company that is attributed to one of our tracking stocks and (ii) have any equity or voting interests with respect to companies attributed
to one of our tracking stocks.

Our company holds interests in various companies, including public companies, and these interests are attributed to our tracking
stock groups. In particular, following the Reclassification, the Formula One Group is comprised of our subsidiary that owns the Formula 1
business and the Liberty Live Group is primarily comprised of our interest in Live Nation. Depending on the composition of the assets
underlying our tracking stock groups from time to time, confusion in the marketplace may occur if holders of our tracking stock mistakenly
believe they own stock of a company attributed to the applicable tracking stock group. As described above, holders of Liberty Formula One
common stock and Liberty Live common stock do not have any legal rights related to specific assets attributed to their associated tracking
stock group. Similarly, holders of these tracking stocks do not, by virtue of their ownership of our tracking stock, own any equity or voting
interest in any company attributed to one of our tracking stock groups, including any public companies.

We may split off, spin off or reattribute assets, liabilities and businesses attributed to our tracking stock groups in a manner that may
disparately impact some of our stockholders if our Board of Directors determines such transaction to be in the best interest of all of our
stockholders, and in some cases, not all of our stockholders would be entitled to vote on such a transaction.

Pursuant to the terms of Liberty’s restated certificate of incorporation (its “Charter”), the Board of Directors may determine that it
is in the best interest of all of Liberty’s stockholders to effect a redemptive split-off whereby all or a portion of the outstanding shares of a
particular tracking stock would be redeemed for shares of common stock of a subsidiary (“Splitco”) that holds all or a portion of the assets
and liabilities attributed to such tracking stock group subject to the approval of only the holders of the tracking stock to be redeemed. For
example, Liberty split-off its wholly owned subsidiaries, Atlanta Braves Holdings in 2023 and Liberty Sirius XM Holdings in 2024, and has
announced a plan to split-off Liberty Live Group (immediately prior to which, QuintEvents would be reattributed from the Formula One
Group to the Liberty Live Group). The vote of holders of Liberty’s other tracking stocks have not been and would not in the future be
required, unless Splitco also held assets and liabilities of such other tracking stock group(s). If Liberty were to effect a
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redemptive split-off in the future, then, pursuant to the terms of its Charter, Liberty would be required to redeem the outstanding shares of
the affected tracking stock from its holders on an equal per share basis (i.e., it could not redeem shares from holders of only certain series of
the affected tracking stock or redeem from all holders of the affected tracking stock on a non-pro rata basis). Following any future
redemptive split-off, holders of the other tracking stock(s) would continue to hold stock tracking the performance of Liberty’s remaining
assets and liabilities which would not have changed after the redemptive split-off, unless a reattribution among the tracking stock groups
occurred in connection with the redemptive split-off (as discussed below). In addition, in the case of a partial redemptive split-off, holders
of the affected tracking stock would hold shares of Splitco and continue to hold a reduced number of shares of the affected tracking stock
which would track the remaining assets and liabilities retained by Liberty and attributed to such tracking stock group after the split-off.

Liberty is also permitted, pursuant to the terms of its Charter, to effect a spin-off of certain of its assets and liabilities through the
dividend of shares of a subsidiary holding such assets and liabilities, and the spin-off would not be subject to prior stockholder approval. In
this situation, a tracking stock holder would retain their tracking stock shares and receive shares of the spun-off entity.

Furthermore, in structuring these transactions, the Board of Directors may determine to alter the composition of the assets and
liabilities underlying its tracking stock groups through a reattribution. As contemplated by both the Charter and the management and
allocation policies designed to assist Liberty in managing and separately presenting the businesses and operations attributed to our tracking
stock groups, the Board of Directors is vested with the discretion to reattribute assets and liabilities from one tracking stock group to
another tracking stock group without the approval of any of its stockholders, and the only limitations on its exercise of such discretion are
that the reattribution be in the best interest of all of Liberty’s stockholders and that the reattribution be done on a fair value basis. Holders of
the affected tracking stock groups will not be entitled to a separate vote to approve a reattribution, even if such reattribution is occurring in
connection with a redemptive split-off and such stockholders would otherwise be entitled to vote on the redemptive split-off itself.

Our Board of Directors’ ability to reattribute businesses, assets and expenses between and among tracking stock groups may make it
difficult to assess the future prospects of our tracking stock groups based on past performance.

Any reattribution made by the Board of Directors (as discussed above), as well as the existence, in and of itself, of the right to
effect a reattribution may impact the ability of investors to assess the future prospects of the businesses and assets attributed to a tracking
stock group, including liquidity and capital resource needs, based on past performance. Stockholders may also have difficulty evaluating
the liquidity and capital resources of the businesses and assets attributed to each group based on past performance, as the Board of Directors
may use one group’s liquidity to fund another group’s liquidity and capital expenditure requirements through the use of inter-group loans
and inter-group interests.

We could be required to use assets attributed to one group to pay liabilities attributed to another group.

The assets attributed to one group are potentially subject to the liabilities attributed to another group, even if those liabilities arise
from lawsuits, contracts or indebtedness that are attributed to such other group. While our current management and allocation policies
provide that reattributions of assets between groups will result in the creation of an inter-group loan or an inter-group interest or an
offsetting reattribution of cash or other assets, no provision of our current Charter prevents us from satistying liabilities of one group with
assets of another group, and our creditors are not in any way limited by our tracking stock capitalization from proceeding against any assets
they could have proceeded against if we did not have a tracking stock capitalization.

The market price of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock may not reflect the performance of the
businesses and assets attributed to the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group, respectively, as we intend.

We cannot assure you that the market price of the common stock related to a group will, in fact, reflect the performance of the
group of businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to that group. Holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live
common stock are common stockholders of our Company as a whole and, as such, are subject to all risks associated with an investment in
our Company and all of our businesses, assets and liabilities. As a
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result, the market price of each tracking stock may, in part, reflect events that are intended to be reflected or tracked by a different tracking
stock of our Company. In addition, investors may discount the value of the stock related to a group because it is part of a common
enterprise rather than a stand-alone entity.

The market price of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock may be volatile, could fluctuate substantially
and could be affected by factors that do not affect traditional common stock.

The market prices of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock may be materially affected by, among
other things:

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in a group’s operating results or in the operating results of particular companies attributable
to such group;

e potential acquisition activity by our Company (regardless of the group to which it is attributed) or the companies in which we
invest;

e issuances of debt or equity securities to raise capital by our Company or the companies in which we invest and the manner in
which that debt or the proceeds of an equity issuance are attributed to each of the groups;

e changes in financial estimates by securities analysts regarding Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common
stock or the companies attributable to our tracking stock groups;

e the complex nature and the potential difficulties investors may have in understanding the terms of our tracking stocks, as well
as concerns regarding the possible effect of certain of those terms on an investment in our stocks; and

e general market conditions.

The market value of Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock could be adversely affected by events involving
the assets and businesses attributed to the other group.

Because we are the issuer of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock, an adverse market reaction to
events relating to the assets and businesses attributed to one of our groups, such as earnings announcements, announcements of new
products or services or acquisitions or dispositions that the market does not view favorably, may cause an adverse market reaction in the
common stock of the other group. This could occur even if the triggering event is not material to us as a whole. Certain events may also
have a greater impact on one group than the same triggering event would have on another group due to the asset composition of the affected
group. In addition, the incurrence of significant indebtedness by us or any of our subsidiaries on behalf of one group, including
indebtedness incurred or assumed in connection with acquisitions of or investments in businesses, could affect our credit rating and that of
our subsidiaries and, therefore, could increase the borrowing costs of businesses attributable to our other group or the borrowing costs of
our Company as a whole.

We may not pay dividends equally or at all on Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock.

We do not presently intend to pay cash dividends on Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock for the
foreseeable future. However, we have the right to pay dividends on the shares of common stock related to each group in equal or unequal
amounts, and we may pay dividends on the shares of common stock related to one group and not pay dividends on shares of common stock
related to another group. In addition, any dividends or distributions on, or repurchases of, shares relating to a group will reduce our assets
legally available to be paid as dividends on the shares relating to another group.

QOur tracking stock capital structure could create conflicts of interest, and our Board of Directors may make decisions that could
adversely affect only some holders of our common stock.

Our tracking stock capital structure could give rise to occasions when the interests of holders of stock related to one group might
diverge or appear to diverge from the interests of holders of stock related to the other group. In addition,
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given the nature of their businesses, there may be inherent conflicts of interests between the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live
Group. Our tracking stock groups are not separate entities and thus holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live
common stock do not have the right to elect separate boards of directors. As a result, our Company’s officers and directors owe fiduciary
duties to our Company as a whole and all of our stockholders as opposed to only holders of a particular group. Decisions deemed to be in
the best interest of our Company and all of our stockholders may not be in the best interest of a particular group when considered
independently. Examples include:

e decisions as to the terms of any business relationships that may be created between the Formula One Group and the Liberty
Live Group;
e the terms of any reattributions of assets between groups;

e decisions as to the allocation of consideration among the holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live
common stock, or among the series of stocks relating to our groups, to be received in connection with a merger involving our
Company;

e decisions as to the allocation of corporate opportunities between the groups, especially where the opportunities might meet
the strategic business objectives of more than one group;

e decisions as to operational and financial matters that could be considered detrimental to one group but beneficial to the other;
e decisions as to the conversion of shares of common stock of one group into shares of common stock of the other;

e decisions regarding the creation of, and, if created, the subsequent increase or decrease of any inter-group interest that one
group may own in the other group;

e decisions as to the internal or external financing attributable to businesses or assets attributed to any of our groups;
e decisions as to the dispositions of assets of any of our groups; and

e decisions as to the payment of dividends on the stock relating to any of our groups.
Our directors’ or officers’ equity ownership may create or appear to create conflicts of interest.

If directors or officers own disproportionate interests (in percentage or value terms) in Liberty Formula One common stock or
Liberty Live common stock, that disparity could create or appear to create conflicts of interest when they are faced with decisions that
could have different implications for the holders of Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock.

Other than pursuant to our management and allocation policies, we have not adopted any specific procedures for consideration of
matters involving a divergence of interests among holders of shares of stock relating to our two groups, or among holders of different
series of stock relating to a specific group.

Rather than develop additional specific procedures in advance, the Board of Directors intends to exercise its judgment from time
to time, depending on the circumstances, as to how best to:

e obtain information regarding the divergence (or potential divergence) of interests;

o determine under what circumstances to seek the assistance of outside advisers;

e determine whether a committee of the Board of Directors should be appointed to address a specific matter and the appropriate
members of that committee; and

® assess what is in our best interests and the best interests of all of our stockholders.
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The Board of Directors believes the advantage of retaining flexibility in determining how to fulfill its responsibilities in any such
circumstances as they may arise outweighs any perceived advantages of adopting additional specific procedures in advance.

Our Board of Directors may change the management and allocation policies to the detriment of one or more groups without stockholder
approval.

The Board of Directors has adopted certain management and allocation policies to serve as guidelines in making decisions
regarding the relationship between the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group with respect to matters such as tax liabilities and
benefits, inter-group loans, inter-group interests, attribution of assets, financing alternatives, corporate opportunities and similar items.
These policies also set forth the initial focuses and strategies of these groups and the initial attribution of our businesses, assets and
liabilities among them. These policies are not included in the current Charter. The Board of Directors may at any time change or make
exceptions to these policies. Because these policies relate to matters concerning the day-to-day management of our Company as opposed to
significant corporate actions, such as a merger involving our Company or a sale of substantially all of our assets, no stockholder approval is
required with respect to their adoption or amendment. A decision to change, or make exceptions to, these policies or adopt additional
policies could disadvantage one group while advantaging the other.

Holders of shares of stock relating to a particular group may not have any remedies if any action by our directors or officers has an
adverse effect on only that stock, or on a particular series of that stock.

Principles of Delaware law and the provisions of our current Charter may protect decisions of the Board of Directors that have a
disparate impact upon holders of shares of stock relating to a particular group, or upon holders of any series of stock relating to a particular
group. Under Delaware law, the Board of Directors has a duty to act with due care and in the best interests of all of our stockholders,
regardless of the stock, or series, they hold. Principles of Delaware law established in cases involving differing treatment of multiple classes
or series of stock provide that a board of directors owes an equal duty to all stockholders and does not have separate or additional duties to
any subset of stockholders. Judicial opinions in Delaware involving tracking stocks have established that decisions by directors or officers
involving differing treatment of holders of tracking stocks may be judged under the business judgment rule. In some circumstances, our
directors or officers may be required to make a decision that is viewed as adverse to the holders of shares relating to a particular group or to
the holders of a particular series of that stock. Under the principles of Delaware law and the business judgment rule referred to above, a
stockholder may not be able to successfully challenge decisions that they believe have a disparate impact upon the stockholders of one of
our groups if a majority of the Board of Directors is disinterested and independent with respect to the action taken, is adequately informed
with respect to the action taken and acts in good faith and in the honest belief that the Board of Directors is acting in the best interest of
Liberty and all of our stockholders.

Stockholders will not vote on how to attribute consideration received in connection with a merger involving our Company among
holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock.

Our current Charter does not contain any provisions governing how consideration received in connection with a merger or
consolidation involving our Company is to be attributed to holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and holders of Liberty Live
common stock or to the holders of different series of stock, and none of the holders of Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live
common stock will have a separate class vote in the event of such a merger or consolidation. Consistent with applicable principles of
Delaware law, the Board of Directors will seek to divide the type and amount of consideration received in a merger or consolidation
involving our Company among holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock in a fair manner. As the
different ways the Board of Directors may divide the consideration between holders of stock relating to the different groups, and among
holders of different series of a particular stock, might have materially different results, the consideration to be received by holders of
Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock in any such merger or consolidation may be materially less valuable
than the consideration they would have received if they had a separate class vote on such merger or consolidation.
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We may dispose of assets of the Formula One Group or the Liberty Live Group without stockholder approval.

Delaware law requires stockholder approval only for a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of our
Company taken as a whole, and our current Charter does not require a separate class vote in the case of a sale of a significant amount of
assets of either of our groups. As long as the assets attributed to the Formula One Group or the Liberty Live Group proposed to be disposed
of represent less than substantially all of our assets, we may approve sales and other dispositions of any amount of the assets of such group
without any stockholder approval.

If we dispose of all or substantially all of the assets attributed to either group (which means, for this purpose, assets representing
80% of the fair market value of the total assets of the disposing group, as determined by the Board of Directors), we would be required
under the terms of our current Charter, if the disposition is not an exempt disposition under the terms of our current charter, to choose one
or more of the following three alternatives:

e declare and pay a dividend on the disposing group’s common stock;
e redeem shares of the disposing group’s common stock in exchange for cash, securities or other property; and/or

e convert all or a portion of the disposing group’s outstanding common stock into common stock of another group.

In this type of a transaction, holders of the disposing group’s common stock may receive less value than the value that a third-party
buyer might pay for all or substantially all of the assets of the disposing group.

The Board of Directors will decide, in its sole discretion, how to proceed and is not required to select the option that would result
in the highest value to holders of any stock related to a particular group.

Holders of Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock may receive less consideration upon a sale of the assets
attributed to that group than if that group were a separate company.

If the Formula One Group or the Liberty Live Group were a separate, independent company and its shares were acquired by
another person, certain costs of that sale, including corporate level taxes, might not be payable in connection with that acquisition. As a
result, stockholders of a separate, independent company with the same assets might receive a greater amount of proceeds than the holders of
Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock would receive upon a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the
group to which their shares relate. In addition, we cannot assure you that in the event of such a sale the per share consideration to be paid to
holders of Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock, as the case may be, will be equal to or more than the per
share value of that share of stock prior to or after the announcement of a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the applicable group.
Further, there is no requirement that the consideration paid be tax-free to the holders of the shares of common stock related to that group.
Accordingly, if we sell all or substantially all of the assets attributed to the Formula One Group or the Liberty Live Group, our stockholders
could suffer a loss in the value of their investment in our stock.

In the event of a liquidation of Liberty, holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock will not have a
priority with respect to the assets attributed to the related tracking stock group remaining for distribution to stockholders.

Under our current Charter, upon Liberty’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of Liberty Formula One common stock
and Liberty Live common stock will be entitled to receive, in respect of their shares of such stock, their proportionate interest in all of
Liberty’s assets, if any, remaining for distribution to holders of common stock in proportion to their respective number of “liquidation
units” per share, as previously determined in connection with the Reclassification. Hence, the assets to be distributed to a holder of any of
our tracking stocks upon a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Liberty will have nothing to do with the value of the assets attributed to
the related tracking stock group or to changes in the relative value of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock
over time.
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The Board of Directors may elect to convert the common stock relating to one group into common stock relating to other group, thereby
changing the nature of a stockholder’s investment and possibly diluting their economic interest in our Company, which could result in a
loss in value to them.

Our current Charter permits the Board of Directors to convert all of the outstanding shares of common stock relating to any of our
groups into shares of common stock of another group on specified terms. A conversion would preclude the holders of stock related to each
group involved in such conversion from retaining their investment in a security that is intended to reflect separately the performance of the
relevant group. We cannot predict the impact on the market value of our stock of (1) the Board of Directors’ ability to effect any such
conversion or (2) the exercise of this conversion right by the Board of Directors. In addition, the Board of Directors may effect such a
conversion at a time when the market value of our different stocks could cause the stockholders of one group to be disadvantaged.

Holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock vote together and have limited separate voting rights.

Holders of Series A and Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock vote together as a single
class, except in certain limited circumstances prescribed by our current Charter and under Delaware law. Each share of Series B common
stock of each group has ten votes per share, and each share of Series A common stock of each group has one vote per share. Holders of
Series C common stock of each group have no voting rights, other than those required under Delaware law. When holders of Liberty
Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock vote together as a single class, holders having a majority of the votes are in a
position to control the outcome of the vote even if the matter involves a conflict of interest among our stockholders or has a greater impact
on one group than another.

Transactions in Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock by our insiders could depress the market price of
those stocks.

Sales of, or hedging transactions such as collars relating to, shares of Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live
common stock by our Chairman of the Board of Directors, or any of our other directors or executive officers, could cause a perception in
the marketplace that the stock price of the relevant shares has peaked or that adverse events or trends have occurred or may be occurring at
our Company or the group to which the shares relates. This perception can result notwithstanding any personal financial motivation for
these transactions. As a result, insider transactions could depress the market price for shares of Liberty Formula One common stock or
Liberty Live common stock.

Our capital structure, as well as the fact that the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group are not independent companies, may
inhibit or prevent acquisition bids for the businesses attributed to the Formula One Group or the Liberty Live Group and may make it
difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so may be beneficial to our stockholders.

If the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group were separate independent companies, any person interested in acquiring
the Formula One Group or the Liberty Live Group without negotiating with management could seek control of that group by obtaining
control of its outstanding voting stock, by means of a tender offer or a proxy contest. Although we intend Liberty Formula One common
stock and Liberty Live common stock to reflect the separate economic performance of the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group,
respectively, those groups are not separate entities and a person interested in acquiring only one group without negotiation with our
management could obtain control of that group only by obtaining control of a majority in voting power of all of the outstanding voting
shares of our Company. The existence of shares of common stock, and different series of shares, relating to different groups could present
complexities and in certain circumstances pose obstacles, financial and otherwise, to an acquiring person that are not present in companies
that do not have a capital structure similar to ours.

Certain provisions of our current Charter and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our Company that a
stockholder may consider favorable. These provisions include:

e authorizing a capital structure with multiple series of common stock: a Series B common stock related to each group that
entitles the holders to ten votes per share, a Series A common stock related to each group
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that entitles the holder to one vote per share, and a Series C common stock related to each group that, except as otherwise
required by Delaware law, entitles the holder to no voting rights;

e classifying the Board of Directors with staggered three-year terms, which may lengthen the time required to gain control of
the Board of Directors;

e limiting who may call special meetings of stockholders;

e prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, thereby requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of the
stockholders;

e establishing advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election to the Board of Directors or for proposing
matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings;

e requiring stockholder approval by holders of at least 66%:% of our aggregate voting power or the approval by at least 75% of
the Board of Directors with respect to certain extraordinary matters, such as a merger or consolidation of our Company, a sale
of all or substantially all of our assets or an amendment to our current Charter; and

e the existence of authorized and unissued stock, including “blank check” preferred stock, which could be issued by the Board
of Directors to persons friendly to our then current management, thereby protecting the continuity of our management, or
which could be used to dilute the stock ownership of persons seeking to obtain control of our Company.

Liberty’s Chairman, John C. Malone, beneficially owns shares (based on outstanding share information as of January 31, 2025)
representing the power to direct approximately 49% of the aggregate voting power in Liberty, due to his beneficial ownership of
approximately 97% of the outstanding shares of each of the Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and the Series B Liberty Live
common stock.

Risks Relating to the proposed Liberty Live Split-Off

We have announced a plan to split-off our Liberty Live Group into an independent, publicly-traded company in the second half of 2025.
The proposed transactions may not be completed on the currently contemplated timeline or at all and may not achieve the intended
benefits.

We have announced a plan to split-off our Liberty Live Group into an independent, publicly-traded company in the second half of
2025, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including obtaining certain requisite approvals of holders of Series A and Series B
Liberty Live common stock. Unanticipated developments, including changes in market conditions, the performance of our and Live
Nation’s common stock, and possible delays in obtaining requisite approvals could delay or prevent the Liberty Live Split-Off from
occurring or cause the Liberty Live Split-Off to occur on terms or conditions that are less favorable and/or different than expected. Even if
the Liberty Live Split-Off is completed, we may not realize some or all of the anticipated benefits from the Liberty Live Split-Off.

We expect to incur costs and expenses in connection with the Liberty Live Split-Off.

We expect that we will incur certain nonrecurring costs in connection with the proposed Liberty Live Split-Off, including advisory,
legal and other transaction costs. A majority of these costs have already been incurred or may be incurred regardless of whether the Liberty
Live Split-Off is completed. While many of the expenses that would be incurred, by their nature, are difficult to estimate accurately at the
present time, our management continues to assess the magnitude of these costs, and additional unanticipated costs may be incurred in
connection with the Liberty Live Split-Off. Although we expect that the realization of benefits related to the Liberty Live Split-Off would
offset such costs and expenses over time, no assurances can be made that this net benefit will be achieved in the near term, or at all.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity
Risk Management and Strategy

We are committed to protecting the security and integrity of our systems, networks, databases and applications and, as a result,
have implemented processes designed to prevent, assess, identify, and manage material risks associated with cybersecurity threats. Liberty’s
corporate level IT and cybersecurity functions assess, identify, and manage risks from cybersecurity threats at the corporate level, while
Formula 1 and QuintEvents operate their own cybersecurity functions with oversight from Liberty.

Live Nation, an equity affiliate, as a separate publicly traded company from Liberty, operates its own cybersecurity function.
Oversight for Live Nation’s cybersecurity functions rests with its board of directors, of which an employee of Liberty is a member, in
collaboration with Live Nation’s Global Data Governance Board and Audit Committee.

Cybersecurity risks are assessed as part of our enterprise risk assessment and risk management program and our cybersecurity risk
management program is designed and assessed based on recognized frameworks, including the National Institute of Standards and
Technology Cybersecurity Framework.

We rely on a multidisciplinary team, including our information security function, legal department, management, and third-party
consultants, as described further below, to identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity threats and risks. We identify and assess risks from
cybersecurity threats by monitoring and evaluating our threat environment and our risk profile using various methods including, using
manual and automated tools such as vulnerability scanning software, monitoring existing and emerging cybersecurity threats, analyzing
reports of threats and threat actors, conducting scans of the threat environment, evaluating our industry’s risk profile, utilizing internal and
external audits and assessments, and conducting threat and vulnerability assessments.

To manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our information systems and data, we implement and maintain
various technical, physical and organizational measures, processes and policies. These measures include risk assessments, incident
detection and response, vulnerability management, disaster recovery and business continuity plans, internal controls within our IT, Security
and other departments, encryption of data, network security controls, access controls, physical security, asset management, system
monitoring, vendor risk management program, employee cybersecurity awareness and training, phishing tests, and penetration testing.
Cybersecurity awareness training is also made available annually to our Board of Directors.

In the event of a potential cybersecurity incident, or a series of related cybersecurity incidents, we have cybersecurity incident
response frameworks in place at the corporate level, Formula 1 and QuintEvents. These frameworks are a set of coordinated procedures and
tasks that our incident response teams execute with the goal of ensuring timely and accurate identification, resolution and reporting of
cybersecurity incidents both internally and externally, as necessary.

To operate our businesses, we utilize certain third-party service providers to perform a variety of operational functions. We have
implemented a third-party risk management program to evaluate the cybersecurity practices of higher risk vendors and vendors that
encounter our systems or data. We additionally engage and retain third-party consultants, legal advisors and assessors to keep us apprised of
emerging third-party risk, defense and mitigation strategies, and governance best practices.

Impact of cybersecurity risks on business strategy, results of operations or financial condition

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we are not aware of any risks from cybersecurity threats that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition.

For additional information on our cybersecurity risks, see “The degradation, failure or misuse of the Company's information
systems could cause a disruption of services or improper loss, use and disclosure of personal data or other
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confidential information, resulting in increased costs, liabilities or loss of revenue." in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Governance
Role of the Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has overall responsibility for risk oversight and has delegated to the Audit Committee primary enterprise
risk oversight responsibility, including privacy and cybersecurity risk exposures, policies and practices, the steps management takes to
detect, monitor and mitigate such risks and the potential impact of those exposures on our business, financial results, operations and
reputation. The Audit Committee receives quarterly updates on the enterprise risk management program, including cybersecurity risks and
the initiatives undertaken to identify, assess and mitigate such risks. This cybersecurity reporting may include threat and incident reporting,
vulnerability detection reporting, risk mitigation metrics, systems and security operations updates, employee education initiatives, and
internal audit observations, if applicable.

In addition to the efforts undertaken by the Audit Committee, the full Board of Directors regularly reviews matters relating to
cybersecurity risk and cybersecurity risk management. Any material cybersecurity events would be brought to the attention of the full
Board of Directors once the event is deemed material. We additionally use our incident response framework as part of the process we
employ to keep our management and Board of Directors informed and to monitor the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of
cybersecurity incidents.

Role of Management

We have established a cross functional Information Security Steering Committee (“ISSC”) with executives from our Legal,
Accounting, Internal Audit and Risk Management, Cybersecurity and Facilities departments. The ISSC has management oversight
responsibility for assessing and managing technology and operational risk, including information security, fraud, vendor, data protection
and privacy, business continuity and resilience, and cybersecurity risks at the corporate level and our subsidiaries.

At Formula 1, the Head of Information Security, together with the Director of IT, are responsible for day-to-day management and
oversight of subsidiary cybersecurity, including assessing, monitoring and mitigating cybersecurity risk as well as regular reporting to
Formula 1 executive management and the ISSC.

Liberty and Formula 1 have also established a Risk and Compliance Committee responsible for overseeing and monitoring all
corporate compliance initiatives at Formula 1, including cybersecurity. The Risk and Compliance Committee is composed of members of
Liberty’s ISSC as well as members of Formula 1’s executive leadership team, including the Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel.
The Head of Information Security provides quarterly updates to the Risk and Compliance Committee on cybersecurity risks and initiatives
as well as any cybersecurity events, as applicable.

Our management team’s experience includes a diverse background in telecom, technology, media and other industries, with
decades of experience in various aspects of cybersecurity. Liberty’s Head of Cybersecurity has more than 25 years of cybersecurity and IT
experience and holds Certified Information Security Manager and Certified in Risk and Information System Control certifications. Formula
1’s Head of Information Security and Director of IT together have more than 30 years of experience and the Head of Information Security
has multiple certifications, including Certified Information Security Manager and Certified Information Systems Security Professional. All
have worked at a variety of companies, including large publicly traded companies, implementing and managing IT and cybersecurity
programs and teams, developing tools and processes to protect internal networks, business applications, customer facing applications and
customer payment systems.
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Item 2. Properties

We own our corporate headquarters in Englewood, Colorado.

Formula 1 owns no material property. Formula 1 leases space for its offices in London, England and for its television production
and technical operations in Kent, England. The Company owns land and a building adjacent to the Las Vegas Strip which is utilized for the
Las Vegas Grand Prix.

Our other subsidiaries and business affiliates own or lease the fixed assets necessary for the operation of their respective
businesses, including office space and entertainment venues. Our management believes that our current facilities are suitable and adequate
for our business operations for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Refer to note 16 in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for information on our legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Liberty Media Corporation (“Liberty,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) has three series of each of its tracking stocks.
Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Formula One common stock trade or are quoted under the symbols FWONA/B/K, respectively; and
Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Live common stock trade or are quoted under the symbols LLYVA/B/K, respectively. Series A and
Series C Liberty Formula One common stock and Series A and Series C Liberty Live common stock trade on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market, and Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and Series B Liberty Live common stock are quoted on the OTC Markets. Stock
price information for securities traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market can be found on the Nasdaq’s website at www.nasdaq.com.

The following tables set forth the range of high and low sales prices of our Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and
Series B Liberty Live common stock for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. There is no established public trading market for
our Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and our Series B Liberty Live common stock, which are quoted on OTC Markets. The
over-the-counter market quotations for our Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and our Series B Liberty Live common stock
reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

Formula One Group

Series B (FWONB)
High Low
2023
First quarter $ 68.02 54.31
Second quarter $ 68.00 63.00
Third quarter $  66.00 55.00
Fourth quarter $ 56.02 56.02
2024
First quarter $ 65.00 60.00
Second quarter $  66.50 58.51
Third quarter $ 7213 63.96
Fourth quarter $ 85.00 69.00
Liberty Live Group
Series B (LLYVB)
High Low
2023
Third quarter (from the initial quoting of LLY VB on August 4, 2023) $ 3435 28.38
Fourth quarter $ 3350 31.18
2024
First quarter $ 39.00 36.00
Second quarter $  40.00 33.50
Third quarter $ 50.00 33.30
Fourth quarter $ 7525 50.00
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On August 3, 2023, Liberty completed the Reclassification (as defined below). Each then-outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM
common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty SiriusXM common stock and 0.2500 of a share of
the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock and each outstanding share of Liberty Formula One Common Stock was
reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty Formula One Common Stock and 0.0428 of a share of the
corresponding series of Liberty Live Common Stock. Stock prices presented in the tables above prior to August 3, 2023 were not adjusted
to reflect the Reclassification.

Holders

The number of record holders as of January 31, 2025 were as follows:

Series A Series B Series C
Liberty Formula One common stock 621 40 747
Liberty Live common stock 568 37 754

The foregoing numbers of record holders do not include the number of stockholders whose shares are held nominally by banks,
brokerage houses or other institutions, but include each such institution as one shareholder.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we have no present intention of so doing. Payment of cash
dividends, if any, in the future will be determined by our board of directors in light of our earnings, financial condition and other relevant
considerations.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
Share Repurchase Programs

In November 2019, our board of directors authorized the repurchase of $1 billion of the Company’s common stock. In May 2022,
our board of directors authorized the repurchase of an additional $1 billion of the Company’s common stock.

There were no repurchases of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock and no repurchases of
Series C Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2024. As of
December 31, 2024, approximately $1.1 billion was available for future share repurchases under our share repurchase program.

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no shares of Series A or Series C Liberty Formula One common stock, no
shares of Series A Liberty Live common stock and 141 shares of Series C Liberty Live common stock were surrendered by certain of our
officers and employees to pay withholding taxes and other deductions in connection with the vesting of their restricted stock and restricted
stock units.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis provides information concerning our results of operations and financial condition. This
discussion should be read in conjunction with our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto. See note 4 in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for an overview of accounting standards that we have adopted or that we plan to adopt that
have had or may have an impact on our financial statements.

Overview

We own controlling and non-controlling interests in a broad range of media and entertainment companies. Our most significant
operating subsidiary, Formula 1, is wholly-owned and is also a reportable segment. Formula 1 is a global motorsports business that holds
exclusive commercial rights with respect to the World Championship (as defined below), an annual, approximately nine-month long, motor
race-based competition in which teams compete for the Constructors' Championship and drivers compete for the Drivers' Championship.
The World Championship takes place on various circuits with a varying number of events (“Events”) taking place in different countries
around the world each season. Formula 1 is responsible for the commercial exploitation and development of the World Championship as
well as various aspects of its management and administration.

We hold an ownership interest in Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (“Live Nation”), which is accounted for as an equity method
investment. Live Nation is considered the world’s leading live entertainment company. As of December 31, 2024, Live Nation met the
Company’s reportable segment threshold for equity method affiliates.

Our “Corporate and Other” category includes our consolidated subsidiary QuintEvents, LLC (“QuintEvents”), corporate expenses
and investments and related financial instruments in other public companies. Braves Holdings, LLC ("Braves Holdings"), a consolidated
subsidiary, was included in “Corporate and Other” prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off (defined below).

A tracking stock is a type of common stock that the issuing company intends to reflect or "track" the economic performance of a
particular business or "group," rather than the economic performance of the company as a whole.

On July 18, 2023, the Company completed the split-off (the “Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off”) of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. (“Atlanta Braves Holdings”). The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off was accomplished by a redemption by
the Company of each outstanding share of Liberty Braves common stock in exchange for one share of the corresponding series of Atlanta
Braves Holdings common stock. Atlanta Braves Holdings was comprised of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty
Braves Group (the “Braves Group”) immediately prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, except for the intergroup interests in the
Braves Group attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group and Liberty Formula One Group (the “Formula One Group”), which were settled
and extinguished in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off.

On August 3, 2023, the Company reclassified its then-outstanding shares of common stock into three new tracking stocks—
Liberty SiriusXM common stock, Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock, and, in connection therewith,
provided for the attribution of the businesses, assets and liabilities of the Company’s remaining tracking stock groups among its newly
created Liberty SiriusXM Group, Formula One Group and Liberty Live Group (the “Reclassification”). As a result of the Reclassification,
each then-outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty
SiriusXM common stock and 0.2500 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock and each outstanding share of
Liberty Formula One common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty Formula One common stock
and 0.0428 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock.

Each of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification were intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the
Company, except with respect to the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares. In July 2024, the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”)
completed its review of the Reclassification and notified the Company that it agreed with the nontaxable characterization of the transaction.
In September 2024, the IRS completed its review of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and notified the Company that it agreed with the
nontaxable characterization of the transaction.
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The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification are reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements on a
prospective basis.

On January 2, 2024, the Company purchased QuintEvents for total consideration of approximately $277 million, comprised of
$205 million of cash, net of cash acquired of $66 million, and a $6 million settlement of a pre-existing condition.

On September 9, 2024, the Company completed the split-off (the “Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off”) of its wholly owned
subsidiary, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Liberty Sirius XM Holdings”). The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was accomplished
through the redemption by the Company of each outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock in exchange for 0.8375 of a share of
Liberty Sirius XM Holdings common stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares. Liberty Sirius XM Holdings was comprised of the
businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group immediately prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off.
The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was intended to be tax-free to holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock (except with respect
to cash received in lieu of fractional shares).

Following the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, on September 9, 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Sirius XM
Holdings merged with and into Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Sirius XM Holdings”), with Sirius XM Holdings surviving the merger as a
wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Sirius XM Holdings (the “Merger” and, together with the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the
“Transactions”). As a result of the Transactions, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings became an independent public company, separate from the
Company. Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is presented as a discontinued operation in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

While the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group have separate collections of businesses, assets and liabilities attributed
to them, no group is a separate legal entity and therefore cannot own assets, issue securities or enter into legally binding agreements.
Holders of tracking stock have no direct claim to the group's stock or assets and therefore, do not own, by virtue of their ownership of a
Liberty tracking stock, any equity or voting interest in a public company, such as Live Nation, in which Liberty holds an interest that is
attributed to a Liberty tracking stock group, the Liberty Live Group. Holders of tracking stock are also not represented by separate boards
of directors. Instead, holders of tracking stock are stockholders of the parent corporation, with a single board of directors and subject to all
of the risks and liabilities of the parent corporation.

As of December 31, 2024, the Formula One Group is primarily comprised of Liberty’s interests in Formula 1 and QuintEvents,
cash and Liberty’s 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027. As of December 31, 2024, the Formula One Group has cash and cash
equivalents of approximately $2,631 million, which includes $1,389 million of subsidiary cash.

As of December 31, 2024, the Liberty Live Group is primarily comprised of Liberty’s interest in Live Nation, cash, other minority
investments, Liberty’s 2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053 and an undrawn margin loan. As of December 31, 2024, the
Liberty Live Group has cash and cash equivalents of approximately $325 million.

Prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM common stock was intended to track and reflect the
separate economic performance of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group. At the time of the Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM Group was comprised of Liberty’s interest in Sirius XM Holdings, corporate cash,
Liberty’s 3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028, Liberty’s 2.75% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2049 and a margin loan
obligation incurred by a wholly-owned special purpose subsidiary of Liberty. Prior to the Reclassification, Liberty’s interest in Live Nation,
Liberty’s 0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050 and a margin loan secured by shares of Live Nation were attributed to the
Liberty SiriusXM Group and are presented as continuing operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the Braves Group was primarily comprised of Braves Holdings, which indirectly
owns the Atlanta Braves Major League Baseball Club (the “Braves”), certain assets and liabilities associated with the Braves’ stadium (the
“Stadium”) and a mixed-use development around the Stadium that features retail, office, hotel and entertainment opportunities and
corporate cash.
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On March 29, 2024, the Company agreed, subject to certain conditions, to acquire approximately 86% of the equity interests in
Dorna Sports, S.L., (“Dorna”) for a purchase price of approximately €3.0 billion, to be funded with cash. The Company entered into foreign
currency forward contracts for close to the full purchase price. In December 2024, the European Commission notified the Company that a
Phase II investigation would occur, extending regulatory review beyond December 31, 2024. The Company agreed to pay €126 million to
the sellers to extend the longstop date to June 30, 2025 in order to accommodate the Phase II investigation. The €126 million is considered
prepaid purchase consideration and is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.
Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company extended a portion of the foreign currency forward contracts through the extended
longstop date.

On November 13, 2024, the Company announced that it is pursuing a plan to split-off the Liberty Live Group (the “Liberty Live
Split-Off”). Immediately prior to the Liberty Live Split-Off, QuintEvents would be reattributed from the Formula One Group to the Liberty
Live Group in exchange for certain private assets and cash. The Liberty Live Split-Off would be effected through the redemption of Liberty
Live common stock in exchange for common stock of a newly formed company, Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. The Company would redeem
each outstanding share of its Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Live common stock for one share of the corresponding series of
common stock of Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. As a result of the Liberty Live Split-Off, the Company and Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. would
be separate publicly traded companies, and the Company would no longer have a tracking stock structure. The Liberty Live Split-Off is
subject to various conditions including, among other things, shareholder approval and the receipt of an opinion of tax counsel. The Liberty
Live Split-Off is intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the Company.

As of December 31, 2021, 6,792,903 notional shares represented an 11.0% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously held
by the Formula One Group, 2,292,037 notional shares represented a 3.7% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously held by the
Liberty SiriusXM Group and 5,271,475 notional shares represented a 2.2% intergroup interest in the Formula One Group previously held
by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

During September 2022, the Formula One Group and the Braves Group paid approximately $64 million and $14 million,
respectively, to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to settle a portion of the intergroup interests in the Formula One Group and Braves Group held
by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a portion of Liberty’s 1.375% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the
“Convertible Notes”). During March 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $202 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to
settle a portion of the intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a
portion of the Convertible Notes. On July 12, 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $71 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group
to settle and extinguish the remaining intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

In connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the intergroup interests in the Braves Group attributed to the Liberty
SiriusXM Group and Formula One Group were settled and extinguished through the attribution, to the respective tracking stock group, of
Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock on a one-for-one basis equal to the number of notional shares representing the intergroup
interest. On July 19, 2023, the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock attributed to the Formula One Group to settle and
extinguish the intergroup interest in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off were distributed on a pro rata basis to holders of
Liberty Formula One common stock. During November 2023, Liberty exchanged the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common
stock attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group with a third party to satisfy certain debt obligations attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM
Group.
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Strategies and Challenges of Business Units

Formula 1. Formula 1’s goal is to further broaden and increase the global scale and appeal of the FIA (as defined below)
Formula One World Championship (the “World Championship™”) in order to improve the overall value of Formula 1 as a sport and its
financial performance. Key factors of this strategy include:

o  Maximizing the value of Formula 1’s commercial rights;

o Leveraging high demand and positive competitive tension for Event renewals to increase the quality and value of
every race slot

o Maximizing media rights across markets, including alternate media platforms; continuing to grow Formula 1’s
direct-to-consumer F1 TV product, alongside its growing suite of digital media assets

o Developing sponsorship revenue by optimizing Formula 1’s existing inventory to maximize impact, exclusivity and
value for Formula 1’s partners, while creating new, tailored assets to satisfy growing demand from a broad-spectrum
of global brands

o Enhancing Formula 1’s hospitality and experience business by developing its existing Formula 1 Paddock Club
program (the “Paddock Club”), together with new premium offerings

e Augmenting Formula 1’s diverse and valuable fanbase by expanding the ways in which it interacts with fans, which will drive
deeper fan engagement and improved fan data;

e Driving growth in key strategic markets with under-monetized fan potential;

e Improving the on-track competitive balance of the World Championship and the long-term financial stability of the
participating Teams; and

e Improving the environmental and social impact of Formula 1 and its related activities by delivering Net Zero by 2030, leaving
a legacy of positive change wherever it races, and building a more diverse and inclusive sport. Formula 1 is also pioneering a
100% advanced sustainable fuel to be introduced in 2026 that will be a “drop-in fuel” and can be used in road cars without
modification worldwide.

Results of Operations—Consolidated

General. Provided in the tables below is information regarding our Consolidated Operating Results and Other Income and
Expense, as well as information regarding the contribution to those items from our consolidated reportable segments. The “Corporate and
Other” category consists of those assets or businesses which do not qualify as a separate reportable segment. For a more detailed discussion
and analysis of the financial results of our principal reportable segment, see “Results of Operations—Businesses” below.

Braves Holdings was a subsidiary of the Company until the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off on July 18, 2023. Braves Holdings
is not presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off
did not represent a strategic shift that had a major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results.

A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for fiscal year 2024 compared to fiscal year 2023 is
presented below. A discussion regarding our financial condition and results of operations for fiscal year 2023 compared to fiscal year 2022
can be found in Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2024.
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Consolidated Operating Results

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023

amounts in millions

Revenue
Formula One Group
Formula 1 $ 3,411 3,222
Corporate and other 373 16
Intergroup elimination (131) (16)
Total Formula One Group 3,653 3,222
Braves Group
Corporate and other NA 350
Total Braves Group NA 350
Consolidated Liberty $§ 3,653 3,572

Operating Income (Loss)
Formula One Group

Formula 1 $ 492 392
Corporate and other (205) 95)
Total Formula One Group 287 297
Liberty Live Group
Corporate and other (11) (11)
Total Liberty Live Group (11) (11)
Braves Group
Corporate and other NA (31)
Total Braves Group NA 31)
Consolidated Liberty $ 276 255
Adjusted OIBDA
Formula One Group
Formula 1 $ 791 725
Corporate and other (17) (39)
Total Formula One Group 774 686
Liberty Live Group
Corporate and other (7) 9)
Total Liberty Live Group (7) 9)
Braves Group
Corporate and other NA 14
Total Braves Group NA 14
Consolidated Liberty $ 767 691

Revenue. Our consolidated revenue increased $81 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year,
driven by an increase in Formula 1 revenue and revenue from QuintEvents, partially offset by a decrease in Braves Holdings revenue due to
the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off in 2023 and an increase in intergroup eliminations. See “Results of Operations—Businesses” below
for a more complete discussion of the results of operations of Formula 1.

Operating income. Our consolidated operating income increased $21 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as
compared to the prior year, driven by an increase in Formula 1’s operating results and the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off in 2023,
partially offset by QuintEvents’ operating loss, largely driven by the goodwill impairment, disclosed below. See “Results of Operations—
Businesses” below for a more complete discussion of the results of operations of Formula 1.
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Stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation includes compensation related to options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance-based restricted stock units and other stock-based awards granted to officers,
employees, nonemployee directors and employees of our subsidiaries. We recorded $34 million and $29 million of stock compensation
expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The increase in 2024 as compared to 2023 is primarily due to an
increase in corporate and other stock compensation expense.

As of December 31, 2024, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested Liberty equity awards was approximately
$15 million. Such amount will be recognized in our consolidated statements of operations over a weighted average period of approximately
1.4 years.

See “Results of Operations—Businesses” below for a more complete discussion of the results of operations of Formula 1.

Impairment and acquisition costs. QuintEvents recognized a goodwill impairment loss of $73 million during the year ended
December 31, 2024. See note 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information. The Company recorded
$32 million of acquisition costs, primarily related to Dorna, during the year ended December 31, 2024.

Adjusted OIBDA. To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we also disclose Adjusted
OIBDA, which is a non-GAAP (as defined below) financial measure. We define Adjusted OIBDA as operating income (loss) plus
depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, separately reported litigation settlements, restructuring, acquisition and
impairment charges. Our chief operating decision maker and management team use this measure of performance in conjunction with other
measures to evaluate our businesses and make decisions about allocating resources among our businesses. We believe this is an important
indicator of the operational strength and performance of our businesses by identifying those items that are not directly a reflection of each
business’ performance or indicative of ongoing business trends. In addition, this measure allows us to view operating results, perform
analytical comparisons and benchmarking between businesses and identify strategies to improve performance. Accordingly, Adjusted
OIBDA should be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for, operating income, net income, cash flow provided by operating
activities and other measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP’). The following table provides a reconciliation of Operating income (loss) to Adjusted OIBDA:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
amounts in millions
Operating income (loss) $ 276 255
Stock-based compensation 34 29
Depreciation and amortization 352 406
Impairment and acquisition costs 105 1
Adjusted OIBDA $ 767 691

Consolidated Adjusted OIBDA increased $76 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year,
primarily due to an increase in Formula 1 Adjusted OIBDA, partially offset by the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off in 2023. See “Results
of Operations—Businesses” below for a more complete discussion of the results of operations of Formula 1.
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Other Income and Expense

Components of Other Income (Expense) are presented in the table below.

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023

amounts in millions

Interest expense

Formula One Group $  (208) (214)
Liberty Live Group 29) (10)
Liberty SiriusXM Group — 4)
Braves Group NA (20)
Consolidated Liberty $ (237 (248)
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates
Formula One Group $ 10) “)
Liberty Live Group 238 22
Liberty SiriusXM Group — 127
Braves Group NA 12
Consolidated Liberty $ 228 157
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments, net
Formula One Group $  (120) 42
Liberty Live Group (263) (153)
Liberty SiriusXM Group — (59)
Braves Group NA 3
Consolidated Liberty $  (383) (167)
Unrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interests, net
Formula One Group $ — 15
Braves Group NA (83)
Consolidated Liberty $ — (68)
Other, net
Formula One Group $ 68 75
Liberty Live Group 24 (28)
Liberty SiriusXM Group — (6)
Braves Group NA 5
Consolidated Liberty $ 92 46
$  (300) (280)

Interest expense. Consolidated interest expense decreased $11 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to
the prior year. Interest expense for the Braves Group decreased due to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off. Interest expense for the
Liberty Live Group increased due to an increase in the average amount of debt outstanding. Certain debt was reattributed from the Liberty
SiriusXM Group to the Liberty Live Group effective August 3, 2023. The interest related to such debt is reflected in interest expense for the
Liberty SiriusXM Group prior to the Reclassification and in interest expense for the Liberty Live Group following the Reclassification.
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Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates. The following table presents our share of earnings (losses) of affiliates:

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023

amounts in millions

Formula One Group

Other $ (10) (4)
Total Formula One Group (10) 4)
Liberty Live Group
Live Nation 236 21
Other 2 1
Total Liberty Live Group 238 22
Liberty SiriusXM Group
Live Nation — 127
Total Liberty SiriusXM Group — 127
Braves Group
Other NA 12
Total Braves Group NA 12
Consolidated Liberty $ 228 157

Liberty’s interest in Live Nation and certain other equity affiliates were reattributed from the Liberty SiriusXM Group and the
Formula One Group to the Liberty Live Group effective August 3, 2023. Liberty’s share of earnings (losses) related to these affiliates were
reflected in the results of the Liberty SiriusXM Group and the Formula One Group prior to the Reclassification and are reflected in the
results of the Liberty Live Group following the Reclassification.

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments, net. Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial
instruments, net are comprised of changes in the fair value of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
amounts in millions
Debt measured at fair value $ (339) (224)
Foreign currency forward contracts (138) —
Interest rate swaps 103 28
Debt and equity securities 5) 27
Other (4) 2
$ (383) (167)

Changes in unrealized gains (losses) on debt measured at fair value are due to market factors primarily driven by changes in the
fair value of the underlying shares into which the debt is exchangeable. Changes in unrealized gains (losses) on foreign currency forward
contracts are driven by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Gains (losses) on interest rate swaps are primarily driven by changes in
the fair value of Formula 1’s interest rate swaps and realized gains (losses) on Formula 1’s interest rate swaps. The changes in unrealized
gains (losses) on debt and equity securities (as defined in note 4 of our accompanying consolidated financial statements) are due to market
factors primarily driven by changes in the fair value of the stock underlying these financial instruments.

Unvrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interests, net. Unrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interests, net are driven by changes

in the fair value of notional shares representing the intergroup interests. The intergroup interests were settled and extinguished during the
year ended December 31, 2023.
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Other, net. Other, net income increased during 2024, as compared to the prior year, primarily driven by an increase in interest
and dividend income, a decrease in losses on early extinguishment of debt and a decrease in tax related expense pursuant to a tax sharing
agreement with QVC Group, Inc., formerly known as Qurate Retail, Inc., partially offset by an increase in foreign exchange losses.

Income taxes. The Company had income tax expense of $39 million and a tax benefit of $1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was 163% and 4%,
respectively. Our effective tax rate both years was impacted for the following reasons:

e During 2024, the Company recognized income tax expense instead of a tax benefit at the expected federal rate of 21%
primarily due to certain losses that are not deductible for tax purposes and non-deductible executive compensation, partially
offset by tax benefits related to stock-based compensation and earnings in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates lower than the
21% U.S. federal rate.

e During 2023, the Company recognized a tax benefit less than the expected federal rate of 21% primarily due to intergroup
interest losses that are not deductible for tax purposes and certain other non-deductible expenses, partially offset by a tax
benefit related to foreign currency adjustments on certain U.K. deferred tax assets.

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations. We had net losses from continuing operations of $63 million and $24 million
for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The change in net losses from continuing operations was the result of the
above-described fluctuations in our revenue, expenses and other gains and losses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, substantially all of our cash and cash equivalents were invested in U.S. Treasury securities, other
government securities or government guaranteed funds, AAA rated money market funds and other highly rated financial and corporate debt
instruments.

The following are potential sources of liquidity: available cash balances, cash generated by the operating activities of our
subsidiaries (to the extent such cash exceeds the working capital needs of the subsidiaries and is not otherwise restricted), proceeds from
net asset sales, monetization of our public investment portfolio (including derivatives), debt borrowings and equity issuances, available
borrowing capacity under a margin loan, and dividend and interest receipts.

Liberty currently does not have a corporate debt rating.

As of December 31, 2024, Liberty’s cash and cash equivalents were as follows (amounts in millions):

Formula One Group

Formula 1 $ 1,310
Corporate and other 1,321
Total Formula One Group $ 2,631
Liberty Live Group
Corporate and other $ 325
Total Liberty Live Group $ 325

Cash held by Formula 1 is accessible by Liberty, except when a restricted payment (“RP”) test imposed by the first lien term loan
and the revolving credit facility at Formula 1 is not met. Pursuant to the RP test, Liberty does not have unlimited access to Formula 1’s cash
when Formula 1’s leverage ratio (defined as net debt divided by covenant earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization for
the trailing twelve months) exceeds a certain threshold. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Formula 1 distributed $150 million to
Liberty and the RP test was met, pro forma for such distribution. If distributions are made in the future, the RP test, pro forma for such
distributions, would have to be met. As of December 31, 2024, Liberty had $400 million available under a margin loan secured by shares of
Live Nation. Liberty
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believes that it currently has appropriate legal structures in place to repatriate foreign cash as tax efficiently as possible and meet the
business needs of the Company.

The Company and Formula 1 are in compliance with all debt covenants as of December 31, 2024.

The cash provided (used) by our continuing operations was as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
amounts in millions

Formula One Group cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 567 619
Liberty Live Group cash provided (used) by operating activities (14) (13)
Liberty SiriusXM Group cash provided (used) by operating activities — 4)
Braves Group cash provided (used) by operating activities NA 32

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 553 634
Formula One Group cash provided (used) by investing activities $ (292) (510)
Liberty Live Group cash provided (used) by investing activities 105 1
Braves Group cash provided (used) by investing activities NA (35)

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities $ (187) (544)
Formula One Group cash provided (used) by financing activities $ 965 (435)
Liberty Live Group cash provided (used) by financing activities (71) 317
Liberty SiriusXM Group cash provided (used) by financing activities — 3
Braves Group cash provided (used) by financing activities NA (170)

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities $ 894 (285)

Liberty’s primary uses of corporate cash during the year ended December 31, 2024 (excluding cash used by Formula 1) were $205
million for acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and $77 million for debt repayments, which were primarily funded by cash on hand and
proceeds from dispositions. In addition, the Company generated approximately $939 million of net proceeds from the issuance of
approximately 12.2 million shares of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock during the year ended December 31, 2024.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Formula 1’s primary use of cash was $73 million of capital expenditures, funded
primarily by cash on hand and cash from operations.

The projected uses of Liberty’s cash (excluding Formula 1’s uses of cash) are primarily capital expenditures, the investment in
new or existing businesses, including the acquisition of Dorna and the related €126 million extension payment, debt service and the
potential buyback of common stock under the approved share buyback program. Liberty expects to fund its projected uses of cash with cash
on hand, borrowing capacity under a margin loan and outstanding or new debt instruments, or distributions from operating subsidiaries. Net
payments of income tax liabilities may be required to settle items under discussion with tax authorities.

Formula 1’s uses of cash are expected to be capital expenditures, debt service payments and operating expenses. Liberty expects
Formula 1 to fund its projected uses of cash with cash on hand and cash provided by operations.

We believe that the available sources of liquidity are sufficient to cover our projected future uses of cash.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Material Cash Requirements

Information concerning the amount and timing of required payments, both accrued and off-balance sheet, excluding uncertain tax
positions as it is indeterminable when payments will be made, is summarized below.

Payments due by period

Total Less than 1 year 2 - 3 years 4 -5 years After S years

amounts in millions
Material Cash Requirements

Long-term debt (1) $ 4,058 32 580 580 2,866
Interest payments (2) 1,555 170 314 274 797
Operating lease obligations 51 15 12 10 14
Short-term leases (3) 98 52 32 14 —
Other obligations 74 71 3 — —

Total consolidated $ 5,836 340 941 878 3,677

(1) Amounts are stated at the face amount at maturity of our debt instruments and may differ from the amounts stated in our consolidated
balance sheet to the extent debt instruments (i) were issued at a discount or premium or (ii) have elements which are reported at fair
value in our consolidated balance sheet. Amounts do not assume additional borrowings or refinancings of existing debt.

(2) Amounts (i) are based on our outstanding debt at December 31, 2024, (ii) assume the interest rates on our variable rate debt remain
constant at the December 31, 2024 rates and (iii) assume that our existing debt is repaid at maturity.

(3) The Company does not recognize lease liabilities for short-term leases, which are those leases with a term of twelve months or less or
leases with non-consecutive periods of use that total twelve months or less at the lease commencement date. Certain short-term leases
that include non-consecutive periods of use extend over multiple years.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Listed below are the accounting estimates that we believe are critical to our financial statements due to the
degree of uncertainty regarding the estimates or assumptions involved and the magnitude of the asset, liability, revenue or expense being
reported. All of these accounting estimates and assumptions, as well as the resulting impact to our financial statements, have been discussed
with our audit committee.

Non-Financial Instrument Valuations. Our non-financial instrument valuations are primarily comprised of our determination of
the estimated fair value allocation of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in business combinations, our annual
assessment of the recoverability of our goodwill and other nonamortizable intangibles, such as trademarks, and our evaluation of the
recoverability of our other long-lived assets upon certain triggering events. If the carrying value of our long-lived assets exceeds their
estimated fair value, we are required to write the carrying value down to fair value. Any such write-down is included in impairment,
restructuring and acquisition costs, net of recoveries in our consolidated statement of operations. A high degree of judgment is required to
estimate the fair value of our long-lived assets. We may use quoted market prices, prices for similar assets, present value techniques and
other valuation techniques to prepare these estimates. We may need to make estimates of future cash flows and discount rates as well as
other assumptions in order to implement these valuation techniques. Due to the high degree of judgment involved in our estimation
techniques, any value ultimately derived from our long-lived assets may differ from our estimate of fair value.

As of December 31, 2024, Formula 1 had $3,956 million of goodwill and $178 million of goodwill was included in corporate and
other.

We perform our annual assessment of the recoverability of our goodwill and other nonamortizable intangible assets in the fourth

quarter each year, or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. The accounting guidance permits
entities to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely
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than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform
the quantitative goodwill impairment test. The accounting guidance also allows entities the option to bypass the qualitative assessment for
any reporting unit in any period and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test. The entity may resume performing the qualitative
assessment in any subsequent period. In evaluating goodwill on a qualitative basis, the Company reviews the business performance of each
reporting unit and evaluates other relevant factors as identified in the relevant accounting guidance to determine whether it is more likely
than not that an indicated impairment exists for any of our reporting units. The Company considers whether there are any negative
macroeconomic conditions, industry specific conditions, market changes, increased competition, increased costs in doing business,
management challenges, the legal environments and how these factors might impact company specific performance in future periods. As
part of the analysis, the Company also considers fair value determinations for certain reporting units that have been made at various points
throughout the current and prior year for other purposes. If based on the qualitative analysis it is more likely than not that an impairment
exists, the Company performs the quantitative impairment test.

The Company performed a quantitative analysis of QuintEvents during the fourth quarter of 2024. Based on near-term business
trends and their impact on long-term assumptions, we concluded that the estimated fair value of QuintEvents was less than its carrying
value. As a result, QuintEvents recognized a goodwill impairment loss of $73 million during the year ended December 31, 2024. The fair
value was determined using a discounted cash flow (income approach) calculation (Level 3). Due to the goodwill impairment loss recorded,
QuintEvents’ carrying value approximates its estimated fair value as of December 31, 2024. The Company will monitor QuintEvents’
business performance versus the current and updated long-term forecasts, among other relevant considerations, to determine if the carrying
value of its goodwill is appropriate. Declines in forecasted revenue, cash flows or other factors could result in a sustained decrease in fair
value that may result in a determination that carrying value adjustments are required.

Income Taxes. We are required to estimate the amount of tax payable or refundable for the current year and the deferred income
tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been reflected in our financial statements or tax returns for each
taxing jurisdiction in which we operate. This process requires our management to make judgments regarding the timing and probability of
the ultimate tax impact of the various agreements and transactions that we enter into. Based on these judgments we may record tax reserves
or adjustments to valuation allowances on deferred tax assets to reflect the expected realizability of future tax benefits. Actual income taxes
could vary from these estimates due to future changes in income tax law, significant changes in the jurisdictions in which we operate, our
inability to generate sufficient future taxable income or unpredicted results from the final determination of each year’s liability by taxing
authorities. These changes could have a significant impact on our financial position.

Results of Operations—Businesses
Formula One Group

Formula 1. Formula | is a global motorsports business that holds exclusive commercial rights with respect to the World
Championship, an annual, approximately nine-month long, motor race-based competition in which teams compete for the Constructors’
Championship and drivers compete for the Drivers’ Championship. The World Championship takes place on various circuits throughout the
world. Formula 1 derives its primary revenue from the commercial exploitation and development of the World Championship through a
combination of race promotion, media rights and sponsorship arrangements. A significant majority of the race promotion, media rights and
sponsorship contracts specify payments in advance and annual increases in the fees payable over the course of the contracts.

The 2024 World Championship calendar was comprised of 24 Events. The 2023 World Championship calendar was originally
scheduled to have 23 Events. However, following the cancellation of the Emilia-Romagna Grand Prix at Imola due to severe flooding in the

region, 22 Events took place.

Following the acquisition of QuintEvents, Formula 1’s results include intergroup revenue that is eliminated in consolidation.
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Formula 1’s operating results were as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
amounts in millions
Primary Formula 1 revenue $ 2,757 2,560
Other Formula 1 revenue 654 662
Total Formula 1 revenue 3,411 3,222
Operating expenses (excluding stock-based compensation included below):
Cost of Formula 1 revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) (2,332) (2,256)
Selling, general and administrative expenses (288) (241)
Adjusted OIBDA 791 725
Stock-based compensation 3) 3)
Depreciation and amortization (296) (330)
Operating income (loss) $ 492 392
Number of Events 24 22

Primary Formula 1 revenue is derived from the commercial exploitation and development of the World Championship through a
combination of race promotion fees (earned from granting the rights to host, stage and promote each Event on the World Championship
calendar, fees from certain race promoters to license additional commercial rights from Formula 1 to secure Formula 2, Formula 3 and F1
Academy races at their Events, technical service fees from promoters to support the origination of program footage and ticketing revenue
from Formula 1’s direct promotion of the Las Vegas Grand Prix), media rights fees (earned from licensing the right to broadcast Events and
Formula 2 and Formula 3 races on television and other platforms, F1 TV subscriptions and other related services, the origination of
program footage, footage from Formula 1’s archives and the licensing of radio broadcast and other ancillary media rights) and sponsorship
fees (earned from the sale of World Championship and Event-related advertising and sponsorship rights and the servicing of such rights,
rights to advertise on Formula 1’s digital platforms and at non-Championship related events).

Primary Formula | revenue increased $197 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year.
Media rights revenue increased during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year, due to the effect of contractual
increases in fees and the continued growth in F1 TV subscription and distribution revenue. Race promotion revenue increased during the
year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year, due to two more Events held, contractual increases in fees and new fees from
F1 Academy races, partially offset by lower revenue generated from the Las Vegas Grand Prix. Sponsorship revenue increased during the
year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year, due to revenue from new sponsors, contractual increases in revenue from
existing sponsors and additional sponsorship inventory with the two additional Events held.

Other Formula 1 revenue is generated from miscellaneous and ancillary sources primarily related to the sale of tickets to the
Paddock Club at most Events, facilitating the shipment of cars and equipment to and from events outside of Europe, the sale of hospitality
and experiences at the Las Vegas Grand Prix, the operation of the Formula 2, Formula 3 and F1 Academy series, other licensing
opportunities, various television production activities and other ancillary operations.

Other Formula 1 revenue decreased $8 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year, primarily
due to lower hospitality revenue generated at the Las Vegas Grand Prix, partially offset by higher revenue from two more Events, continued
growth in the Paddock Club, growth in other areas such as F1 Experiences’ license fees, secondary hospitality revenue share and F1 Garage
sales, the sale of new Formula 2 cars and associated parts at the beginning of the new Formula 2 vehicle cycle, growth in licensing revenue
and higher freight revenue, driven by one more Event taking place outside of Europe compared to the prior year.

Cost of Formula 1 revenue consists of team payments and other costs of Formula 1 revenue. Other costs of Formula 1 revenue are

largely variable in nature and relate to both primary and other Formula 1 revenue. The largest components of other costs of Formula 1
revenue are costs related to promoting, organizing and delivering the Las Vegas
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Grand Prix, hospitality costs, which are principally related to catering and other aspects of the production and delivery of hospitality
offerings at the Las Vegas Grand Prix and the Paddock Club at other Events, and costs incurred in the provision and sale of freight, travel
and logistical services. Other costs of Formula 1 revenue also include sponsorship and digital product sales’ commissions, circuit rights’
fees payable under various agreements with race promoters to acquire certain commercial rights at Events, including the right to sell
advertising, hospitality and support race opportunities, annual Federation Internationale de 1’ Automobile (“FIA”) regulatory fees, Formula
2 and Formula 3 cars, parts and maintenance services, costs related to the F1 Academy series, television production and post-production
services, advertising production services and digital and social media activities.

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023
amounts in millions
Team payments $ (1,266) (1,215)
Other costs of Formula 1 revenue (1,066) (1,041)
Cost of Formula 1 revenue $ (2,332) (2,256)

Cost of Formula 1 revenue increased $76 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year.

Team payments increased $51 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year, driven by the
increase in Formula 1 revenue and the associated impact on the calculation of variable Prize Fund elements, which are calculated with
reference to Formula 1’s revenue and costs.

Other costs of Formula 1 revenue increased $25 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year,
primarily due to a full year of Las Vegas Grand Prix related lease costs, higher commissions and partner servicing costs associated with
increased Primary Formula 1 revenue streams, costs of supplying new Formula 2 cars and associated parts at the beginning of the new
vehicle cycle and costs associated with the two additional Events held, partially offset by lower event promotion and hospitality and
experiences costs incurred in promoting and delivering the Las Vegas Grand Prix.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include personnel costs, legal, professional and other advisory fees, bad debt
expense, rental expense, information technology costs, insurance premiums, maintenance and utility costs and other general office
administration costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $47 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as
compared to the prior year, driven by higher personnel, information technology, marketing, legal and other professional fee costs, as well as
higher property costs from the full year operation of Grand Prix Plaza in Las Vegas, partially offset by the effect of lower foreign exchange
losses.

Stock-based compensation expense was flat during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the prior year.
Depreciation and amortization includes depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of intangible assets. Depreciation and

amortization decreased $34 million during the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to decreases in
amortization expense related to certain intangible assets acquired in the acquisition of Formula 1 by Liberty.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

We are exposed to market risk in the normal course of business due to our ongoing investing and financial activities and the
conduct of operations. Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in stock prices and interest rates. The risk of loss
can be assessed from the perspective of adverse changes in fair values, cash flows and future earnings. We have established policies,
procedures and internal processes governing our management of market risks and the use of financial instruments to manage our exposure
to such risks.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of our borrowing and investment activities, which include
investments in fixed and floating rate debt instruments and borrowings used to maintain liquidity and to fund business operations. The
nature and amount of our long-term and short-term debt are expected to vary as a result of future requirements, market conditions and other
factors. We manage our exposure to interest rates by maintaining what we believe is an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate debt. We
believe this best protects us from interest rate risk. We have achieved this mix by (i) issuing fixed rate debt that we believe has a low stated
interest rate and significant term to maturity, (ii) issuing variable rate debt with appropriate maturities and interest rates and (iii) entering
into interest rate swap arrangements when we deem appropriate.

As of December 31, 2024, our debt is comprised of the following amounts:

Variable rate debt Fixed rate debt
Principal Weighted avg Principal Weighted avg
amount interest rate amount interest rate

dollar amounts in millions
Formula One Group $ 180 62%  $ 2,728 4.4%
Liberty Live Group $ NA NA § 1,150 2.4%

The Company is exposed to changes in stock prices primarily as a result of our significant holdings in publicly traded securities.
We continually monitor changes in stock markets, in general, and changes in the stock prices of our holdings, specifically. We believe that
changes in stock prices can be expected to vary as a result of general market conditions, technological changes, specific industry changes
and other factors. We periodically use equity collars and other financial instruments to manage market risk associated with certain
investment positions. These instruments are recorded at fair value based on option pricing models and other appropriate methods.

Additionally, our stock in Live Nation (an equity method affiliate), a publicly traded security, is not reflected at fair value in our
balance sheet. This security is also subject to market risk that is not directly reflected in our financial statements, and had the market price
of such security been 10% lower at December 31, 2024, the aggregate value of such security would have been $902 million lower.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The consolidated financial statements of Liberty Media Corporation are filed under this Item, beginning on Page 1I-24. The
financial statement schedules required by Regulation S-X are filed under Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
In accordance with Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and

with the participation of management, including its chief executive officer and principal accounting and

1I-17




Table of Contents

financial officer (the “Executives”) and under the oversight of its Board of Directors, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. Based on that evaluation, the Executives concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed in its reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.

See page II-19 for Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

See page 11-20 for Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for their attestation regarding the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting.

In January 2024, the Company acquired QuintEvents. As a result of the acquisition, the Company is reviewing the internal controls
of QuintEvents and is making appropriate changes as deemed necessary. Except for the changes in internal control at QuintEvents, there
has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December 31,
2024 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

Insider Trading Arrangements

None of the Company’s directors or officers adopted or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1
trading arrangement during the Company’s fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2024.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over the Company’s
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting
is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, using
the criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is effective. The Company’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls
of Quint Events, LLC which the Company acquired in the first quarter of 2024. The amount of total assets and revenue of QuintEvents,
LLC included in our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 was $424 million and $340 million,
respectively.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm audited the consolidated financial statements and related notes in

the Annual Report on Form 10-K and has issued an audit report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Their report appears on page 11-20 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Liberty Media Corporation:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Liberty Media Corporation and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive earnings (loss), cash flows, and equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related
notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

The Company acquired QuintEvents, LLC during 2024, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, QuintEvents, LLC’s internal control over financial reporting
associated with total assets of $424 million and total revenues of $340 million included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also
excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of QuintEvents, LLC.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 27, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Liberty Media Corporation:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Liberty Media Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive earnings (loss), cash flows, and equity
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements). In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of Ernst & Young LLP, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our
report dated February 27, 2025 expressed an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

We did not audit the financial statements of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (a 30 percent owned investee company). The
Company’s investment in Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. was $430 million and $307 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, and its equity in earnings of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. was $236 million, $148 million, and $72 million for the years
2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The financial statements of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. were audited by Ernst & Young LLP,
whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Live Nation Entertainment, Inc., is
based solely on the report of Ernst & Young LLP.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide and the report of Ernst & Young LLP provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures
that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments.
The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Valuation of goodwill in the Sirius XM reporting unit included in discontinued operations

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company performs goodwill impairment testing on
an annual basis during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, and more frequently if events and circumstances indicate impairment
may have occurred. The Company identified events that indicated that it was more likely than not that the carrying value of the
Sirius XM reporting unit exceeded its fair value. The Company estimated the fair value of the Sirius XM reporting unit using a
combination of an income approach and a market approach. As a result, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $2,819
million for the Sirius XM reporting unit goodwill, which is included in Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations
attributable to Liberty stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2024, as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We identified the evaluation of the goodwill impairment assessment of the Sirius XM reporting unit as a critical audit
matter. A high degree of subjective auditor judgment was required to evaluate certain assumptions used by the Company to
estimate the fair value of the reporting unit. Specifically, the revenue growth rates, long-term growth rate, and the discount rate
involved a higher degree of subjectivity. In addition, these key assumptions were challenging to test due to the sensitivity of the
fair value to changes in these assumptions.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We performed sensitivity
analyses to assess the impact of possible changes to the revenue growth rates, long-term growth rate and discount rate assumptions
on the fair value of the Sirius XM reporting unit. We compared the Company’s historical revenue forecasts to actual results to
assess the Company’s ability to accurately forecast revenues. We compared the Company’s forecasted revenue growth rate
assumptions to historical revenue growth rates, projected revenue growth rates for comparable companies, and other publicly
available data, including third party market studies. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and
knowledge, who assisted in:

e evaluating the Company’s long-term growth rate by comparing it to long-term growth rate estimates that were independently
observed using publicly available market data for the Company’s industry as well as U.S. economic growth rates

e cvaluating the Company’s discount rate by comparing it to discount rates that were independently developed using publicly

available market data for comparable companies.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.

Denver, Colorado
February 27, 2025
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables, net
Other current assets

LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2024 and 2023

Current assets of discontinued operations (note 2)

Total current assets

Investments in affiliates, accounted for using the equity method (note 7)

Property and equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Goodwill (note 8)

Intangible assets subject to amortization, net (note 8)

Deferred income tax assets (note 10)
Other assets

Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations (note 2)

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of debt, including zero and $69 million measured at fair value, respectively (note 9)

Deferred revenue

Financial instrument liabilities (note 6)

Other current liabilities

Current liabilities of discontinued operations (note 2)

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, including $2,144 million and $1,728 million measured at fair value, respectively (note 9)

Other liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations (note 2)

Total liabilities

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2024

2023

amounts in millions

$ 2956 1,713
114 123

277 180

— 1,361

3,347 3,377

491 374

1,007 973
(197) (135)

810 838

4,134 3,956
2,689 2,858

760 772

717 612

— 28,540

$ 12,948 41,327
$ 648 474
26 106

267 247

138 8

54 32

— 3,876

1,133 4,743
4,522 4,117

242 188

— 12,834

$ 5,897 21,882

(continued)
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LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Continued)

December 31, 2024 and 2023

Stockholders' equity (notes 11,13 and 15):
Preferred stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 50,000,000 shares; no shares issued
Series A Liberty Formula One common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 500,000,000 shares at December
31, 2024; issued and outstanding 23,987,941 shares at December 31, 2024 and 23,981,960 shares at
December 31, 2023 (note 3)
Series A Liberty Live common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 521,400,000 shares at December 31, 2024;
issued and outstanding 25,568,345 shares at December 31, 2024 and 25,558,577 shares at December 31,
2023 (note 3)
Series A Liberty SiriusXM common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 2,000,000,000 shares at December 31,
2023; issued and outstanding 98,134,522 shares at December 31, 2023 (note 3)
Series B Liberty Formula One common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 18,750,000 shares at December
31, 2024; issued and outstanding 2,431,602 shares at December 31, 2024 and 2,437,583 shares at December
31,2023 (note 3)
Series B Liberty Live common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 19,552,500 shares at December 31, 2024;
issued and outstanding 2,536,291 shares at December 31, 2024 and 2,546,146 shares at December 31, 2023
(note 3)
Series B Liberty SiriusXM common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 75,000,000 shares at December 31,
2023; issued and outstanding 9,761,336 shares at December 31, 2023 (note 3)
Series C Liberty Formula One common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 500,000,000 shares at December
31, 2024; issued and outstanding 222,839,968 shares at December 31, 2024 and 208,196,119 shares at
December 31, 2023 (note 3)
Series C Liberty Live common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 521,400,000 shares at December 31, 2024;
issued and outstanding 63,728,403 shares at December 31, 2024 and 63,589,030 shares at December 31,
2023 (note 3)
Series C Liberty SiriusXM common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 2,000,000,000 shares at December 31,
2023; issued and outstanding 218,692,718 shares at December 31, 2023 (note 3)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of taxes
Retained earnings
Total stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interests in equity of subsidiaries
Total equity
Commitments and contingencies (note 16)
Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2024

2023

amounts in millions

$ _ —
NA 1

NA —

2 2

1 1

NA 2

— 1,317

(153) 12
7,179 15,061
7,029 16,396

22 3,049

7,051 19,445

$§ 12,948 41,327
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LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements Of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Revenue:
Formula 1 revenue $ 3,318 3222 2,573
Other revenue 335 350 588
Total revenue 3,653 3,572 3,161
Operating costs and expenses (note 4):
Cost of Formula 1 revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown separately below) 2,294 2,240 1,750
Other cost of sales 194 — —
Other operating expenses 13 274 434
Selling, general and administrative, including stock-based compensation 419 396 393
Depreciation and amortization 352 406 433
Impairment and acquisition costs 105 1 6
3,377 3,317 3,016
Operating income (loss) 276 255 145
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (237) (248)  (186)
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net (note 7) 228 157 104
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments, net (note 6) (383) (167) 524
Unrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interests — (68) 19
Other, net 92 46 101
(300) (280) 562
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (24) 25) 707
Income tax (expense) benefit (note 11) (39) 1 202
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations (63) (24) 909
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (note 2) (2,412) 986 1,120
Net earnings (loss) (2,475) 962 2,029
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interests (412) 201 227
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest (note 11) — — (13)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders $ (2,063) 761 1815
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders (note 3):
Liberty Formula One common stock $ (30) 185 558
Liberty Live common stock 31) (142) NA
Liberty SiriusXM common stock — 45 382
Liberty Braves common stock NA (111) (35)
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:
Liberty SiriusXM common stock (2,002) 784 910

$ (2,063) 761 1,815

(continued)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements Of Operations (Continued)
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Basic net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders per common
share (notes 3 and 4)

Series A, B and C Liberty Formula One common stock

Series A, B and C Liberty Live common stock

Series A, B and C Liberty SiriusXM common stock

Series A, B and C Liberty Braves common stock
Basic net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty stockholders per common
share (notes 3 and 4):

Series A, B and C Liberty SiriusXM common stock
Diluted net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders per common
share (notes 3 and 4)

Series A, B and C Liberty Formula One common stock

Series A, B and C Liberty Live common stock

Series A, B and C Liberty SiriusXM common stock

Series A, B and C Liberty Braves common stock
Diluted net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty stockholders per
common share (notes 3 and 4):

Series A, B and C Liberty SiriusXM common stock

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023 2022
$ (0.13) 0.79 2.39
$ (039 (1.54) NA
$ — 0.14 1.16
$§ NA (2.09)  (0.66)
$ (6.12) 2.40 2.77
$ (0.13) 0.62 2.15
$ (034 (1.54) NA
$ — 0.13 1.11
$§ NA (2.09)  (0.66)
$ (6.16) 2.29 2.55
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LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements Of Comprehensive Earnings (Loss)

Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Net earnings (loss)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during the period
Credit risk on fair value debt instruments gains (losses)
Share of other comprehensive earnings (loss) of equity affiliates
Recognition of previously unrealized (gains) losses on debt
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) from discontinued operations
Comprehensive earnings (loss)
Less comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling interests
Less comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests (note 11)
Comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders

Comprehensive earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:
Liberty Formula One common stock
Liberty Live common stock
Liberty SiriusXM common stock
Liberty Braves common stock

Comprehensive earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:
Liberty SiriusXM common stock

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

11-28

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
(2,475) 962 2,029
) 10 43)
— — 18
(66) 19 (6)
(86) 27 16
1 21 (19)
(158) 77 (34)
(40) (25) ©)
(2,673) 1,014 1,990
(414) 202 222
— — a3)
(2,259) 812 1,781
(50) 184 504
(169) (84) NA
— 65 382
NA 111) 15)
(2,040) 758 910
(2,259) 812 1,781
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LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements Of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Non-cash impairment costs
Share of (earnings) loss of affiliates, net
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments, net
Unrealized (gains) losses on intergroup interests, net
Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Intergroup tax allocation
Intergroup tax (payments) receipts
Other charges (credits), net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Current and other assets
Payables and other liabilities
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expended for property and equipment, including internal-use software and website development
Cash proceeds from dispositions of investments
Cash (paid) received for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Investments in equity method affiliates and debt and equity securities
Subsidiary initial public offering proceeds returned from (invested in) trust account
Return of investment in equity method affiliates
Other investing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings of debt
Repayments of debt
Issuance of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock
Settlement of intergroup interests
Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. Split-Off
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for stock-based compensation
Repayment of initial public offering proceeds to subsidiary shareholders
Liberty stock repurchases
Distribution from former subsidiary
Other financing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations:
Cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
(see note 5)

(2,475) 962 2,029
2,412 (986) (1,120)
352 406 433

34 29 28
73 — 5
(228) (157) (104)
383 167 (524)
— 68 (19)
6 34 (14)
29 ©) (150)
(109) (178) (156)
131 121 80
10 12 (16)
39 7 97)
(104) 158 203
553 634 578
(75) (461) (309)
117 111 101
(205) — —
(11) (176) (57)
— — 579
1 — 37
(14) (18) 9
(187) (544) 447
645 1,165 3,289
(748) (1,008) (4,787)
939 — —
— (273) (78)
— (188) —
17 (10) 24
— — (579)
— — (€0)
— 3 672
75 26 59
894 (285) (1,437)
(10) 1 =
882 1,830 1,968
(709) (696) (493)
(488) (1,188) (1,711)
(315) (54) (236)
935 (248) (648)
2,028 2,276 2,924
2,963 2,028 2,276
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Balance at January 1, 2022
Net earnings (loss) (excludes net earnings (loss)
attributable to redeemable noncontrolling
interest) (note 11)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss)
Stock-based compensation
Withholding taxes on net share settlements of
stock-based compensation
Liberty stock repurchases
Shares repurchased by subsidiary
Shares issued by subsidiary
Dividends paid by subsidiary
Other, net

Balance at December 31, 2022
Net earnings (loss)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss)
Stock-based compensation
Withholding taxes on net share settlements of
stock-based compensation
Shares repurchased by subsidiary
Shares issued by subsidiary
Dividends paid by subsidiary
Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. Split-Off
Formula One Distribution
Reclassification
Other, net

Balance at December 31, 2023
Net earnings (loss)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss)
Liberty SiriusXM Holdings Inc. Split-Off
Issuance of Series C Liberty Formula One
common stock
Stock-based compensation
Withholding taxes on net share settlements of
stock-based compensation
Dividends paid by subsidiary
Reclassification to additional paid-in capital
Other, net

Balance at December 31, 2024

LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statement Of Equity
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

equity
Accumulated Noncontrolling
Additional other interest in
Preferred Liberty Formula One Liberty Live Liberty Sirius XM Liberty Braves paid-in  comprehensive Retained equity of Total
Stock Series A Series B Series C Series A Series B Series C _ Series A Series B Series C Series A Series B Series C capital earnings (loss) earnings subsidiaries equity
amounts in millions
$ — 8 — s — s 2 NA NA NA § 1 $ — s 2 — $ — $ — $ 194 § 6) $12718 § 3,590 S 18,262
— — — — NA NA NA — — — — — — — — 1,815 210 2,025
- — — — NA NA NA — — — — — — — (34) — ®) 39)
— — — — NA NA NA — — — — — — 214 — — 39 253
(123) e - - (123)
(395) — — — (395)
(172) — — (467) (639)
(73) — — 77 4
= = = (249) (249)
3 — 56 (32) 27
1,408 (39) 14,589 3,163 19,126
— — 761 201 962
— 51 — 1 52
216 — — 34 250
74 = — = (74)
46 — — (320) (274)
(61) — = 65 4
— — — (65) (65)
(180) — = an (191)
— — (289) — (289)
1) — — — —
(37 — — (19) (56)
1,317 12 15,061 3,049 19,445
— — (2,063) (412) (2,475)
= (196) — ) (198)
(8,187) 31 — (2.641)  (10,800)
939 — = — 939
158 — — 24 182
(56) — — — (56)
— — — (52) (52)
5818 — (5.818) — —
11 — [0)) 56 66
$ — 3 (153) § 7,179 § 22§ 7,051

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

(1) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Liberty Media Corporation (“Liberty,” “we,” “our,” “us” or the
“Company” unless the context otherwise requires) represent a consolidation of certain media and entertainment related assets and
businesses. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

Liberty, through its ownership of interests in subsidiaries and other companies, is primarily engaged in the media and
entertainment industries primarily in North America and the United Kingdom (“U.K.”). Our most significant subsidiary is Delta Topco
Limited (the parent company of Formula 1). Our most significant investment accounted for under the equity method is Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc. (“Live Nation”).

Braves Holdings, LLC ("Braves Holdings") was a subsidiary of the Company until the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off (as
defined in note 3) on July 18, 2023. Braves Holdings is not presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements as the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off did not represent a strategic shift that had a major effect on the Company’s operations
and financial results.

Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Sirius XM Holdings”) was a subsidiary of the Company until the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off
(as defined in note 2) on September 9, 2024. Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Liberty Sirius XM Holdings”), which included Sirius XM
Holdings, is presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. See note 2 for details of the Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off.

On January 2, 2024, the Company purchased QuintEvents, LLC (“QuintEvents”) for total consideration of approximately $277
million, comprised of $205 million of cash, net of cash acquired of $66 million, and a $6 million settlement of a pre-existing condition. The
Company recorded $252 million of goodwill, $113 million of intangible assets subject to amortization, net and $121 million of deferred
revenue as a result of the acquisition. The acquisition price allocation was final as of December 31, 2024.

On March 29, 2024, the Company agreed, subject to certain conditions, to acquire approximately 86% of the equity interests in
Dorna Sports, S.L., (“Dorna”) for a purchase price of approximately €3.0 billion, to be funded with cash. The Company entered into foreign
currency forward contracts for close to the full purchase price. In December 2024, the European Commission notified the Company that a
Phase II investigation would occur, extending regulatory review beyond December 31, 2024. The Company agreed to pay €126 million to
the sellers to extend the longstop date to June 30, 2025 in order to accommodate the Phase II investigation. The €126 million is considered
prepaid purchase consideration and is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024.
Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company extended a portion of the foreign currency forward contracts through the extended
longstop date.

Liberty has entered into certain agreements with QVC Group, Inc., formerly known as Qurate Retail, Inc. (“QVC Group”), Liberty
TripAdvisor Holdings, Inc. (“TripCo”), Liberty Broadband Corporation (“Liberty Broadband”) and Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. (“Atlanta
Braves Holdings”), all of which are separate publicly traded companies, in order to govern relationships between the companies. None of
these entities has any stock ownership, beneficial or otherwise, in any of the others as of December 31, 2024. These agreements include
Reorganization Agreements (in the case of QVC Group, Liberty Broadband and Atlanta Braves Holdings only), Services Agreements,
Facilities Sharing Agreements, Tax Sharing Agreements (in the case of Liberty Broadband and Atlanta Braves Holdings only) and an
Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement (in the case of Liberty Broadband only). In addition, as a result of certain corporate transactions, Liberty
and QVC Group may have obligations to each other for certain tax related matters. Effective August 31, 2024, the Facilities Sharing
Agreement and the Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement with Atlanta Braves Holdings was terminated and members
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of Liberty management that served as officers of Atlanta Braves Holdings stepped down from their positions with Atlanta Braves Holdings
(with limited exceptions), even though they may continue to provide services on an as-needed basis.

The Reorganization Agreements provide for, among other things, provisions governing the relationships between Liberty and each
of QVC Group, Liberty Broadband and Atlanta Braves Holdings, including certain cross-indemnities. Pursuant to the Services Agreements,
Liberty provides QVC Group, TripCo, Liberty Broadband and Atlanta Braves Holdings with general and administrative services including
legal, tax, accounting, treasury, information technology, cybersecurity and investor relations support. QVC Group, TripCo, Liberty
Broadband and Atlanta Braves Holdings reimburse Liberty for direct, out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Liberty in providing these
services and in the case of QVC Group, QVC Group’s allocable portion of costs associated with any shared services or personnel based on
an estimated percentage of time spent providing services to QVC Group. TripCo, Liberty Broadband and Atlanta Braves Holdings
reimburse Liberty for shared services and personnel based on a flat fee. Under the Facilities Sharing Agreements, Liberty shares office
space and related amenities at its corporate headquarters with QVC Group, TripCo, Liberty Broadband and, until August 31, 2024, Atlanta
Braves Holdings. Under these various agreements, approximately $21 million, $24 million and $21 million of these allocated expenses
were reimbursed to Liberty during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In connection with Liberty’s employment arrangement with Gregory B. Maffei, Liberty’s former President and Chief Executive
Officer (the “former CEO”), pursuant to the Services Agreements between Liberty and each of TripCo, Liberty Broadband, QVC Group
and Atlanta Braves Holdings (collectively, the “Service Companies”), components of Mr. Maffei's compensation were either paid directly
to him by each Service Company or reimbursed to Liberty, in each case, based on allocations among Liberty and the Service Companies set
forth in the respective services agreement, which were subject to adjustment on an annual basis and upon the occurrence of certain events.
As of August 31, 2024, upon the effectiveness of Mr. Maffei’s resignation as an officer of Atlanta Braves Holdings, Mr. Maffei no longer
received compensation from Atlanta Braves Holdings.

(2) Discontinued Operations

On September 9, 2024, Liberty completed the split-off of its wholly owned subsidiary, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings (the “Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off”). The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was accomplished through the redemption by the Company of
each outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock in exchange for 0.8375 of a share of Liberty Sirius XM Holdings common
stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares. Liberty Sirius XM Holdings was comprised of the businesses, assets and liabilities
attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group immediately prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off. The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings
Split-Off was intended to be tax-free to holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock (except with respect to cash received in lieu of
fractional shares).

Following the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, on September 9, 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty Sirius XM
Holdings merged with and into Sirius XM Holdings, with Sirius XM Holdings surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of
Liberty Sirius XM Holdings (the “Merger” and, together with the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the “Transactions”). As a result of
the Transactions, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings became an independent public company separate from Liberty.

As disclosed in note 1, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated

financial statements as the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off represents a strategic shift that had a major effect on the Company’s
operations and financial results.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued
operations to the total assets and liabilities of discontinued operations as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

December 31, 2023

amounts in millions

Assets
Current assets $ 1,361
Investments in affiliates, accounted for using the equity method 715
Property and equipment, net 1,245
Intangible assets not subject to amortization 25,051
Intangible assets subject to amortization, net 1,014
Other assets 515
Total assets $ 29,901
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1,536
Current portion of debt 1,074
Other current liabilities 1,266
Long-term debt 10,063
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,245
Other liabilities 526
Total liabilities $ 16,710
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The following table provided details about the major classes of line items constituting earnings (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax as presented in the consolidated statements of operations. Impairment, restructuring and acquisition costs for the year
ended December 31, 2024, in the table below, includes a goodwill impairment loss of $2,819 million related to the Sirius XM Holdings
reportable segment and $500 million impairment of Sirius XM Holding’s equity method investment in Sirius XM Canada Holdings, Inc.

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Revenue $ 6,004 8,953 9,003
Cost of Sirius XM Holdings services (exclusive of depreciation shown separately
below) 2,852 4,209 4,130
Operating expense 461 681 637
Selling, general and administrative 1,030 1,534 1,638
Impairment, restructuring and acquisition costs 3,339 66 68
Depreciation and amortization 421 624 611
Litigation settlements, net of recoveries = 31 —
8,103 7,145 7,084
Operating income (loss) (2,099) 1,808 1,919
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (349) (534) (503)
Other, net 122 (64) 70
(227) (598) (433)
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes (2,326) 1,210 1,486
Income tax (expense) benefit (86) (224) (366)
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations (2,412) 986 1,120
Less net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to the
noncontrolling interests (410) 202 210
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders $ (2,002) 784 910

(3) Tracking Stocks

A tracking stock is a type of common stock that the issuing company intends to reflect or “track” the economic performance of a
particular business or “group,” rather than the economic performance of the company as a whole.

On July 18, 2023, the Company completed the split-off of its wholly owned subsidiary, Atlanta Braves Holdings (the “Atlanta
Braves Holdings Split-Off”). The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off was accomplished by a redemption by the Company of each
outstanding share of Liberty Braves common stock in exchange for one share of the corresponding series of Atlanta Braves Holdings
common stock. Atlanta Braves Holdings was comprised of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty Braves Group (the
“Braves Group”) immediately prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, except for the intergroup interests in the Braves Group
attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group and the Liberty Formula One Group (the “Formula One Group”), which were settled and
extinguished in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off.
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On August 3, 2023, the Company reclassified its then-outstanding shares of common stock into three new tracking stocks —
Liberty SiriusXM common stock, Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock, and, in connection therewith,
provided for the attribution of the businesses, assets and liabilities of the Company’s remaining tracking stock groups among its newly
created Liberty SiriusXM Group, Formula One Group and Liberty Live Group (the “Reclassification”). As a result of the Reclassification,
each then-outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty
SiriusXM common stock and 0.2500 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock and each outstanding share of
Liberty Formula One common stock was reclassified into one share of the corresponding series of new Liberty Formula One common stock
and 0.0428 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock.

Each of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification were intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the
Company, except with respect to the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares. In July 2024, the IRS completed its review of the
Reclassification and notified the Company that it agreed with the nontaxable characterization of the transaction. In September 2024, the
IRS completed its review of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and notified the Company that it agreed with the nontaxable
characterization of the transaction. The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification are reflected in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements on a prospective basis.

While the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live Group have separate collections of businesses, assets and liabilities attributed
to them, no group is a separate legal entity and therefore cannot own assets, issue securities or enter into legally binding agreements.
Holders of tracking stock have no direct claim to the group’s stock or assets and therefore, do not own, by virtue of their ownership of a
Liberty tracking stock, any equity or voting interest in a public company, such as Live Nation, in which Liberty holds an interest that is
attributed to a Liberty tracking stock group, the Liberty Live Group. Holders of tracking stock are also not represented by separate boards
of directors. Instead, holders of tracking stock are stockholders of the parent corporation, with a single board of directors and subject to all
of the risks and liabilities of the parent corporation.

The Liberty Formula One common stock is intended to track and reflect the separate economic performance of the businesses,
assets and liabilities attributed to the Formula One Group, which, as of December 31, 2024, include Liberty’s interests in Formula 1 and
QuintEvents, cash and Liberty’s 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027. As of December 31, 2024, the Formula One Group has cash
and cash equivalents of approximately $2,631 million, which includes $1,389 million of subsidiary cash.

The Liberty Live common stock is intended to track and reflect the separate economic performance of the businesses, assets and
liabilities attributed to the Liberty Live Group. As of December 31, 2024, the Liberty Live Group is primarily comprised of Liberty’s
interest in Live Nation, cash, other minority investments, Liberty’s 2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053 and an undrawn
margin loan. As of December 31, 2024, the Liberty Live Group has cash and cash equivalents of approximately $325 million.

Prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM common stock was intended to track and reflect the
separate economic performance of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group. At the time of the Liberty
Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM Group was comprised of Liberty’s interest in Sirius XM Holdings, corporate cash,
Liberty’s 3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028, Liberty’s 2.75% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2049 and a margin loan
obligation incurred by a wholly-owned special purpose subsidiary of Liberty. As disclosed in note 1, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is
presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Prior to the Reclassification, Liberty’s interest in
Live Nation, Liberty’s 0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050 and a margin loan secured by shares of Live Nation (the “Live
Nation Margin Loan”) were attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group and are presented as continuing operations in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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Prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty Braves common stock was intended to track and reflect the separate
economic performance of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Braves Group. The Braves Group was primarily comprised
of Braves Holdings, which indirectly owns the Atlanta Braves Major League Baseball Club (the “Braves™), certain assets and liabilities
associated with the Braves’ stadium (the “Stadium”) and a mixed-use development around the Stadium that features retail, office, hotel and
entertainment opportunities (the “Mixed-Use Development”) and corporate cash.

On November 13, 2024, the Company announced that it is pursuing a plan to split-off the Liberty Live Group (the “Liberty Live
Split-Off”). Immediately prior to the Liberty Live Split-Off, QuintEvents would be reattributed from the Formula One Group to the Liberty
Live Group in exchange for certain private assets and cash. The Liberty Live Split-Off would be effected through the redemption of Liberty
Live common stock in exchange for common stock of a newly formed company, Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. The Company would redeem
each outstanding share of its Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Live common stock for one share of the corresponding series of
common stock of Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. As a result of the Liberty Live Split-Off, the Company and Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. would
be separate publicly traded companies, and the Company would no longer have a tracking stock structure. The Liberty Live Split-Off is
subject to various conditions including, among other things, shareholder approval and the receipt of an opinion of tax counsel. The Liberty
Live Split-Off is intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the Company.

As of December 31, 2021, 6,792,903 notional shares represented an 11.0% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously held
by the Formula One Group, 2,292,037 notional shares represented a 3.7% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously held by the
Liberty SiriusXM Group and 5,271,475 notional shares represented a 2.2% intergroup interest in the Formula One Group previously held
by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

During September 2022, the Formula One Group and the Braves Group paid approximately $64 million and $14 million,
respectively, to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to settle a portion of the intergroup interests in the Formula One Group and Braves Group held
by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a portion of Liberty’s 1.375% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 (the
“Convertible Notes”). During March 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $202 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to
settle a portion of the intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a
portion of the Convertible Notes. On July 12, 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $71 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group
to settle and extinguish the remaining intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

In connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the intergroup interests in the Braves Group attributed to the Liberty
SiriusXM Group and Formula One Group were settled and extinguished through the attribution, to the respective tracking stock group, of
Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock on a one-for-one basis equal to the number of notional shares representing the intergroup
interest. On July 19, 2023, the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock attributed to the Formula One Group to settle and
extinguish the intergroup interest in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off were distributed on a pro rata basis to holders of
Liberty Formula One common stock (the “Formula One Distribution”). During November 2023, Liberty exchanged the shares of Atlanta
Braves Holdings Series C common stock attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group with a third party to satisfy certain debt obligations
attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

See Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K for unaudited attributed financial information for Liberty’s tracking stock
groups.
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(4) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of investments which are readily convertible into cash and have maturities of three months or less at the
time of acquisition.

Receivables

Receivables are reflected net of an allowance for credit losses and sales returns. The table below presents changes in the allowance
for the periods presented:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Balance, beginning of period $ 2 3 3
Provision charged to expense 1 1 —
Write-offs, net of recoveries — 2) (1)
Foreign currency translation adjustments — 1
Balance, end of period $ 3 2 3

Investments

All marketable equity and debt securities held by the Company are carried at fair value, generally based on quoted market prices
and changes in the fair value of such securities are reported in realized and unrealized gain (losses) on financial instruments in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company elected the measurement alternative (defined as the cost of the security,
adjusted for changes in fair value when there are observable prices, less impairments) for its equity securities without readily determinable
fair values. The total value of marketable equity securities aggregated zero and $113 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

For those investments in affiliates in which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, the equity method of
accounting is used. Under this method, the investment, originally recorded at cost, is adjusted to recognize the Company’s share of net
earnings or losses of the affiliate as they occur rather than as dividends or other distributions are received. Losses are limited to the extent
of the Company’s investment in, advances to and commitments for the investee. In the event the Company is unable to obtain accurate
financial information from an equity affiliate in a timely manner, the Company records its share of earnings or losses of such affiliate on a
lag.

Changes in the Company’s proportionate share of the underlying equity of an equity method investee, which result from the
issuance of additional equity securities by such equity investee, are recognized in the statement of operations through the other, net line
item. To the extent there is a difference between our ownership percentage in the underlying equity of an equity method investee and our
carrying value, such difference is accounted for as if the equity method investee were a consolidated subsidiary.

The Company continually reviews its equity investments to determine whether a decline in fair value below the carrying value is
other than temporary. The primary factors the Company considers in its determination are the length of time that the fair value of the
investment is below the Company’s carrying value; the severity of the decline; and the financial condition, operating performance and near
term prospects of the investee. In addition, the Company considers the reason for the decline in fair value, be it general market conditions,
industry specific or investee specific; analysts’
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ratings and estimates of 12-month share price targets for the investee; changes in stock price or valuation subsequent to the balance sheet
date; and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for a recovery in fair value. If the
decline in fair value is deemed to be other than temporary, the carrying value of the equity method investment is written down to fair value.
In situations where the fair value of an investment is not evident due to a lack of a public market price or other factors, the Company uses
its best estimates and assumptions to arrive at the estimated fair value of such investment. The Company’s assessment of the foregoing
factors involves a high degree of judgment and accordingly, actual results may differ materially from the Company’s estimates and
judgments. Write-downs for equity method investments are included in share of earnings (losses) of affiliates.

The Company performs a qualitative assessment for equity securities without readily determinable fair values each reporting
period to determine whether the security could be impaired. If the qualitative assessment indicates that an impairment could exist, we
estimate the fair value of the investments, and, to the extent the security’s fair value is less than its carrying value, an impairment is
recorded in the consolidated statements of operations.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

All of the Company’s derivatives, whether designated in hedging relationships or not, are recorded on the balance sheet at fair
value. If the derivative is designated as a fair value hedge, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and of the hedged item attributable
to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in the
fair value of the derivative are recorded in other comprehensive earnings and are recognized in the statement of operations when the hedged
item affects earnings. Ineffective portions of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges are recognized in earnings. If the derivative is
not designated as a hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized in earnings. None of the Company’s derivatives are
currently designated as hedges.

The fair value of certain of the Company’s derivative instruments are estimated using the Black-Scholes model. The Black-Scholes
model incorporates a number of variables in determining such fair values, including expected volatility of the underlying security and an
appropriate discount rate. The Company obtained volatility rates from pricing services based on the expected volatility of the underlying
security over the remaining term of the derivative instrument. A discount rate was obtained at the inception of the derivative instrument and
updated each reporting period, based on the Company’s estimate of the discount rate at which it could currently settle the derivative
instrument. The Company considered its own credit risk as well as the credit risk of its counterparties in estimating the discount rate.
Considerable management judgment was required in estimating the Black-Scholes variables.

The fair values of the Company’s foreign currency forward contracts are estimated primarily based on the difference between the
foreign currency exchange forward rates as of the reporting date and the foreign currency forward rates included in the Company’s
contracts with the respective counterparties, multiplied by the applicable notional amount. The fair value of the Company’s interest rate
swaps are estimated using the present value of expected future cash flows based on the instruments’ contractual terms, including the
applicable interest rate and discount rate, and, for any embedded options, implied interest rate volatility.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

Estimated December 31,
Useful Life 2024 2023
amounts in millions
Land NA $ 262 262
Buildings and improvements 10 - 40 years 538 537
Support equipment 3 - 25 years 205 172
Construction in progress NA 2 2
Total property and equipment $ 1,007 973

Property and equipment, including significant improvements, is stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method using estimated useful lives. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $62 million,
$79 million and $73 million, respectively.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with estimable useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual
values, and reviewed for impairment upon certain triggering events. Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
(collectively, “indefinite lived intangible assets™) are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at least annually. Our annual
impairment assessment of our indefinite-lived intangible assets is performed during the fourth quarter of each year, or more frequently if
events and circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred.

The accounting guidance permits entities to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative
goodwill impairment test. The accounting guidance also allows entities the option to bypass the qualitative assessment for any reporting
unit in any period and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test. The entity may resume performing the qualitative assessment in
any subsequent period.

In evaluating goodwill on a qualitative basis, the Company reviews the business performance of each reporting unit and evaluates
other relevant factors as identified in the relevant accounting guidance to determine whether it is more likely than not that an indicated
impairment exists for any of our reporting units. The Company considers whether there are any negative macroeconomic conditions,
industry specific conditions, market changes, increased competition, increased costs in doing business, management challenges, the legal
environments and how these factors might impact company specific performance in future periods. As part of the analysis, the Company
also considers fair value determinations for certain reporting units that have been made at various points throughout the current and prior
years for other purposes. If based on the qualitative analysis it is more likely than not that an impairment exists, the Company performs the
quantitative impairment test.

The quantitative goodwill impairment test compares the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value. Developing
estimates of fair value requires significant judgments, including making assumptions about appropriate discount rates, perpetual growth
rates, relevant comparable market multiples, public trading prices and the amount and timing of expected future cash flows. The cash flows
employed in Liberty’s valuation analysis are based on management’s best estimates considering current marketplace factors and risks as
well as assumptions of growth rates in future years.
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There is no assurance that actual results in the future will approximate these forecasts. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

The accounting guidance also permits entities to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than
not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. The accounting guidance also allows entities the option to bypass the qualitative
assessment for any indefinite-lived intangible asset in any period and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test. The entity may
resume performing the qualitative assessment in any subsequent period. If the qualitative assessment supports that it is more likely than not
that the carrying value of the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than goodwill, exceeds its fair value, then a quantitative
assessment is performed. If the carrying value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized
in an amount equal to that excess.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews the carrying amounts of its property and equipment and its intangible assets (other than
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles) to determine whether current events or circumstances indicate that such carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. If the carrying amount of the asset group is greater than the expected undiscounted cash flows to be generated by such
asset group, an impairment adjustment is to be recognized. Such adjustment is measured by the amount that the carrying value of such asset
groups exceeds their fair value. The Company generally measures fair value by considering sale prices for similar assets or by discounting
estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate. Considerable management judgment is necessary to estimate the fair value
of asset groups. Accordingly, actual results could vary significantly from such estimates. Asset groups to be disposed of are carried at the
lower of their financial statement carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Leases

The Company and its subsidiaries lease business offices and equipment. Operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease
liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future lease payments using our incremental borrowing rate at the
commencement date of the lease. The Company accounts for lease and non-lease components as a single component and does not recognize
right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for short-term leases, which are those leases with a term of twelve months or less or leases with non-
consecutive periods of use that total twelve months or less at the lease commencement date.

The Company recorded $62 million, $78 million and $13 million of operating lease expense during the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term
of 8.0 years and a weighted-average discount rate of 4.8%. Operating lease right-of-use assets totaled $45 million and $36 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Operating lease liabilities
totaled $44 million and $38 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively and are included in other current liabilities and other
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2024, future minimum payments under noncancelable operating leases with initial terms of one year or more
are $15 million in 2025, $6 million in 2026, $6 million in 2027, $5 million in 2028, $5 million in 2029 and $14 million thereafter. The
Company expects to pay $52 million in 2025, $16 million in 2026, $16 million in 2027 and $14 million in 2028 related to short-term leases
that extend over multiple years.
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Noncontrolling Interests

The Company reports noncontrolling interests of subsidiaries within equity in the balance sheet and the amount of consolidated net
income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest is presented in the statement of operations. Also, changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries in which the Company maintains a controlling interest are recorded in equity.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“ASC 606”). Sales, value add, and other taxes, when collected concurrently with revenue producing activities, are excluded
from revenue. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when the amortization period of the asset is one year or less. To the
extent the incremental costs of obtaining a contract relate to a period greater than one year, the Company amortizes such incremental costs
in a manner that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. If, at contract inception,
we determine the time period between when we transfer a promised good or service to a customer and when the customer pays us for that
good or service is one year or less, we do not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing
component.

Our customers generally pay for services in advance of the performance obligation and therefore these prepayments are recorded
as deferred revenue. The deferred revenue is recognized as revenue in our consolidated statement of operations as the services are provided.

Significant portions of the transaction prices related to undelivered performance obligations that are under contractual
arrangements that extend beyond one year. The Company anticipates recognizing revenue from the delivery of such performance
obligations of approximately $2,661 million in 2025, $2,438 million in 2026, $7,243 million in 2027 through 2031, and $2,018 million
thereafter. We have not included any amounts in the undelivered performance obligations amounts for those performance obligations that
relate to a contract with an original expected duration of one year or less.

Formula 1

The following table disaggregates Formula 1’s revenue by source:

Years ended December 31

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Primary $ 2,757 2,560 2,107
Other 654 662 466
Total Formula 1 revenue $ 3,411 3,222 2,573

Upon entering into a new arrangement, Formula 1 occasionally incurs certain incremental costs of obtaining a contract. These
incremental costs relate to commission amounts that will be paid over the life of the contract for which the recipient does not have any
substantive future performance requirement to earn such commission. Accordingly, the commission costs are capitalized and amortized
over the life of the contract.
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The following is a description of principal activities from which Formula 1 generates its revenue.

Primary revenue. Formula 1 holds exclusive commercial rights with respect to the World Championship, an annual,
approximately nine-month long, motor race-based competition in which teams compete for the Constructors’ Championship and drivers
compete for the Drivers’ Championship. Formula 1 derives its primary revenue from the commercial exploitation and development of the
World Championship through a combination of race promotion, broadcasting and sponsorship arrangements. Primary revenue derived from
the commercial exploitation of the World Championship is (i) recognized on an event by event basis for those performance obligations
associated with a specific event based on the fees within the underlying contractual arrangement and (ii) recognized over time for those
performance obligations associated with a period of time that is greater than a single specific event (for example, over the entire race season
or calendar year) based on the fees within the underlying contractual arrangement.

Other revenue. Formula 1 earns other revenue from miscellaneous and ancillary sources, primarily related to facilitating the
shipment of cars and equipment to and from the events outside of Europe, revenue from the sale of tickets to the Paddock Club at most
events, support races at events, various television production activities and other ancillary operations. To the extent such revenue relates to
services provided or rights associated with a specific event, the revenue is recognized upon occurrence of the related event and to the extent
such revenue relates to services provided or rights over a longer period of time, the revenue is recognized over time.

QuintEvents

QuintEvents recognized $340 million of revenue during the year ended December 31, 2024. QuintEvents generates revenue
through ticket sales, event package sales and commissions as an agent/re-seller for event packages. Revenue from ticket sales and event
package sales is recognized as the events occur. QuintEvents acts as the principal for its ticket sales as it purchases allotments of tickets and
bears the risk of loss.

Braves Holdings

The following table disaggregates Braves Holdings’ revenue by source:

Years ended December 31

2023 2022
amounts in millions
Baseball $ 318 535
Mixed-Use Development 32 53
Total Braves Holdings revenue $ 350 588

Braves Holdings is required to estimate the entire transaction price of its contractual arrangements and recognize revenue allocated
to each of the performance obligations within the contractual arrangements as those performance obligations are satisfied. Such
performance obligations are typically satisfied over time and result in differences between revenue recognized and cash received, dependent
on how far into a contractual arrangement Braves Holdings is at any given reporting period.

The following is a description of principal activities from which Braves Holdings generates its revenue.
Baseball revenue. Revenue for Braves Holdings ticket sales, signage and suites are recognized on a per game basis during the

baseball season based on a pro rata share of total revenue earned during the entire baseball season to the total number of home games
during the season. Broadcasting rights are recognized on a per game basis during the baseball
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season based on the pro rata number of games played to date to the total number of games during the season. Concession and parking
revenue are recognized on a per game basis during the baseball season. Major League Baseball (“MLB”) revenue is earned throughout the
year based on an estimate of revenue generated by MLB on behalf of the 30 MLB clubs. Sources of MLB revenue primarily include the
Major League Central Fund and distributions from various licensing agreements.

Mixed-Use Development revenue. Revenue from Braves Holdings’ minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the terms of their respective lease agreements. Some retail tenants are required to pay overage rents based on sales over a stated base
amount during the lease term. Overage rents are only recognized when each tenant’s sales exceed the applicable sales threshold. Tenants
reimburse Braves Holdings for a substantial portion of Braves Holdings operating expenses, including common area maintenance, real
estate taxes and property insurance. Braves Holdings accrues reimbursements from tenants for recoverable portions of all these expenses as
revenue in the period the applicable expenditures are incurred. Braves Holdings recognizes differences between estimated recoveries and
the final billed amounts in the subsequent year. These differences were not material in any period presented. Sponsorship revenue is
recognized on a straight-line basis over each annual period. Parking revenue is recognized daily based on actual usage.

Cost of Formula 1 Revenue

Cost of Formula 1 revenue consists of team payments, costs of promoting, organizing and delivering the Las Vegas Grand Prix,
hospitality costs, which are principally related to catering and other aspects of the production and delivery of hospitality offerings at the Las
Vegas Grand Prix and the Paddock Club at other Events, and costs incurred in the provision and sale of freight, travel and logistical
services. Other costs of Formula 1 revenue also include sponsorship and digital product sales’ commissions, circuit rights’ fees payable
under various agreements with race promoters to acquire certain commercial rights at Events, including the right to sell advertising,
hospitality and support race opportunities, annual Federation Internationale de I’Automobile (“FIA”) regulatory fees, Formula 2 and
Formula 3 cars, parts and maintenance services, costs related to the new F1 Academy series, television production and post-production
services, advertising production services and digital and social media activities. These costs are largely variable in nature and typically
relate directly to revenue opportunities.

Advertising Costs

Advertising expense aggregated $34 million, $28 million and $24 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, and is reflected in the selling, general and administrative expenses line in our consolidated statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation

As more fully described in note 13, Liberty has granted to its directors, employees and employees of its subsidiaries restricted
stock (“RSAs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and options to purchase shares of Liberty common stock (collectively, “Awards”). The
Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an Award based on the grant-date fair value of the Award, and
recognizes that cost over the period during which the employee is required to provide service (usually the vesting period of the Award).
Stock-based compensation, included in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations, was $34 million, $29 million and $28 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying value amounts and income tax bases of
assets and liabilities and the expected benefits of utilizing net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The deferred tax assets and
liabilities are calculated using enacted tax rates in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which the Company operates for the year in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Net deferred tax assets are then reduced by a valuation allowance if the
Company believes it more likely than not such net deferred tax assets will not be realized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
an enacted change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

When the tax law requires interest to be paid on an underpayment of income taxes, the Company recognizes interest expense from
the first period the interest would begin accruing according to the relevant tax law. Such interest expense is included in interest expense in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Any accrual of penalties related to underpayment of income taxes on uncertain tax
positions is included in other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Earnings Attributable to Liberty Stockholders Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding (“WASQO”) for the period. Diluted EPS presents the dilutive effect on a per share basis of potential common
shares as if they had been converted at the beginning of the periods presented, including any necessary adjustments to earnings (loss)
attributable to shareholders.
Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Formula One Common Stock

The basic and diluted EPS calculations are based on the following WASO. Excluded from diluted EPS for the years ended

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are 4 million, 4 million and 6 million potentially dilutive shares of Liberty Formula One common
stock, respectively, because their inclusion would be antidilutive.

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
number of shares in millions
Basic WASO 240 234 233
Potentially dilutive shares (a) 3 6 11
Diluted WASO (b) 243 240 244

(a) Potentially dilutive shares are excluded from the computation of diluted EPS during periods in which net losses attributable to the
Formula One Group are reported since the result would be antidilutive.

(b) As described in note 3, the Liberty SiriusXM Group’s intergroup interest in the Formula One Group was settled and extinguished on
July 12, 2023. The intergroup interest was a quasi-equity interest which was not represented by outstanding shares of common stock;
rather, the Liberty SiriusXM Group had an attributed value in the Formula One Group which was generally stated in terms of a number
of shares of stock issuable to the Liberty SiriusXM Group with respect to its interest in the Formula One Group. Each reporting period,
the notional shares representing the intergroup interest were marked to fair value. As the notional shares underlying the intergroup
interest were not represented by outstanding shares of common stock, such shares had not been officially designated Series A, B or C
Liberty Formula One common stock. However, Liberty assumed that the notional shares (if and when issued) would
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be comprised of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock since Series A Liberty Formula One common stock was underlying the
1.375% Cash Convertible Senior Notes due 2023. Therefore, the market price of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock was
used for the quarterly mark-to-market adjustment through the unaudited attributed consolidated statements of operations. The notional
shares representing the intergroup interest had no impact on the basic WASO. However, if dilutive, the notional shares representing the
intergroup interest were included in the diluted WASO as if the shares had been issued and outstanding during the period. For periods
in which share settlement of the intergroup interest was dilutive, an adjustment was also made to the numerator in the diluted earnings
per share calculation for the unrealized gain or loss incurred from marking the intergroup interest to fair value during the period.

For periods in which share settlement of the 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027, which may be settled in shares of Series C
Liberty Formula One common stock, is dilutive, the numerator adjustment includes a reversal of the interest expense and the
unrealized gain or loss recorded on the instrument during the period, net of tax where appropriate.

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

amounts in millions
Basic earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty Formula One

stockholders $ (30) 185 558
Adjustments — (37) (34)

Diluted earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty Formula One

stockholders $ (30) 148 524

Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Live Common Stock

The basic and diluted EPS calculations are based on the following WASO. Excluded from diluted EPS for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and the period from August 3, 2023 to December 31, 2023 are 1 million and 1 million potentially dilutive shares of
Liberty Live common stock, respectively, because their inclusion would be antidilutive.

Year ended August 4, 2023 to
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
number of shares in millions
Basic WASO 92 92
Potentially dilutive shares (a) — _
Diluted WASO 92 92

(a) Potentially dilutive shares are excluded from the computation of diluted EPS during periods in which net losses attributable to the
Liberty Live Group are reported since the result would be antidilutive.
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Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty SiriusXM Common Stock
The basic and diluted EPS calculations are based on the following WASO. Excluded from diluted EPS for the period from January

1, 2024 to September 9, 2024 and the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are 18 million, 26 million and 25 million potentially
dilutive shares of Liberty SiriusXM common stock, respectively, because their inclusion would be antidilutive.

January 1, 2024 to Years ended December 31,
September 9, 2024 2023 2022
number of shares in millions
Basic WASO 327 327 328
Potentially dilutive shares (a) 13 16 17
Diluted WASO (b) 340 343 345

(a) Potentially dilutive shares are excluded from the computation of diluted EPS during periods in which net losses attributable to the
Liberty SiriusXM Group are reported since the result would be antidilutive.

(b) For periods in which share settlement of the 2.125% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2048 and 2.75% Exchangeable Senior
Debentures due 2049, which could have been settled in shares of Series C Liberty SiriusXM common stock, and 3.75% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2028, which could have been settled in shares of Series A Liberty SiriusXM common stock, were dilutive, the
numerator adjustment includes a reversal of the interest expense and the unrealized gain or loss recorded on the instruments during the
period, net of tax where appropriate. The settlement of the 2.125% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2048 changed to solely cash,
pursuant to a supplemental indenture entered into during February 2023. Accordingly, the impact of share settlement of the 2.125%
Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2048 was considered for purposes of calculating diluted WASO prior to the execution of the
supplemental indenture.

January 1, 2024 to Years ended December 31,
S ber 9, 2024 2023 2022

P

amounts in millions
Basic earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable

to Liberty SiriusXM stockholders $ (2,002) 784 910
Adjustments (93) 1 (31)

Diluted earnings (loss) from discontinued operations

attributable to Liberty SiriusXM stockholders $ (2,095) 785 879
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Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Braves Common Stock

The basic and diluted EPS calculations are based on the following WASO. Excluded from diluted EPS for the period from January

1, 2023 to July 18, 2023 and the year ended December 31, 2022 are 7 million and 10 million potentially dilutive shares of Liberty Braves
common stock, respectively, because their inclusion would be antidilutive.

January 1, 2023 to Year ended
July 18, 2023 December 31, 2022
number of shares in millions
Basic WASO 53 53
Potentially dilutive shares (a) 1 —
Diluted WASO (b) 54 53
(a) Potentially dilutive shares are excluded from the computation of diluted EPS during periods in which net losses attributable to the

(b)

Braves Group are reported since the result would be antidilutive.

As described in note 3, the intergroup interests in the Braves Group held by the Formula One Group and the Liberty SiriusXM Group
were settled and extinguished in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off. The intergroup interests were quasi-equity
interests that were not represented by outstanding shares of common stock; rather, the Formula One Group and the Liberty SiriusXM
Group had attributed values in the Braves Group which are generally stated in terms of a number of shares of stock issuable to the
Formula One Group and the Liberty SiriusXM Group with respect to their interests in the Braves Group. Each reporting period, the
notional shares representing the intergroup interests were marked to fair value. As the notional shares underlying the intergroup
interests were not represented by outstanding shares of common stock, such shares had not been officially designated Series A, B or C
Liberty Braves common stock. However, Liberty assumed that the notional shares (if and when issued) related to the Formula One
Group interest in the Braves Group would be comprised of Series C Liberty Braves common stock in order to not dilute voting
percentages and the notional shares (if and when issued) related to the Liberty SiriusXM Group interest in the Braves Group would be
comprised of Series A Liberty Braves common stock since Series A Liberty Braves common stock was underlying the Convertible
Notes. Therefore, the market prices of Series C Liberty Braves and Series A Liberty Braves common stock were historically used for
the quarterly mark-to-market adjustment for the intergroup interests held by Formula One Group and Liberty SiriusXM Group,
respectively, through the unaudited attributed consolidated statements of operations. During the second quarter of 2023, Liberty
determined that, in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock
would be used to settle and extinguish the intergroup interest in the Braves Group attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group. Following
such determination, the market price of Series C Liberty Braves common stock was used for the mark-to-market adjustment for the
intergroup interest held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

The notional shares representing the intergroup interests had no impact on the basic WASO. However, if dilutive, the notional shares
representing the intergroup interests were included in the diluted WASO as if the shares had been issued and outstanding during the
period. For periods in which share settlement of the intergroup interests were dilutive, an adjustment was also made to the numerator in
the diluted earnings per share calculation for the unrealized gain or loss incurred from marking the intergroup interests to fair value
during the period.

11-47




Table of Contents

LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

January 1, 2023 to Year ended
July 18, 2023 December 31, 2022
amounts in millions
Basic earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty Braves stockholders $ (111) (35)
Adjustments — —
Diluted earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty Braves stockholders $ (111) (35)

Reclasses and Adjustments
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified for comparability with the current year presentation.
Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The Company considers (i) fair value measurement of non-financial instruments and (ii) accounting for income taxes to be its most
significant estimates.

The Company holds investments that are accounted for using the equity method. The Company does not control the decision
making process or business management practices of these affiliates. Accordingly, the Company relies on management of these affiliates to
provide it with accurate financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP that the Company uses in the application of the equity
method. In addition, the Company relies on audit reports that are provided by the affiliates’ independent auditors on the financial statements
of such affiliates. The Company is not aware, however, of any errors in or possible misstatements of the financial information provided by
its equity affiliates that would have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-07,
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”), which is intended to improve reportable segment disclosure
requirements, primarily through additional disclosures about significant segment expenses. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company adopted
ASU 2023-07 for the year ended December 31, 2024 and applied it retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU
2023-09”), which requires more detailed income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires entities to disclose disaggregated information about
their effective tax rate reconciliation as well as expanded information on income taxes paid by jurisdiction. The disclosure requirements
will be applied on a prospective basis, with the option to apply them retrospectively. ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is in the process of evaluating the disclosure requirements related to
ASU 2023-09.
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In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive

Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which expands

disclosures about specific expense categories at interim and annual reporting periods. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The

Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of the new standard on the related disclosures.

(5) Supplemental Disclosures to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

Cash paid for acquisitions:
Fair value of assets acquired $ 59 — —
Intangibles not subject to amortization 252 — —
Intangibles subject to amortization 113 — —
Net liabilities assumed (198) — —
Deferred tax liabilities (21 — —
Cash paid (received) for acquisitions, net of cash acquired $ 205 — —
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 218 231 169
Cash paid for income taxes, net $ 121 159 101

The following table reconciles cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported in our consolidated balance sheets to the total

amount presented in our consolidated statements of cash flows:

December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2956 1,713 1,884
Cash and cash equivalents included in current assets of discontinued operations — 306 362
Restricted cash included in other current assets 7 — 22
Restricted cash included in noncurrent assets of discontinued operations — 9 8
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 2963 2,028 2,276

(6) Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

For assets and liabilities required to be reported at fair value, GAAP provides a hierarchy that prioritizes inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted market
prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability. The Company does not have any recurring assets or liabilities measured at fair value that would be

considered Level 3.
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Liberty’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value are as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Quoted prices Significant other Quoted prices Significant other

in active markets observable in active markets observable

for identical assets inputs for identical assets inputs
Description Total (Level 1) (Level 2) Total (Level 1) (Level 2)

amounts in millions

Cash equivalents $ 2,466 2,466 — 1,053 1,053 —
Debt and equity securities $ — — — 113 113 —
Financial instrument assets § 167 84 83 88 64 24
Debt $ 2,144 — 2,144 1,797 — 1,797
Financial instrument liabilities § 138 — 138 13 — 13

The majority of Liberty’s Level 2 financial instruments are debt related instruments and derivative instruments, which include
foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps. These assets and liabilities are not always traded publicly or not considered to be
traded on “active markets,” as defined in GAAP. The fair values for such instruments are derived from a typical model using observable
market data as the significant inputs or a trading price of a similar asset or liability is utilized. The fair value of debt related instruments are
based on quoted market prices but not considered to be traded on “active markets,” as defined by GAAP. Accordingly, those debt and equity
securities, financial instruments and debt or debt related instruments are reported in the foregoing table as Level 2 fair value. Debt and
equity securities included in the table above are included in the Other assets line item in the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31,
2024, $27 million and $142 million of financial instrument assets included in the table above are included in the other current assets and
other assets line items, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2023, financial instrument assets included in the
table above are included in the Other assets line item in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2023, $5 million of financial
instrument liabilities included in the table above are included in the Other liabilities line item in the consolidated balance sheet.

Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Financial Instruments, net

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments, net are comprised of changes in the fair value of the following
(amounts in millions):

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Debt measured at fair value (a) $ (339) (224) 396
Foreign currency forward contracts (138) — —
Interest rate swaps 103 28 121
Debt and equity securities 5) 27 7
Other (4) 2 14
$ (383) (167) 524

(a) The Company elected to account for its exchangeable senior debentures and convertible notes (as described in note 9) using the fair
value option. Changes in the fair value of the exchangeable senior debentures and convertible notes recognized in the consolidated
statements of operations are primarily due to market factors primarily driven by changes in the fair value of the underlying shares into
which the debt is exchangeable. The Company isolates the portion of the unrealized gain (loss) attributable to changes in the instrument
specific credit risk and recognizes such
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amount in other comprehensive earnings (loss). The change in the fair value of the exchangeable senior debentures and cash
convertible notes attributable to changes in the instrument specific credit risk was a loss of $84 million, gain of $24 million and loss of
$30 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company recognized $2 million of previously unrecognized losses related to the retirement of the 0.5% Exchangeable Senior
Debentures due 2050, which was recognized through other, net in the consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $27 million of previously unrecognized losses related to the retirement of the 1% Cash
Convertible Notes due 2023 and the 0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050, which was recognized through other, net in the
consolidated statements of operations. The cumulative change since issuance was a gain of $51 million as of December 31, 2024, net

of the recognition of previously unrecognized gains and losses.

(7) Investments in Affiliates Accounted for Using the Equity Method

Liberty has various investments accounted for using the equity method. The following table includes the Company’s carrying
amount and percentage ownership and market value (Level 1) of the more significant investments in affiliates at December 31, 2024, and

the carrying amount at December 31, 2023:

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

Percentage
ownership

Fair Value Carrying
(Level 1) amount

Formula One Group
Other various
Total Formula One Group

Liberty Live Group
Live Nation 30%

Other
Total Liberty Live Group

Consolidated Liberty

1I-51

dollar amounts in millions

NA § 33 41

33 41

$ 9,019 430 307
NA 28 26

458 333

$ 491 374
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The following table presents the Company’s share of earnings (losses) of affiliates:

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

amounts in millions

Formula One Group

Other (a) $ 10) “ —
Total Formula One Group (10) “) -
Liberty Live Group
Live Nation (a) 236 21 NA
Other (a) 2 1 NA
Total Liberty Live Group 238 22 NA

Liberty SiriusXM Group

Live Nation (a) NA 127 72
Total Liberty SiritusXM Group NA 127 72
Braves Group
Other NA 12 32
Total Braves Group NA 12 32
Consolidated Liberty $ 228 157 104

(a) Liberty’s interests in Live Nation and certain other equity affiliates were reattributed to the Liberty Live Group effective August 3,
2023. Liberty’s share of earnings (losses) related to these affiliates were reflected in the results of the Liberty SiriusXM Group and the
Formula One Group prior to the Reclassification and are reflected in the results of the Liberty Live Group following the
Reclassification.

Live Nation

Live Nation is considered the world’s leading live entertainment company and seeks to innovate and enhance the live
entertainment experience for artists and fans before, during and after the show.

See note 9 for details regarding the number and fair value of Live Nation common stock pledged as collateral pursuant to the
margin loan secured by shares of Live Nation (“Live Nation Margin Loan”) as of December 31, 2024.
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Summarized financial information for Live Nation is as follows:

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2024 2023
amounts in millions
Current assets $ 9,290 9,533
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,442 2,101
Intangible assets 1,366 1,539
Goodwill 2,621 2,691
Other assets 3,920 3,166
Total assets $ 19,639 19,030
Current liabilities $ 9,358 9,984
Long-term debt, net 6,177 5,459
Other liabilities 2,159 2,175
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 1,126 860
Equity 819 552
Total liabilities and equity $ 19,639 19,030

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Revenue $ 23,156 22,726 16,681
Operating expenses:
Direct operating expenses 17,328 17,251 12,348
Selling, general and administrative expenses 4,096 3,557 2,956
Depreciation and amortization 550 517 450
Other operating expenses 357 316 205
22,331 21,641 15,959
Operating income (loss) 825 1,085 722
Interest expense (326) (350) (278)
Other income (expense), net 240 178 46
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 739 913 490
Income tax (expense) benefit 392 (209) (116)
Net earnings (loss) 1,131 704 374
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 235 147 108
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Live Nation stockholders $ 896 557 266
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(8) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

Formula 1 Other Total
amounts in millions
Balance at January 1, 2023 $ 3,956 176 4,132
Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off — (176) (176)
Balance at December 31, 2023 3,956 — 3,956
Acquisition of QuintEvents — 252 252
Impairments — (73) (73)
Other — €8] (1)
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 3,956 178 4,134
Intangible Assets Subject to Amortization
Intangible assets subject to amortization are comprised of the following:
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Gross Net Gross Net
carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying
amount amortization t amount amortization amount
amounts in millions
FIA Agreement $ 3,630 (1,473) 2,157 3,630 (1,304) 2,326
Customer relationships 1,854 (1,441) 413 1,854 (1,349) 505
Other 381 (262) 119 255 (228) 27
Total $ 5,865 (3,176) 2,689 5,739 (2,881) 2,858

The FIA Agreement is amortized over 35 years and customer relationships are amortized over 20 years. Amortization expense was
$290 million, $327 million and $360 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Based on its amortizable
intangible assets as of December 31, 2024, Liberty expects that amortization expense will be as follows for the next five years (amounts in

millions):

2025
2026
2027
2028
2029

Impairments

@ Ph L L

249
237
221
203
186

The Company performed a quantitative analysis of QuintEvents during the fourth quarter of 2024. Based on near-term business
trends and their impact on long-term assumptions, we concluded that the estimated fair value of QuintEvents was less than its carrying

value. As a result, QuintEvents recognized a goodwill impairment loss of $73 million during the
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year ended December 31, 2024. The fair value was determined using a discounted cash flow (income approach) calculation (Level 3). Due
to the goodwill impairment loss recorded, the carrying value of QuintEvents approximates its estimated fair value as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, accumulated goodwill impairment losses for Liberty totaled $73 million and related entirely to
QuintEvents, which is included in “Corporate and Other.”

(9) Debt
Debt is summarized as follows:

Outstanding Carrying value
Principal D ber 31, D ber 31,
December 31, 2024 2024 2023
amounts in millions

Formula One Group
Corporate level notes and loans:

2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027 (1) $ 475 588 480
Other 53 53 58
Subsidiary notes and loans:
Formula 1 Senior Loan Facilities 2,380 2,357 2,377
Deferred financing costs (6) 9)
Total Formula One Group 2,908 2,992 2,906
Liberty Live Group

Corporate level notes and loans:
0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050 (1)

— — 69

2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053 (1) 1,150 1,556 1,248
Live Nation Margin Loan = =
Total Liberty Live Group 1,150 1,556 1,317
Total debt $ 4,058 4,548 4,223
Debt classified as current (26) (106)
Total long-term debt $ 4,522 4,117

(1) Measured at fair value
2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027

On August 12, 2022, Liberty issued $475 million convertible notes at an interest rate of 2.25% per annum, which, at Liberty’s
election, are convertible into cash, shares of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock or a combination of cash and shares of Series C
Liberty Formula One common stock and mature on August 15, 2027. As of December 31, 2024, the conversion rate for the notes is
approximately 12.0505 shares of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes, equivalent to a
conversion price of approximately $82.98 per share of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock. The notes are attributed to the
Formula One Group. Liberty has elected to account for the notes using the fair value option. See note 6 for information related to unrealized
gains (losses) on debt measured at fair value.

0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050

In November 2020, Liberty closed a private offering of approximately $920 million aggregate principal amount of its 0.5%
exchangeable senior debentures due 2050 (the “0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050”). The number
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of shares of Live Nation common stock attributable to a debenture represented an initial exchange price of approximately $90.10 per share.
Interest was payable quarterly on March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 of each year. On August 3, 2023, in connection with the
Reclassification, as described in note 3, the debentures were reattributed from the Liberty SiriusXM Group to the Liberty Live Group.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, Liberty paid approximately $918 million to repurchase $858 million aggregate principal amount
of the debentures. Holders of the debentures had the right to require Liberty to purchase their debentures on September 1, 2024. In August
2024, Liberty issued a redemption notice for all of its 0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050. Any debentures that were not so
purchased or properly surrendered for exchange were redeemed in full on September 1, 2024. Settlement of any debentures properly
surrendered for exchange was completed in October 2024. Pursuant to a supplemental indenture entered into in July 2024, Liberty delivered
cash to satisfy its exchange obligations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Liberty paid approximately $71 million to settle the
remaining 0.5% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2050. Liberty elected to account for the debentures using the fair value option. See
note 6 for information related to unrealized gains (losses) on debt measured at fair value.

2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053

In September 2023, Liberty closed a private offering of approximately $1.15 billion aggregate principal amount of its 2.375%
exchangeable senior debentures due 2053 (the “2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053”). Upon an exchange of debentures,
Liberty, at its option, may deliver Live Nation common stock, cash or a combination of Live Nation common stock and/or cash. The
number of shares of Live Nation common stock attributable to a debenture represents an initial exchange price of approximately $104.91
per share. A total of approximately 11 million shares of Live Nation common stock are attributable to the debentures. Interest is payable
quarterly in arrears on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year. The debentures may be redeemed by Liberty, in
whole or in part, on or after September 30, 2028. Holders of the debentures also have the right to require Liberty to purchase their
debentures on September 30, 2028. The redemption and purchase price will generally equal 100% of the adjusted principal amount of the
debentures plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, plus any final period distribution. The debentures are attributed to the
Liberty Live Group. Liberty elected to account for the debentures using the fair value option. See note 6 for information related to
unrealized gains (losses) on debt measured at fair value.

Live Nation Margin Loan

On May 9, 2022, the Live Nation Margin Loan agreement was amended, replacing a delayed draw term loan with a $400 million
revolving line of credit, changing the interest rate to the Adjusted Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus Term SOFR
Adjustment (0.1%) plus 2.0% and extending the maturity to May 9, 2025. On September 5, 2023, the Live Nation Margin Loan agreement
was amended to, among other things, extend the maturity date to September 9, 2026 and change the interest rate to Term SOFR plus 2%.
The undrawn portion carries a commitment fee of 0.50% per annum. Interest on the margin loan is payable on the last business day of each
calendar quarter. As of December 31, 2024, availability under the Live Nation Margin Loan was $400 million. As of December 31, 2024,
9.0 million shares of the Company’s Live Nation common stock with a value of $1,162 million were pledged as collateral to the loan. The
Live Nation Margin Loan contains various affirmative and negative covenants that restrict the activities of the borrower. The loan
agreement does not include any financial covenants. On August 3, 2023, in connection with the Reclassification, as described in note 3, the
Live Nation Margin Loan was reattributed from the Liberty SiriusXM Group to the Liberty Live Group.

Formula 1 Loans
On November 23, 2022, Formula 1 refinanced its previous Term Loan B and revolving credit facility with a new $725 million first

lien Term Loan A, a refinanced $1.7 billion Term Loan B and a new $500 million revolving credit facility. On September 19, 2024,
Formula 1 refinanced the Term Loan B with a new $1.7 billion Term Loan B and extended
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the maturities of the approximately $689 million Term Loan A and the $500 million revolving credit facility (collectively, the “Senior Loan
Facilities”). The Term Loan A and revolving credit facility mature on September 30, 2029 and the Term Loan B matures on September 30,
2031. As of December 31, 2024, there were no outstanding borrowings under the $500 million revolving credit facility. The margin for the
Term Loan B, originally set at 3.25%, stepped down to 3.00% effective May 5, 2023, after a certain leverage test was met as of March 31,
2023. Formula 1 repriced the Term Loan B on October 4, 2023, reducing the margin to 2.25%. On September 19, 2024, the margin for the
Term Loan B was reduced to 2.0%, with the potential to permanently step down to 1.75% if a certain leverage test is met on or after the
earlier of the acquisition of Dorna or the termination of the Dorna acquisition. The margin for the Term Loan A and revolving credit facility
is between 1.50% and 2.25% depending on leverage ratios, amongst other things, and was fixed at 1.75% for the first year and reduced to
1.5% effective November 24, 2023. The reference rate for the Term Loan A, Term Loan B and dollar borrowings under the revolving credit
facility is Term SOFR. The weighted average interest rate on the Senior Loan Facilities was approximately 6.19% and 7.38% as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Senior Loan Facilities remain non-recourse to Liberty. The Senior Loan Facilities are
secured by share pledges and floating charges over Formula 1’s primary operating companies with certain cross guarantees. Additionally, in
order to manage the interest rate risk of its $2.4 billion Senior Loan Facilities, Formula 1 had $2.2 billion of interest rate swaps as of
December 31, 2024, with a termination date in September 2031 and an early termination date in September 2029, at the option of the
counterparty.

In connection with the September 19, 2024 refinancing, Formula 1 also marketed an incremental $850 million of Term Loan B
funding, which is in addition to an incremental $150 million of commitments to the newly extended Term Loan A obtained in April 2024
(collectively, the “Incremental Term Loans”). The Incremental Term loans will be used to fund a portion of the Dorna acquisition, as
described in note 1. The funding of the Incremental Term Loans are conditioned upon the scheduled consummation of the Dorna
acquisition.

Debt Covenants

The Formula 1 Senior Loan Facilities contain certain financial covenants, including a leverage ratio. Additionally, Formula 1 debt
and other borrowings contain certain non-financial covenants.

Fair Value of Debt

Due to the variable rate nature of the Live Nation Margin Loan and other debt, the Company believes that the carrying amount
approximates fair value at December 31, 2024.

Five Year Maturities

The annual principal maturities of outstanding debt obligations for each of the next five years is as follows (amounts in millions):

2025 $ 32
2026 $ 40
2027 $ 540
2028 $ 62
2029 $ 518
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(10) Income Taxes

Income tax benefit (expense) consists of:

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

amounts in millions

Current:
Federal $ 42 32 78
State and local 6 1 )
Foreign (58) @4 (24)
(10) 8) 52
Deferred:
Federal (1) (12) (171)
State and local 1 (1) 9)
Foreign (29) 22 330
(29) 9 150
Income tax benefit (expense) $ (39 1 202

The following table presents a summary of our domestic and foreign earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes:

Years ended December 31

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Domestic S (468)  (299) 479
Foreign 444 274 228
Total $ (24) (25) 707
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Expected income tax benefit (expense) differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21% for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 as a result of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

Computed expected tax benefit (expense) $ 5 5 (148)
State and local income taxes, net of federal income taxes 6 1 )
Foreign income taxes, net of foreign tax credit 15 3 22
Change in valuation allowance affecting tax expense 2) 5 338
Stock-based compensation 16 6 11
Non-deductible executive compensation (11) 3) (6)
Non-taxable gain / (non-deductible loss) (49) 3) 3
Foreign currency adjustments — 25 —
Non-deductible interest 7 (6) 4)
Capitalized transaction costs 7 3) 2)
Intergroup interest — (14) 4
Other, net 5 5 7

Income tax benefit (expense) $ (39 1 202

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized income tax expense instead of a tax benefit at the expected
federal rate of 21% primarily due to certain losses that are not deductible for tax purposes and non-deductible executive compensation,
partially offset by tax benefits related to stock-based compensation and earnings in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates lower than the 21%
U.S. federal rate.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized a tax benefit less than the expected federal rate of 21% primarily
due to intergroup interest losses that are not deductible for tax purposes and certain other non-deductible expenses, partially offset by a tax
benefit related to foreign currency adjustments on certain U.K. deferred tax assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized a tax benefit instead of a tax expense at the expected federal rate

of 21% primarily due to a decrease in our valuation allowance and earnings in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates lower than the 21% U.S.
federal rate.
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred income tax assets and deferred income
tax liabilities are presented below:

December 31,
2024 2023

amounts in millions
Deferred tax assets:

Tax loss and credit carryforwards $ 628 687
Other accrued liabilities 14 15
Investments 103 123
Intangible assets 12 2
Accrued stock compensation 7 10
Discount on debt 86 22
Deferred tax assets 850 859
Valuation allowance (10) @)
Net deferred tax assets 840 851
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets 80 79
Deferred tax liabilities 80 79
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 760 772

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there was a $2 million increase in the Company’s valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2024, the Company had a deferred tax asset of $628 million for federal, state and foreign net operating losses
(“NOLs”) and interest expense carryforwards. Of this amount, the Company has $11 million of federal NOLs, $2 million of state NOLs,
$30 million of federal interest expense carryforwards, $274 million of foreign NOLs and $311 million of foreign interest expense
carryforwards that may be carried forward indefinitely. These losses and interest carryforwards are expected to be utilized prior to
expiration, except for $10 million, which, based on current projections, will not be utilized in the future and are subject to a valuation
allowance.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had not recorded tax reserves related to unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain tax
positions.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s tax years prior to 2021 are closed for federal income tax purposes. The Company’s 2021
tax year is not under audit, but remains open until the statute of limitations lapses on October 15, 2025. The IRS has completed its
examination of the Company’s 2022 tax year. However, 2022 remains open until the statute of limitations lapses on October 15, 2026. The
Company’s 2023 and 2024 tax years are currently under examination as part of the IRS Compliance Assurance Process program. Various
states are currently examining the Company’s prior years’ state income tax returns. We do not expect the ultimate disposition of these audits
to have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

(11) Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock
Liberty’s preferred stock is issuable, from time to time, with such designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or

other rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated and expressed in
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a resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such preferred stock adopted by the Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2024, no
shares of preferred stock were issued.

Common Stock

Series A Liberty Formula One and Liberty Live common stock have one vote per share, Series B Liberty Formula One and Liberty
Live common stock have ten votes per share and Series C Liberty Formula One and Liberty Live common stock have no votes per share
except as otherwise required by Delaware law. Each share of Series B common stock is exchangeable at the option of the holder for one
share of Series A common stock of the same group. All series of our common stock participate on an equal basis with respect to dividends
and distributions.

Issuance of Common Stock

On August 22, 2024, the Company issued approximately 12.2 million shares of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock at an
offering price of $77.50 per share, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $949 million. The Company expects to use the net proceeds
of the offering to partially fund the acquisition of Dorna and for general corporate purposes.

Purchases of Common Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company repurchased 3.5 million shares of Series A Liberty SiriusXM common
stock for aggregate cash consideration of $161 million, 4.5 million shares of Series C Liberty SiriusXM common stock for aggregate cash
consideration of $197 million and 0.7 million shares of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock for aggregate cash consideration of
$37 million under the authorized repurchase program. All of the foregoing shares obtained have been retired and returned to the status of
authorized and available for issuance. There were no repurchases of Series A Liberty Braves common stock and no repurchases of Series C
Liberty Braves common stock or Liberty Formula One common stock during the year ended December 31, 2022.

There were no repurchases of the Company’s common stock during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
Liberty Media Acquisition Corporation

In November 2020, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Liberty Media Acquisition Sponsor, LLC (the “Sponsor”),
formed Liberty Media Acquisition Corporation (“LMAC”) and ultimately purchased approximately 14.4 million shares of LMAC Series F
common stock (“Founder Shares”). On January 26, 2021, LMAC consummated its initial public offering (“IPO”) of 57.5 million units (the
“Units”), including 7.5 million Units sold pursuant to the full exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment option. Each Unit consisted of one
share of Series A common stock of LMAC and one-fifth of one redeemable warrant of LMAC. The Units were sold at a price of $10.00 per
Unit, generating gross proceeds to LMAC of $575 million, which were placed in a U.S.-based trust account. Substantially concurrent with
the IPO, LMAC completed the private placement of 10 million warrants to the Sponsor, generating gross proceeds of $15 million (“Private
Placement Warrants™).

The Company, through the Sponsor’s ownership of the Founder Shares, owned 20% of LMAC’s issued and outstanding common

stock. The Founder Shares had certain governance rights which allow the Company to control LMAC’s affairs, policies and operations
through the initial business combination and therefore the Company consolidated LMAC post-IPO.
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LMAC'’s Series A common stock, issued as part of the Units in the IPO, had certain provisions which allowed the holder to put
back the stock to LMAC upon an initial business combination at their election. This conditional redemption feature required the Company
to account for those shares that were subject to potential redemption as redeemable noncontrolling interests which required temporary
equity classification (outside of permanent equity).

LMAC employed a broad set of search criteria for potential target business combinations, however, LMAC’s management
observed what it believes were high valuations in 2021, a declining IPO market in 2022, and significant public and private market volatility,
which prevented LMAC from securing an opportunity that it believed would offer a compelling return on investment for its stockholders. In
light of these circumstances, LMAC determined that it was not feasible to complete an initial business combination in advance of the
contractual termination date of January 26, 2023. As a result, on November 14, 2022, stockholders of LMAC approved an amendment to
LMAC’s certificate of incorporation which allowed LMAC to unwind and redeem all of its outstanding public shares prior to December 30,
2022. The redemption was completed during December 2022 and LMAC was subsequently dissolved.

The Company’s interest in LMAC was attributed to the Formula One Group. Transactions and ownership interests with the
Sponsor eliminated upon consolidation.

(12) Related Party Transactions with Officers and Directors
Chief Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements

In December 2019, the Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of Liberty approved a compensation arrangement (the
“former CEO Arrangement”) for our former CEO. Also in December 2019, each of the Service Companies executed an amendment to each
Service Company’s services agreement with Liberty, pursuant to which components of the former CEO’s compensation described below
were either paid directly to the former CEO by each Service Company or reimbursed to Liberty, in each case based on allocations among
Liberty and each of the Service Companies set forth in the service agreement amendments. This allocation percentage was determined
based on a combination of (1) relative market capitalizations, weighted 50%, and (2) a blended average of historical time allocation on a
Liberty-wide and former CEO basis, weighted 50%, in each case, absent agreement to the contrary by Liberty and the Service Companies
in consultation with the former CEO. The allocation percentage was adjusted annually and following certain events. As of December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, the allocation percentage for Liberty was 54%, 54% and 49%, respectively.

The former CEO Arrangement provided for a five year employment term which began on January 1, 2020 and ended December
31, 2024, with the following compensation components: (1) annual base salary of $3 million (with no contracted increase), (2) one-time
cash commitment bonus of $5 million (paid in December 2019), (3) annual target cash performance bonus of $17 million (with payment
subject to the achievement of one or more performance metrics as determined by the applicable company’s Compensation Committee), (4)
upfront equity awards with an aggregate grant date fair value (“GDFV”) of $90 million (granted in two equal tranches in December 2019
and December 2020) and (5) annual equity awards with an annual aggregate GDFV of $17.5 million, consisting of time-vested options
and/or performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”).

On January 6, 2025, the Liberty board of directors approved an offer of employment for Derek Chang, Liberty’s new President and
Chief Executive Officer (the “new CEO”). The new CEO began employment on February 1, 2025, and receives the following
compensation: (1) annual base salary of $2.5 million, (2) one-time signing bonus of $150,000, (3) upfront signing award of Series C RSUs
of Liberty Formula One common stock with a GDFV of $5 million, (4) upfront signing award of Series C RSUs of Liberty Formula One
common stock with a GDFV of $15 million and (5) annual option to purchase shares of Series C Formula One common stock with a GDFV
of $3 million.
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Exchange Agreement with Chairman

On July 28, 2021, the Company entered into an exchange agreement, among the Company, John C. Malone (the Chairman of the
Board of the Company), and a revocable trust of which Mr. Malone is the sole trustee and beneficiary (the “JM Trust”) (the “Exchange
Agreement”), whereby, among other things, Mr. Malone agreed to an arrangement under which his aggregate voting power in the Company
would not exceed 49% (the “Target Voting Power”) plus 0.5% (under certain circumstances).

The Exchange Agreement provides for exchanges by the Company and Mr. Malone or the JM Trust of shares of Series B Liberty
Live common stock or Series B Liberty Formula One common stock for shares of Series C Liberty Live common stock or Series C Liberty
Formula One common stock, respectively, in connection with certain events, including (i) any event that would result in a reduction in the
outstanding votes of any of the Company’s tracking stock groups (each, a “Group”) or an increase of Mr. Malone’s beneficially-owned
voting power in either Group (other than a Voting Power Exchange (as defined below)) (an “Accretive Event”), in each case, such that Mr.
Malone’s voting power with respect to such Group would exceed the Target Voting Power plus 0.5%, (ii) from and after the occurrence of
any Accretive Event, any event that would result in an increase in the outstanding votes of either Group or a decrease of Mr. Malone’s
beneficially-owned voting power in either Group (a “Dilutive Event”), in each case, such that Mr. Malone’s voting power with respect to
such Group falls below the Target Voting Power less 0.5%, or (iii) on a quarterly basis or in connection with any annual or special meeting
of stockholders, upon request by Mr. Malone or the JM Trust, if Mr. Malone’s aggregate voting power in the Company is less than the
Target Voting Power and would continue to be less than the Target Voting Power upon completion of such exchange (a “Voting Power
Exchange”). Additionally, the Exchange Agreement contains certain provisions with respect to fundamental events at the Company,
meaning any combination, consolidation, merger, exchange offer, split-off, spin-off, rights offering or dividend, in each case, as a result of
which holders of Series B common stock of one or more Groups are entitled to receive securities of the Company, securities of another
person, property or cash, or a combination thereof.

In connection with an Accretive Event with respect to a Group, Mr. Malone or the JM Trust will be required to exchange with the
Company shares of Series B common stock of such Group (“Exchanged Group Series B Shares”) for an equal number of shares of Series C
common stock of the same Group so as to maintain Mr. Malone’s voting power with respect to such Group as close as possible to, without
exceeding, the Target Voting Power, on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Agreement. In connection with a Dilutive
Event with respect to a Group, Mr. Malone and the JM Trust may exchange with the Company shares of Series C common stock of a Group
for an equal number of shares of Series B common stock of the same Group equal to the lesser of (i) the number of shares of Series B
common stock of the same Group which would maintain Mr. Malone’s voting power with respect to such Group as close as possible to,
without exceeding, the Target Voting Power and (ii) the number of Exchanged Group Series B Shares at such time, on the terms and subject
to the conditions of the Exchange Agreement. In a Voting Power Exchange, the Company will be required to exchange with Mr. Malone
and the JM Trust shares of Series B common stock of either Group on a one-for-one basis for shares of Series C common stock of the same
Group, with the maximum number of shares of Series B common stock to be delivered to Mr. Malone or the JM Trust equal to the number
of Exchanged Group Series B Shares at such time that may be delivered without resulting in Mr. Malone’s aggregate voting power in the
Company exceeding the Target Voting Power, on the terms and subject to the conditions of the Exchange Agreement.

As of December 31, 2024, there have been no exchanges of the Company’s shares pursuant to the Exchange Agreement.
Chairman’s Employment Agreement
On December 12, 2008, the Committee determined to modify its employment arrangements with Mr. Malone, to permit Mr.

Malone to begin receiving payments in 2009 while he remains employed by the Company (instead of following

11-63




Table of Contents

LIBERTY MEDIA CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022

his termination) in satisfaction of Liberty’s obligations to him under two deferred compensation plans and a salary continuation plan. Under
one of the deferred compensation plans (the “8% Plan”), compensation has been deferred by Mr. Malone since January 1, 1993 and accrues
interest at the rate of 8% per annum compounded annually from the applicable date of deferral. Under the second plan (the “13% Plan”),
compensation was deferred by Mr. Malone from 1982 until December 31, 1992 and accrues interest at the rate of 13% per annum
compounded annually from the applicable date of deferral. The amounts owed to Mr. Malone under the 8% Plan and 13% Plan aggregated
approximately $2.4 million and $20 million, respectively, at December 31, 2008. The amount owed to Mr. Malone under his salary
continuation plan aggregated approximately $39 million at December 31, 2008. Mr. Malone will receive 240 equal monthly installments as
follows, which began on February 1, 2009: (1) approximately $20,000 under the 8% Plan; (2) approximately $237,000 under the 13% Plan;
and (3) approximately $164,000 under the salary continuation plan. Interest ceased to accrue under his salary continuation plan once the
payment began.

(13) Stock-Based Compensation
Liberty—Incentive Plans

Liberty grants Awards to certain of its directors, employees and employees of its subsidiaries. The Company measures the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an equity classified Award (such as stock options and restricted stock) based on the GDFV of
the Award, and recognizes that cost over the period during which the employee is required to provide service (usually the vesting period of
the Award). The Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for a liability classified Award based on the current
fair value of the Award, and remeasures the fair value of the Award at each reporting date.

Pursuant to the Liberty Media Corporation 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”), the Company may grant Awards in
respect of approximately 16.8 million shares of Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Media Corporation common stock plus the shares
remaining available for Awards under the prior Liberty Media Corporation 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”), as of close of
business on May 24, 2022, the effective date of the 2022 Plan. Any forfeited shares from the 2017 Plan shall also be available again under
the 2022 Plan. Awards generally vest over 1-5 years and have a term of 7-10 years. Liberty issues new shares upon exercise of equity
awards.
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Liberty—Grants of Awards

Options granted in 2024, 2023 and 2022 are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Options ‘Weighted Options  Weighted  Options Weighted
granted average granted average granted average

(000's) GDFV__(000's) GDFV___(000's) GDFV

Series C Liberty Formula One common stock, Liberty employees and

directors (1) 20 $ 35.63 246 $§ 25.78 34§ 2394
Series C Liberty Formula One common stock, former CEO (2) — 3 — — 3 — 181 $ 21.31
Series C Liberty Formula One common stock, subsidiary employees (3) 83 § 29.77 71 $ 30.70 8 $ 2131
Series C Liberty Live common stock, Liberty employees and directors (1) 6 $ 2559 74 $ 13.71 NA NA
Series C Liberty Live common stock, former CEO (4) 70 $ 16.07 — 3 — NA NA
Series C Liberty Braves common stock, Liberty employees and directors

(1) NA NA 3§ 1424 10 $ 1240
Series C Liberty Braves common stock, former CEO (2) NA NA — 3 — 95 $ 9.16

(1) Mainly vests between one and three years for employees and in one year for directors.

(2) Grants made in March 2022 cliff vested in December 2022. See discussion in note 12 regarding the compensation agreement with the
Company’s former CEO.

(3) Grants made in 2024, 2023 and 2022 mainly vested in equal quarterly installments over one year.

(4) Grant made in March 2024 cliff vested in December 2024. See discussion in note 12 regarding the compensation agreement with the
Company’s former CEO.

In addition to the stock option grants to the former CEO, and in connection with his employment agreement, the Company granted
PRSUs. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company granted 88 thousand and 81 thousand PRSUs of Series C
common stock of Liberty Formula One, respectively, and 31 thousand PRSUs of Series C common stock of Liberty Braves during the year
ended December 31, 2023 to the former CEO. Such PRSUs had a GDFV of $72.05 per share and $75.12 per share, respectively, and $34.44
per share, and cliff vest one year from the month of grant, subject to the satisfaction of certain performance objectives and based on an
amount determined by the compensation committee. Performance objectives, which are subjective, are considered in determining the
timing and amount of the compensation expense recognized. As the satisfaction of the performance objectives becomes probable, the
Company records compensation expense. The value of the grant is re-measured at each reporting period.

The Company did not grant any options to purchase shares of Series A or Series B Liberty Formula One or Liberty Live common
stock during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Company has calculated the GDFV for all of its equity classified awards using the Black-Scholes Model. The Company
estimates the expected term of the Awards based on historical exercise and forfeiture data. For grants made in 2024, 2023 and 2022, the
range of expected terms was 5.2 to 5.6 years. The volatility used in the calculation for Awards is based on the historical volatility of
Liberty’s stocks and the implied volatility of publicly traded Liberty options, as applicable. The Company uses a zero dividend rate and the
risk-free rate for Treasury Bonds with a term similar to that of the subject options.
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The following table presents the ranges of volatilities used by the Company in the Black-Scholes Model for its stock option grants.

Volatility
2024 grants 34.6 %- 373 %
2023 grants 333 %- 373 %
2022 grants 333%-374%

Liberty—Outstanding Awards
The following tables present the number and weighted average exercise price (“WAEP”) of options to purchase Liberty common
stock granted to certain officers, employees and directors of the Company, as well as the weighted average remaining life and aggregate

intrinsic value of the options.

Liberty Formula One

Series C
Weighted Aggregate
average intrinsic
Liberty remaining value
Options (000's) WAEP life (in millions)
Outstanding at January 1, 2024 6,599 § 37.62
Granted 103 $ 75.83
Exercised (2,564) $ 36.07
Forfeited/Cancelled — S —
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 4,138  § 39.53 2.5 years $ 220
Exercisable at December 31, 2024 3939 § 38.18 2.3 years $ 215
Liberty Live
Series C
Weighted Aggregate
average intrinsic
Liberty remaining value
Options (000's) WAEP life (in_millions)
Outstanding at January 1, 2024 1,652 $ 42.36
Granted 76 $ 41.87
Exercised (488) $ 41.45
Forfeited/Cancelled (10) $ 42.29
Outstanding at December 31, 2024 1,230 § 42.68 3.1 years $ 31
Exercisable at December 31, 2024 1,169 § 42.98 29 years $ 29

As of December 31, 2024, there were no outstanding Series A or Series B options to purchase shares of Series A or Series B
Liberty Formula One common stock or Liberty Live common stock.
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As of December 31, 2024, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested Awards was approximately $15 million.
Such amount will be recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations over a weighted average period of approximately
1.4 years.

As of December 31, 2024, 4.1 million and 1.2 million shares of Series C Liberty Formula One and Liberty Live common stock,
respectively, were reserved for issuance under exercise privileges of outstanding stock options.

Liberty—Exercises

The aggregate intrinsic value of all options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was
$113 million, $41 million and $73 million, respectively.

Liberty—Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

The Company had approximately 250 thousand and 60 thousand unvested RSAs and RSUs of Liberty Formula One and Liberty
Live common stock, respectively, held by certain directors, officers and employees of the Company as of December 31, 2024. These
Series C unvested RSAs and RSUs of Liberty Formula One and Liberty Live common stock had a weighted average GDFV of $71.45 per
share and $41.88 per share, respectively.

The aggregate fair value of all RSAs and RSUs of Liberty common stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022 was $20 million, $7 million and $14 million, respectively.

(14) Employee Benefit Plans

Liberty is the sponsor of the Liberty Media 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Liberty 401(k) Plan”), which provides its employees and the
employees of certain of its subsidiaries an opportunity for ownership in the Company and creates a retirement fund. The Liberty 401(k)
Plan provides for employees to make contributions to a trust for investment in Liberty common stock, as well as several mutual funds. The
Company and its subsidiaries make matching contributions to the Liberty 401(k) Plan based on a percentage of the amount contributed by
employees. In addition, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries have similar employee benefit plans. Employer cash contributions to all plans
aggregated $11 million, $10 million and $13 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(15) Other Comprehensive Earnings (Loss)
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss) included in Liberty’s consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements

of equity reflect the aggregate of foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized holding gains and losses on debt and equity securities
and Liberty’s share of accumulated other comprehensive earnings of affiliates.
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The change in the components of accumulated other comprehensive earnings (loss), net of taxes (“AOCI”), is summarized as
follows:

Foreign
currency

translation

adjustment Other AOCI
amounts in millions
Balance at January 1, 2022 $ (11) 6 )
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders (65) 31 (34)
Balance at December 31, 2022 (76) 37 39)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders 19 32 51
Balance at December 31, 2023 (57) 69 12
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders (16) (180) (196)
Split-Off of Liberty Sirius XM Holdings 31 — 31
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ (42) (111) (153)

The components of other comprehensive earnings (loss) are reflected in Liberty’s consolidated statements of comprehensive
earnings (loss) net of taxes. The following table summarizes the tax effects related to each component of other comprehensive earnings
(loss).

Tax
Before-tax (expense) Net-of-tax

benefit
amounts in millions

Year ended December 31, 2024:

Credit risk on fair value debt instruments gains (losses) $ (84) 18 (66)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (118) 25 (93)
Recognition of previously unrealized (gains) losses on debt 1 — 1
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ (201) 43 (158)
Year ended December 31, 2023:
Credit risk on fair value debt instruments gains (losses) $ 24 5) 19
Foreign currency translation adjustments 47 (10) 37
Recognition of previously unrealized (gains) losses on debt 27 (6) 21
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ 98 21 77
Year ended December 31, 2022:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising during period $ 23 5) 18
Credit risk on fair value debt instruments gains (losses) ®) 2 (6)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (34) 7 (27)
Recognition of previously unrealized (gains) losses on debt (24) 5 (19)
Other comprehensive earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ (43) 9 (34)

(16) Commitments and Contingencies
Guarantees
In connection with agreements for the sale of assets by the Company or its subsidiaries, the Company may retain liabilities that

relate to events occurring prior to its sale, such as tax, environmental, litigation and employment matters.
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The Company generally indemnifies the purchaser in the event that a third party asserts a claim against the purchaser that relates to a
liability retained by the Company. These types of indemnification obligations may extend for a number of years. The Company is unable to
estimate the maximum potential liability for these types of indemnification obligations as the sale agreements may not specify a maximum
amount and the amounts are dependent upon the outcome of future contingent events, the nature and likelihood of which cannot be
determined at this time. Historically, the Company has not made any significant indemnification payments under such agreements and no
amount has been accrued in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to these indemnification guarantees.

Litigation

The Company has contingent liabilities related to legal and tax proceedings and other matters arising in the ordinary course of
business. We record a liability when we believe that it is both probable that a liability will be incurred and the amount of loss can be
reasonably estimated. We evaluate developments in legal matters that could affect the amount of the liability accrual and make adjustments
as appropriate. Significant judgment is required to determine both probability and the estimated amount of a loss or potential loss. We may
be unable to reasonably estimate the reasonably possible loss or range of loss for a particular legal contingency for various reasons,
including, among others, because: (i) the damages sought are indeterminate; (ii) the proceedings are in the relative early stages; (iii) there is
uncertainty as to the outcome of pending proceedings (including motions and appeals); (iv) there is uncertainty as to the likelihood of
settlement and the outcome of any negotiations with respect thereto; (v) there remain significant factual issues to be determined or resolved;
(vi) the relevant law is unsettled; or (vii) the proceedings involve novel or untested legal theories. In such instances, there may be
considerable uncertainty regarding the ultimate resolution of such matters, including a possible eventual loss, if any. In the opinion of
management, it is expected that amounts, if any, which may be required to satisfy such contingencies will not be material in relation to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

(17) Information About Liberty’s Operating Segments

The Company, through its ownership interests in subsidiaries and other companies, is primarily engaged in the media and
entertainment industries. The Company identifies its reportable segments as (A) those consolidated subsidiaries that represent 10% or more
of its consolidated annual revenue, annual Adjusted OIBDA (as defined below) or total assets and (B) those equity method affiliates whose
share of earnings (losses) represent 10% or more of the Company’s annual pre-tax earnings (loss).

Liberty’s chief operating decision maker, the chief executive officer, evaluates performance and makes decisions about allocating
resources to the Company’s reportable segments based on financial measures such as revenue, operating expenses (including team
payments and other cost of revenue), selling, general and administrative expenses, and Adjusted OIBDA (as defined below).

For segment reporting purposes, the Company defines Adjusted OIBDA as revenue less operating expenses, and selling, general
and administrative expenses excluding all stock-based compensation, separately reported litigation settlements and restructuring and
impairment charges. The Company believes this measure is an important indicator of the operational strength and performance of its
businesses, by identifying those items that are not directly a reflection of each business’ performance or indicative of ongoing business
trends. In addition, this measure allows management to view operating results and perform analytical comparisons and benchmarking
between businesses and identify strategies to improve performance. This measure of performance excludes depreciation and amortization,
stock-based compensation, separately reported litigation settlements, restructuring, acquisition and impairment charges that are included in
the measurement of operating income pursuant to GAAP. Accordingly, Adjusted OIBDA should be considered in addition to, but not as a
substitute for, operating income, net income, cash flow provided by operating activities and other measures of financial performance
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The Company generally accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to
third parties, that is, at current prices.
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Formula 1, a reportable segment, is a global motorsports business that holds exclusive commercial rights with respect to the World
Championship, an annual, approximately nine-month long, motor race-based competition in which teams compete for the Constructors’
Championship and drivers compete for the Drivers’ Championship. The World Championship takes place on various circuits with a varying
number of events taking place in different countries around the world each season. Formula 1 is responsible for the commercial exploitation
and development of the World Championship as well as various aspects of its management and administration.

As of December 31, 2024, Live Nation met the Company’s reportable segment threshold for equity method affiliates. See note 7
for segment disclosures related to Live Nation.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each segment requires different technologies, differing revenue sources and marketing strategies. The significant
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the Company’s summary of significant policies.

Performance Measures

Year ended December 31, 2024

Corporate and

Formula One Other Eliminations Total
amounts in millions
Revenue $ 3,411 373 (131) 3,653
Operating expenses
Team payments (1,266) — — (1,266)
Other cost of revenue (1,066) (194) 38 (1,222)
Other operating expenses = (105) 92 (13)
Total operating expenses (2,332) (299) 130 (2,501)
Selling, general and administrative, excluding stock-based
compensation (288) (98) 1 (385)
Adjusted OIBDA $ 791 (24) — 767

Year ended December 31, 2023

Corporate and

Formula One Other Eliminations Total
amounts in millions
Revenue $ 3,222 366 (16) 3,572
Operating expenses
Team payments (1,215) — — (1,215)
Other cost of revenue (1,041) — 16 (1,025)
Other operating expenses = (274) — (274)
Total operating expenses (2,256) (274) 16 (2,514)
Selling, general and administrative, excluding stock-based
compensation (241) (126) — (367)
Adjusted OIBDA $ 725 (34) — 691
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Year ended December 31, 2022

Corporate and

Formula One Other Total
amounts in millions
Revenue $ 2,573 588 3,161
Operating expenses

Team payments (1,157) — (1,157)
Other cost of revenue (593) — (593)
Other operating expenses — (434) (434)
Total operating expenses (1,750) (434) (2,184)
Selling, general and administrative, excluding stock-based compensation (230) (135) (365)
Adjusted OIBDA $ 593 19 612

Other Information

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Total Investments Total Investments
assets in affiliates assets in affiliates

amounts in millions
Formula One Group

Formula 1 9,159 4 9,057 2
Corporate and other 2,727 29 1,236 39
Intergroup elimination (127) — (26) —
Total Formula One Group 11,759 33 10,267 41
Liberty Live Group
Corporate and other 1,223 458 1,162 333
Total Liberty Live Group 1,223 458 1,162 333
Elimination (34) — 3) —
Assets of discontinued operations — — 29,901 —
Consolidated Liberty $ 12,948 491 41,327 374
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The following table provides a reconciliation of Adjusted OIBDA to Operating income (loss) and Earnings (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

Adjusted OIBDA $ 767 691 612
Stock-based compensation (34) (29) (28)
Depreciation and amortization (352) (406) (433)
Impairment and acquisition costs (105) (D (6)

Operating income (loss) 276 255 145
Interest expense (237) (248) (186)
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net 228 157 104
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments, net (383) (167) 524
Unrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interests — (68) 19
Other, net 92 46 101

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes $ (24) (25) 707

Revenue by Geographic Area

Revenue by geographic area based on the country of domicile is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
United States $ 335 350 588
United Kingdom 3,318 3,222 2,573
$ 3,653 3,572 3,161
Long-lived Assets by Geographic Area
December 31,
2024 2023
amounts in millions

United States $ 730 757
United Kingdom 80 81
$ 810 838
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(18) Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Ist 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
amounts in millions, except per share amounts
2024
Revenue § 587 988 911 1,167
Operating income (loss) $ 93 57 107 19
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ 4 158 132 (357)
Net earnings (loss) § 245 507 (2,870) (357)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:
Liberty Formula One common stock $ 77 24 117 (248)
Liberty Live common stock $ (73) 134 15 (107)
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:
Liberty SiriusXM common stock $ 199 299 (2,500) —
Basic net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders
per common share:
Liberty Formula One common stock $ 033 0.10 0.48 (1.00)
Liberty Live common stock $ (0.79) 1.46 0.16 (1.16)

Basic net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders per common share:
Liberty SiriusXM common stock $ 0.6l 0.91 (7.65) NA
Diluted net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders per common share:

Liberty Formula One common stock $ 032 0.10 0.48 (0.99)
Liberty Live common stock $ (0.79) 1.46 0.16 (1.16)
Diluted net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders per common share:
Liberty SiriusXM common stock $ 052 0.60 (7.65) NA
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2023:

Revenue

Operating income (loss)

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Net earnings (loss)

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:

Liberty Formula One common stock
Liberty Live common stock

Liberty SiriusXM common stock
Liberty Braves common stock

Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty stockholders:

Liberty SiriusXM common stock

Basic net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty stockholders

per common share:

Liberty Formula One common stock

Liberty Live common stock

Liberty SiriusXM common stock

Liberty Braves common stock
Basic net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders per common share:

Liberty SiriusXM common stock
Diluted net earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders per common share:

Liberty Formula One common stock

Liberty Live common stock

Liberty SiriusXM common stock

Liberty Braves common stock
Diluted net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to Liberty
stockholders per common share:

Liberty SiriusXM common stock
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PART III.

The following required information is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders presently scheduled to be held in the second quarter of 2025:

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

We expect to file our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on or before April 30, 2025.
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PART IV.
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)(1) Financial Statements
Included in Part II of this Report:
Page No.
Liberty Media Corporation:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG LLP, Denver, CO, Auditor Firm ID: 185) 11-20
Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2024 and 2023 11-24
Consolidated Statements of Operations, Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 11-26
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Earnings (Loss), Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 11-28
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Years Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 11-29
Consolidated Statements of Equity, Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 11-30
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 1I-31

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules

(i) All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not material or the required information is set forth in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

(ii) The audited consolidated financial statements of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and for each
of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, as well as the accompanying notes thereto and the Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, are contained in Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2024, filed with the SEC on February 21, 2025 and are incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 99.2.

(a)(3) Exhibits

Listed below are the exhibits which are filed as a part of this Report (according to the number assigned to them in Item 601 of
Regulation S-K):

2.1 Reorganization Agreement by and among the Registrant, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Inc. and Sirius XM Holdings Inc.,
dated as of December 11, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the December 2023 §8-K).

2.2 First Amendment to Reorganization Agreement, dated as of June 16, 2024, by and among Liberty Media Corporation, Sirius
XM Holdings Inc. and Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 17. 2024 (File No. 001-35707)).
2.3 Reorganization Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2023, by and between the Registrant and Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc.

Global Racing LX2 S.a.r.l., Global Racing LX1 S.a.r.l., and the other sellers named therein (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on April 1, 2024 (File No. 001-35707) (the “April
3—Aurticles of Incorporation and Bylaws:
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Current

Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on August 3, 2023 (File No. 001-35707) (the “August 2023 8-K”)).

2.4 Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2024, by and among_Liberty Media Corporation, Libertad Especia, S.L.U,
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1560385/000110465923082079/tm2320270d4_ex2-1.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1560385/000110465924041336/tm2410155d1_ex2-1.htm
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Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K as filed on August 15, 2024 (File No. 001-35707)).

4—Instruments Defining the Rights of Securities Holders, including Indentures:

4.1

4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10
4.11

Specimen certificate for shares of the Registrant’s Series A Liberty Live common stock, par value $.01 per share
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the 2023 Form S-4.
Specimen certificate for shares of the Registrant’s Series B Liberty Live common stock, par value $.01 per share

Indenture dated as of October 17, 2013 among_the Registrant, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2013 filed on November 5, 2013 (File No. 001-35707)).

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 15, 2016, among_the Registrant, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as

(File No. 001-35707)).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 3, 2023, among_the Registrant, as issuer, and U.S. Bank Trust Company.
National Association (as successor to U.S. Bank National Association), as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the August 2023 8-K).

Description of the Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.*

The Registrant undertakes to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission, upon request, a copy of all instruments
with respect to long-term debt not filed herewith.

10—Material Contracts:

10.1+

10.2+

10.3+
10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

Liberty Media Corporation 2013 Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated as of March 31, 2015)_(the “2013 Plan”)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2015 filed on May 8, 2015 (File No. 001-35707)).

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 filed on February 28, 2014 (File No. 001-35707) (the “2013
10-K™)).

2016 and 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 filed on March 1, 2018 (File No. 001-35707)_(the “2017 10-K”)).

reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Starz’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 filed on February
23,2012 (File No. 001-35294)).

Liberty Media Corporation 2006 Deferred Compensation Plan (Amended and Restated as of January 1, 2016)_(incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the 2015 10-K).

2016)_(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2017 filed on August 9, 2017 (File No. 001-35707)).
Services Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2011, by and between Liberty Interactive Corporation and the Registrant (as
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10.9+

10.10+

10.11+

10.12+

10.13+

10.14+

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

10.19

10.20+

10.21

10.22+

10.23+

10.24+

10.25+

10.26+

10.27+

10.28+

10.29

Malone (assumed by Liberty Media LLC as of March 9, 1999), and the amendment thereto dated June 30, 1999 and
effective as of March 9, 1999, between Liberty Media LLC and John C. Malone (collectively, the “Malone Employment
Agreement” (assumed, as amended, by the Registrant as of January 10, 2013)) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to

to QVC Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed on February 27, 2009 (File
No. 001-33982) (the “Liberty Interactive 2008 10-K”)).

to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2015 filed on May 8, 2015 (File
No. 001-35707)).

Liberty Media Corporation 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2017 Omnibus Plan”)_(incorporated by reference to Annex A
to the Registrant’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on April 20, 2017 (File No. 001-35707)).

Form of 2017 Term Option Agreement under the 2013 Incentive Plan (BATRK and FWONK) for Gregory B. Maffei
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 2017 Third Quarter 10-Q).

Form of 2017 Term Option Agreement under the 2013 Incentive Plan (LSXMK) for Gregory B. Maffei (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the 2017 Third Quarter 10-Q).

September 23, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the 2017 10-K).

Amendment, dated March 12, 2018, of certain of the Registrant’s incentive plans (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018 filed on May 9, 2018 (File No.
001-35707)).

Form of Amended and Restated Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and its executive officers/directors
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31,2019 filed on May 9, 2019 (File No. 001-35707)).

Executive Employment Agreement, dated effective as of December 13, 2019, between the Registrant and Gregory B. Maffei
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2019 (File
No. 001-35707)_(the “2019 8-K”)).

Form of Annual Option Award Agreement between the Registrant and Gregory B. Maffei (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the 2019 8-K).

Form of Annual Performance-based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between the Registrant and Gregory B. Maffei

Form of Upfront Award Agreement between the Registrant and Gregory B. Maffei under the Liberty Media Corporation
2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the 2019 8-K).

Form of First Amendment to Services Agreement, effective as of December 13, 2019, between the Registrant and Qurate
Retail, Inc., Liberty Broadband Corporation, GCI Liberty, Inc. and Liberty TripAdvisor Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the 2019 10-K).

amended from time to time, for certain officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 filed on February 26, 2021 (File No. 001-35707)(the “2020 10-K”).
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Liberty Media Corporation 2017 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as
amended from time to time, for Nonemployee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the 2020 10-K).
Exchange Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2021, by and among_ John C. Malone, the John C. Malone 1995 Revocable Trust
U/A DTD 3/6/1995 and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on July 30, 2021 (File No. 001-35707)).
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10.30+ Liberty Media Corporation 2022 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A, filed on April 26, 2022 (File No. 001-35707)).

10.31 Shareholders’ Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2024, by and among Libertad Especia, S.L.U., Dorna Sports, S.L. and
certain other equity holders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the April 2024 8-K).

10.32+  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q _for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 filed on May 8, 2024 (File No. 001-35707)).

10.33 Amendment Agreement, dated September 19, 2024, by and among Formula One Management Limited, J.P. Morgan SE, as
facility agent, and other financial institutions party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2024 filed on November 12, 2024 (File No. 001-35707),
(the <2024 Q3 10-Q”)).

10.34 2nd Amendment Agreement, dated October 9, 2024, by and between Formula One Management Limited and J.P. Morgan
SE, as facility agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 2024 Q3 10-Q).

10.35 Amended and Restated First Lien Facilities Agreement, dated November 23, 2022, by and among Formula One
Management Limited, J.P. Morgan SE, as facility agent, NatWest Markets plc and other financial institutions party thereto,
conformed to reflect amendments through October 9, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 2024 Q3 10-Q).

10.36+  Letter Agreement, dated January 7, 2025 by and between the Registrant and Derek Chang (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 8, 2025 (File No. 001-35707)).

19.1 Liberty Media Corporation Insider Trading Policy.*

21 Subsidiaries of Liberty Media Corporation.*

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP.*

23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.*

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certification.*

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)_Certification.*

32 Section 1350 Certification. **

97 Liberty Media Corporation Clawback Policy for the Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 97 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed on
February 28, 2024 (File No. 001-35707)).

99.1 Unaudited Attributed Financial Information for Tracking Stock Groups.*

99.2 Audited consolidated financial statements of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and for
each of the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (incorporated by reference to Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (File No. 001-32601), filed on February 21, 2025).

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.*

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.*

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.*

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document.*

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.*

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Document.*

104 Cover Page Interactive Date File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).*

* Filed herewith.
*ok Furnished herewith.
+ This document has been identified as a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable.
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Exhibit 4.10

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of the end of the period covered by the most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K of Liberty Media Corporation (the
“Registrant”), the following securities of the Registrant were registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended: (1) the Series A Liberty Formula One common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series A Liberty Formula One
common stock™); (2) the Series C Liberty Formula One common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series C Formula One
common stock”); (3) the Series A Liberty Live common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series A Liberty Live common stock™);
and (4) the Series C Liberty Live common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Series C Liberty Live common stock™).

Description of Registrant’s Common Stock

The following description of the Registrant’s Series A Liberty Formula One common stock, Series C Liberty Formula One
common stock, Series A Liberty Live common stock, and Series B Liberty Live common stock, is a summary and does not purport to
be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the
“charter”), which is an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein. We encourage you to read
the charter and the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law for additional information.

Liberty Live Common Stock
Basic Investment

The Liberty Live common stock is intended to track and reflect the separate economic performance of the businesses, assets
and liabilities attributed to the Liberty Live Group. The Liberty Live Group is defined in the charter to include (i) the Registrant’s
direct and indirect interest, as of the effective date of the charter, in Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. and each of its subsidiaries
(including any successor to Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. or any such subsidiary by merger, consolidation or sale, transfer,
exchange, assignment or other disposition of all or substantially all of its assets, whether or not in connection with a Live Group
Related Business Transaction (as such term is defined in the charter)) and their respective assets, liabilities and businesses, (ii) all
other assets, liabilities and businesses of the Registrant or any of its subsidiaries to the extent attributed to the Liberty Live Group as of
the effective date of the charter, (iii) such other businesses, assets and liabilities that the board may determine to attribute to the
Liberty Live Group or that may be acquired for or transferred to the Liberty Live Group in the future, (iv) the proceeds of any sale,
transfer, exchange, assignment or other disposition of any of the foregoing and (v) an Inter-Group Interest in the Formula One Group
equal to one (1) minus the Formula One Group Outstanding Interest Fraction allocable to the Liberty Live Group as of such date (as
such terms are defined in the charter).

Authorized Capital Stock

The Registrant is authorized to issue up to 1,062,352,500 shares of Liberty Live common stock, of which 521,400,000 are
designated as Series A Liberty Live common stock, 19,552,500 are designated as Series B Liberty Live common stock, and
521,400,000 are designated as Series C Liberty Live common stock.

Dividends and Securities Distributions

The Registrant is permitted to pay dividends on Liberty Live common stock out of the lesser of its assets legally available for
the payment of dividends under Delaware law and the “Live Group Available Dividend Amount” (defined generally as the excess of
the total assets less the total liabilities of the Liberty Live Group over the par value, or any greater amount determined to be capital in
respect of, all outstanding shares of Liberty Live common stock or, if there is no such excess, an amount equal to the earnings or loss
attributable to the Liberty Live
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Group (if positive) for the fiscal year in which such dividend is to be paid and/or the preceding fiscal year). If dividends are paid on
any series of Liberty Live common stock, an equal per share dividend will be concurrently paid on the other series of Liberty Live
common stock.

The Registrant is permitted to make (i) share distributions of (A) Series C Liberty Live common stock to holders of all series
of Liberty Live common stock, on an equal per share basis; and (B) Series A Liberty Live common stock to holders of Series A
Liberty Live common stock and, on an equal per share basis, shares of Series B Liberty Live common stock to holders of Series B
Liberty Live common stock and, on an equal per share basis, shares of Series C Liberty Live common stock to holders of Series C
Liberty Live common stock; and (ii) share distributions of (A) Series C Liberty Formula One common stock to holders of all series of
Liberty Live common stock, on an equal per share basis, subject to certain limitations; and (B) Series A Liberty Formula One common
stock to holders of Series A Liberty Live common stock and, on an equal per share basis, shares of Series B Liberty Formula One
common stock to holders of Series B Liberty Live common stock and, on an equal per share basis, shares of Series C Liberty Formula
One common stock to holders of Series C Liberty Live common stock, in each case, subject to certain limitations; and (iii) share
distributions of any other class or series of the Registrant’s securities or the securities of any other person to holders of all series of
Liberty Live common stock, on an equal per share basis, subject to certain limitations.

Conversion at Option of Holder

Each share of Series B Liberty Live common stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into one share of Series A
Liberty Live common stock. Shares of Series A and Series C Liberty Live common stock are not convertible at the option of the
holder.

Conversion at Option of Issuer

The Registrant can convert each share of Liberty Live common stock into a number of shares of the corresponding series of
Liberty Formula One common stock at a ratio based on the relative trading prices of the Series A Liberty Live common stock (or
another series of Liberty Live common stock, subject to certain limitations) and the Series A Liberty Formula One common stock (or
another series of Liberty Formula One common stock, subject to certain limitations) over a specified 20-trading day period.

The Registrant also can convert each share of Liberty Formula One common stock into a number of shares of the
corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock at a ratio based on the relative trading prices of the Series A Liberty Formula One
common stock (or another series of Liberty Formula One common stock, subject to certain limitations) to the Series A Liberty Live
common stock (or another series of Liberty Live common stock, subject to certain limitations) over a specified 20-trading day period.

Optional Redemption for Stock of a Subsidiary

The Registrant may redeem outstanding shares of Liberty Live common stock for shares of common stock of a subsidiary
that holds assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty Live Group (and may or may not hold assets and liabilities attributed to the
Formula One Group), provided that the board seeks and receives the approval to such redemption of holders of Liberty Live common
stock, voting together as a separate class.

If the Registrant were to effect a redemption as described above with stock of a subsidiary that also holds assets and liabilities
of the Formula One Group, shares of Liberty Formula One common stock would also be redeemed in exchange for shares of that
subsidiary, and the entire redemption would be subject to the voting rights of the holders of Liberty Live common stock described
above as well as the separate class vote of the holders of Liberty Formula One common stock, as the case may be.




Mandatory Dividend, Redemption and Conversion Rights on Disposition of Assets

If the Registrant disposes, in one transaction or a series of transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Liberty
Live Group, it is required to choose one of the following four alternatives, unless the board obtains approval of the holders of Liberty
Live common stock not to take such action or the disposition qualifies under a specified exemption (in which case the Registrant will
not be required to take any of the following actions):

° pay a dividend to holders of Liberty Live common stock out of the available net proceeds of such disposition; or

° if there are legally sufficient assets and the Liberty Live Group Available Dividend Amount would have been
sufficient to pay a dividend, then: (i) if the disposition involves all of the properties and assets of the Liberty Live Group, redeem all
outstanding shares of Liberty Live common stock in exchange for cash and/or securities or other assets with a fair value equal to the
available net proceeds of such disposition, or (ii) if the disposition involves substantially all (but not all) of the properties and assets of
the Liberty Live Group, redeem a portion of the outstanding shares of Liberty Live common stock in exchange for cash and/or
securities or other assets with a fair value equal to the available net proceeds of such disposition; or

° convert each outstanding share of each series of Liberty Live common stock into a number of shares of the
corresponding series of Liberty Formula One common stock at a specified premium; or

° combine a conversion of a portion of the outstanding shares of Liberty Live common stock into a number of shares
of the corresponding series of Liberty Formula One common stock with either the payment of a dividend on or a redemption of shares
of Liberty Live common stock, subject to certain limitations.

Voting Rights

Holders of Series A Liberty Live common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of such stock held and holders of
Series B Liberty Live common stock are entitled to ten votes for each share of such stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders. Holders of Series C Liberty Live common stock are not entitled to any voting powers (including with respect to any
class votes taken in accordance with the terms of the charter), except as otherwise required by Delaware law. When so required,
holders of Series C Liberty Live common stock will be entitled to 1/100th of a vote for each share of such stock held.

Holders of Liberty Live common stock will vote as one class with holders of Liberty Formula One common stock on all
matters that are submitted to a vote of stockholders unless a separate class vote is required by the terms of the charter or Delaware law.
In connection with certain dispositions of Liberty Live Group assets as described above, the board may determine to seek approval of
the holders of Liberty Live common stock, voting together as a separate class, to avoid effecting a mandatory dividend, redemption or
conversion under the charter.

The Registrant may not redeem outstanding shares of Liberty Live common stock for shares of common stock of a subsidiary
that holds assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty Live Group unless the board seeks and receives the approval to such
redemption of holders of Liberty Live common stock, voting together as a separate class, and, if such subsidiary also holds assets and
liabilities of the Formula One Group, the approval of holders of Liberty Formula One common stock, as the case may be, to the
corresponding Liberty Formula One common stock redemption, with each affected group voting as a separate class.

The charter imposes supermajority voting requirements in connection with certain charter amendments and other
extraordinary transactions which have not been approved by 75% of the directors then in office. When these requirements apply, the
threshold vote required is 66%:% of the aggregate voting power of the Registrant’s outstanding voting securities, voting together as a
single class.




Inter-Group Interest

From time to time, the Registrant’s board may determine to create an inter-group interest in the Liberty Live Group in favor
of the Formula One Group, subject to the terms of the charter.

If the Liberty Live Group has an intergroup interest in the Formula One Group at such time as any extraordinary action is
taken with respect to the Liberty Formula One common stock (such as the payment of a dividend, a share distribution, the redemption
of such stock for stock of a subsidiary or an action required to be taken in connection with a disposition of all or substantially all of the
Formula One Group assets), the board will consider what actions are required, or permitted, to be taken under the charter with respect
to the Liberty Live Group’s intergroup interest in the Formula One Group. For example, in some instances, the board may determine
that a portion of the aggregate consideration that is available for distribution to holders of Liberty Formula One common stock must
be allocated to the Liberty Live Group to compensate the Liberty Live Group on a pro rata basis for its interest in the Formula One
Group.

Similarly, if the Formula One Group has an intergroup interest in the Liberty Live Group at such time as any extraordinary
action is taken with respect to the Liberty Live common stock (such as the payment of a dividend, a share distribution, the redemption
of such stock for stock of a subsidiary or an action required to be taken in connection with a disposition of all or substantially all of the
Liberty Live Group’s assets), the board will consider what actions are required, or permitted, to be taken under the charter with respect
to the Formula One Group’s intergroup interest in the Liberty Live Group.

All such board determinations will be made in accordance with the charter and applicable Delaware law.
As of December 31, 2024, no group had an intergroup interest in another group.
Liquidation

Upon the Registrant’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of shares of Liberty Live common stock will be entitled
to receive in respect of such stock their proportionate interests in the Registrant’s assets, if any, remaining for distribution to holders of
common stock (regardless of the group to which such assets are then attributed) in proportion to their respective number of liquidation
units per share.

Each share of Liberty Live common stock initially will be entitled to a number of liquidation units as set forth on the
statement on file with the Secretary of the Registrant on the effective date of the charter, a copy of which will be furnished by the
Registrant, on request and without cost, to any stockholder of the Registrant.

Liberty Formula One Common Stock
Basic Investment

The Liberty Formula One common stock is intended to track and reflect the separate economic performance of the business,
assets and liabilities attributed to the Formula One Group. The Formula One Group is defined in the charter to include (i) the
Registrant’s direct and indirect interest, as of the effective date of the charter, in (x) all of the businesses in which the Registrant is or
has been engaged, directly or indirectly (either itself or through direct or indirect subsidiaries, affiliates, joint ventures or other
investments or any of the predecessors or successors of any of the foregoing), and (y) the respective assets and liabilities of the
Registrant and its subsidiaries, in each case, other than any businesses, assets or liabilities attributable to the Liberty Live Group as of
the effective date of the charter, (ii) such other businesses, assets and liabilities that the board may determine to attribute to the
Formula One Group or that may be acquired for or transferred to the Formula One Group in the future, (iii) the proceeds of any sale,
transfer, exchange, assignment or other disposition of any of the foregoing and (iv) an Inter-Group Interest in the Liberty Live Group
equal to one (1) minus the Live Group Outstanding Interest Fraction allocable to the Formula One Group as of such date.




Authorized Capital Stock

The Registrant is authorized to issue up to 1,018,750,000 shares of Liberty Formula One common stock, of which 500
million are designated as Series A Liberty Formula One common stock, 18.75 million are designated as Series B Liberty Formula One
common stock, and 500 million are designated as Series C Liberty Formula One common stock.

Dividends and Securities Distributions

The Registrant is permitted to pay dividends on Liberty Formula One common stock out of the lesser of its assets legally
available for the payment of dividends under Delaware law and the “Formula One Group Available Dividend Amount” (defined
generally as the excess of the total assets less the total liabilities of the Formula One Group over the par value, or any greater amount
determined to be capital in respect of, all outstanding shares of Liberty Formula One common stock or, if there is no such excess, an
amount equal to the earnings or loss attributable to the Formula One Group (if positive) for the fiscal year in which such dividend is to
be paid and/or the preceding fiscal year). If dividends are paid on any series of Liberty Formula One common stock, an equal per
share dividend will be concurrently paid on the other series of Liberty Formula One common stock.

The Registrant is permitted to make (i) share distributions of (A) Series C Liberty Formula One common stock to holders of
all series of Liberty Formula One common stock, on an equal per share basis; and (B) Series A Liberty Formula One common stock to
holders of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock and, on an equal per share basis, shares of Series B Liberty Formula One
common stock to holders of Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and, on an equal per share basis, shares of Series C Liberty
Formula One common stock to holders of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock; and (ii) share distributions of (A) Series C
Liberty Live common stock to holders of all series of Liberty Formula One common stock, on an equal per share basis, subject to
certain limitations; and (B) Series A Liberty Live common stock to holders of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock and, on an
equal per share basis, shares of Series B Liberty Live common stock to holders of Series B Liberty Formula One common stock and,
on an equal per share basis, shares of Series C Liberty Live common stock to holders of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock,
in each case, subject to certain limitations; and (iii) share distributions of any other class or series of the Registrant’s securities or the
securities of any other person to holders of all series of Liberty Formula One common stock, on an equal per share basis, subject to
certain limitations.

Conversion at Option of Holder

Each share of Series B Liberty Formula One common stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into one share of Series
A Liberty Formula One common stock. Shares of Series A and Series C Liberty Formula One common stock are not convertible at the
option of the holder.

Conversion at Option of Issuer

The Registrant can convert each share of Liberty Formula One common stock into a number of shares of the corresponding
series of Liberty Live common stock at a ratio based on the relative trading prices of the Series A Liberty Formula One common stock
(or another series of Liberty Formula One common stock, subject to certain limitations) and the Series A Liberty Live common stock
(or another series of Liberty Live common stock, subject to certain limitations) over a specified 20-trading day period.

The Registrant also can convert each share of Liberty Live common stock into a number of shares of the corresponding series
of Liberty Formula One common stock at a ratio based on the relative trading prices of the Series A Liberty Live common stock (or
another series of Liberty Live common stock, subject to certain limitations) to the Series A Liberty Formula One common stock (or
another series of Liberty Formula One common stock, subject to certain limitations) over a specified 20-trading day period.




Optional Redemption for Stock of a Subsidiary

The Registrant may redeem outstanding shares of Liberty Formula One common stock for shares of common stock of a
subsidiary that holds assets and liabilities attributed to the Formula One Group (and may or may not hold assets and liabilities
attributed to the Liberty Live Group), provided that the board seeks and receives the approval to such redemption of holders of Liberty
Formula One common stock, voting together as a separate class.

If the Registrant were to effect a redemption as described above with stock of a subsidiary that also holds assets and liabilities
of the Liberty Live Group, shares of Liberty Live common stock would also be redeemed in exchange for shares of that subsidiary,
and the entire redemption would be subject to the voting rights of the holders of Liberty Formula One common stock described above
as well as the separate class vote of the holders of Liberty Live common stock.

Mandatory Dividend, Redemption and Conversion Rights on Disposition of Assets

If the Registrant disposes, in one transaction or a series of transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Formula
One Group, it is required to choose one of the following four alternatives, unless the board obtains approval of the holders of Liberty
Formula One common stock not to take such action or the disposition qualifies under a specified exemption (in which case the
Registrant will not be required to take any of the following actions):

° pay a dividend to holders of Liberty Formula One common stock out of the available net proceeds of such
disposition; or

° if there are legally sufficient assets and the Formula One Group Available Dividend Amount would have been
sufficient to pay a dividend, then: (i) if the disposition involves all of the properties and assets of the Formula One Group, redeem all
outstanding shares of Liberty Formula One common stock in exchange for cash and/or securities or other assets with a fair value equal
to the available net proceeds of such disposition, or (ii) if the disposition involves substantially all (but not all) of the properties and
assets of the Formula One Group, redeem a portion of the outstanding shares of Liberty Formula One common stock in exchange for
cash and/or securities or other assets with a fair value equal to the available net proceeds of such disposition; or

° convert each outstanding share of each series of Liberty Formula One common stock into a number of shares of the
corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock at a specified premium; or

° combine a conversion of a portion of the outstanding shares of Liberty Formula One common stock into a number of
shares of the corresponding series of Liberty Live common stock with either the payment of a dividend on or a redemption of shares
of Liberty Formula One common stock, subject to certain limitations.

Voting Rights

Holders of Series A Liberty Formula One common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of such stock held and holders
of Series B Liberty Formula One common stock are entitled to ten votes for each share of such stock held on all matters submitted to a
vote of stockholders. Holders of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock are not entitled to any voting powers (including with
respect to any class votes taken in accordance with the terms of the charter), except as otherwise required by Delaware law. When so
required, holders of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock will be entitled to 1/100th of a vote for each share of such stock
held.

Holders of Liberty Formula One common stock will vote as one class with holders of Liberty Live common stock on all
matters that are submitted to a vote of stockholders unless a separate class vote is required by the terms of the charter or Delaware law.
In connection with certain dispositions of Formula One Group assets as described above, the board may determine to seek approval of
the holders of Liberty Formula One common stock, voting together as a separate class, to avoid effecting a mandatory dividend,
redemption or conversion under the charter.




The Registrant may not redeem outstanding shares of Liberty Formula One common stock for shares of common stock of a
subsidiary that holds assets and liabilities attributed to the Formula One Group unless the board seeks and receives the approval to
such redemption of holders of Liberty Formula One common stock, voting
together as a separate class, and, if such subsidiary also holds assets and liabilities of the Liberty Live Group, the approval of holders
of Liberty Live common stock to the Liberty Live common stock redemption, with each affected group voting as a separate class.

The charter imposes supermajority voting requirements in connection with certain charter amendments and other
extraordinary transactions which have not been approved by 75% of the directors then in office. When these requirements apply, the
threshold vote required is 66%:% of the aggregate voting power of the Registrant’s outstanding voting securities, voting together as a
single class.

Inter-Group Interest

From time to time, the board may determine to create an intergroup interest in the Formula One Group in favor of the Liberty
Live Group, subject to the terms of the charter.

If the Formula One Group has an intergroup interest in the Liberty Live Group at such time as any extraordinary action is
taken with respect to the Liberty Live common stock (such as the payment of a dividend, a share distribution, the redemption of such
stock for stock of a subsidiary or an action required to be taken in connection with a disposition of all or substantially all of the Liberty
Live Group assets), the board will consider what actions are required, or permitted, to be taken under the charter with respect to the
Formula One Group’s intergroup interest in the Liberty Live Group. For example, in some instances, the board may determine that a
portion of the aggregate consideration that is available for distribution to holders of Liberty Live common stock must be allocated to
the Formula One Group to compensate the Formula One Group on a pro rata basis for its interest in the Liberty Live Group.

Similarly, if the Liberty Live Group has an intergroup interest in the Formula One Group at such time as any extraordinary
action is taken with respect to the Liberty Formula One common stock (such as the payment of a dividend, a share distribution, the
redemption of such stock for stock of a subsidiary or an action required to be taken in connection with a disposition of all or
substantially all of the Formula One Group’s assets), the board will consider what actions are required, or permitted, to be taken under
the charter with respect to the Liberty Live Group’s intergroup interest in the Formula One Group.

All such board determinations will be made in accordance with the charter and applicable Delaware law.

As of December 31, 2024, no group had an intergroup interest in another group.
Liquidation

Upon the Registrant’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of shares of Liberty Formula One common stock will be
entitled to receive in respect of such stock their proportionate interests in the Registrant’s assets, if any, remaining for distribution to
holders of common stock (regardless of the group to which such assets are then attributed) in proportion to their respective number of
liquidation units per share.

Each share of Liberty Formula One common stock will be entitled to a number of liquidation units as set forth on the

statement on file with the Secretary of the Registrant on the effective date of the charter, a copy of which will be furnished by the
Registrant, on request and without cost, to any stockholder of the Registrant.




Description of Other Provisions of the Registrant’s Charter
Authorized Share Capital

The Registrant is authorized to issue up to 6,206,102,500 shares of capital stock, which will be divided into the following two
classes: (i) 6,156,102,500 shares of common stock (which class is divided into the series described above), and (ii) 50,000,000 shares
of preferred stock (which class is issuable in series as described below).

Preferred Stock

The charter authorizes the board to establish one or more series of preferred stock and to determine, with respect to any series
of preferred stock, the terms and rights of the series, including:

° the designation of the series;

° the number of authorized shares of the series, which number the board may subsequently increase or decrease but
not below the number of such shares of such series of preferred stock then outstanding;

. the dividend rate or amounts, if any, and, in the case of cumulative dividends, the date or dates from which

dividends on all shares of the series will be cumulative and the relative preferences or rights of priority or participation with respect to
such dividends;

° the rights of the series in the event of the Registrant’s voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up
and the relative preferences or rights of priority of payment;
° the rights, if any, of holders of the series to convert into or exchange for other classes or series of stock or

indebtedness and the terms and conditions of any such conversion or exchange, including provision for adjustments within the
discretion of the board;

° the voting rights, if any, of the holders of the series;
° the terms and conditions, if any, for the Registrant to purchase or redeem the shares of the series; and
° any other relative rights, preferences and limitations of the series.

The Registrant believes that the ability of the board to issue one or more series of its preferred stock will provide it with
flexibility in structuring possible future financings and acquisitions, and in meeting other corporate needs that might arise. The
authorized shares of preferred stock, as well as shares of common stock, will be available for issuance without further action by
stockholders, unless such action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automatic quotation system on
which the Registrant’s securities may be listed or traded.

Although the board has no intention at the present time of doing so, it may issue a series of preferred stock that could,
depending on the terms of such series, impede the completion of a merger, tender offer or other takeover attempt. The board will make
any determination to issue such shares based upon its judgment as to the best interests of the Registrant’s stockholders. The board, in
so acting, could issue preferred stock having terms that could discourage an acquisition attempt through which an acquirer may be
able to change the composition of the board, including a tender offer or other transaction that some, or a majority, of its stockholders
might believe to be in their best interests or in which stockholders might receive a premium for their stock over the then-current
market price of the stock.

Board of Directors

The charter provides that, subject to any rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock to elect additional directors, the
number of directors on the board will not be less than three and the exact number will be fixed from time to time by a resolution of its
board. The members of the board, other than those who may be elected by holders of any preferred stock, are divided into three
classes. Each class consists, as nearly as possible, of a number of directors equal to one-third of the then authorized number of board
members. The term of office of the current Class I directors expires at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2026. The term of office
of the current




Class II directors expires at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2027. The term of office of the current Class III directors expires at
the annual meeting of stockholders in 2025.

At each annual meeting of stockholders, the successors of the class of directors whose term expires at that meeting will be
elected to hold office for a term expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders held in the third year following the year of their
election. The directors of each class will hold office until their respective successors are elected and qualified or until such director’s
earlier death, resignation or removal.

The charter provides that, subject to the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock, directors may be removed from
office only for cause upon the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the aggregate voting power of the Registrant’s
outstanding capital stock entitled to vote on such matter, voting together as a single class.

The charter provides that, subject to the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock, vacancies on the board resulting
from death, resignation, removal, disqualification or other cause, and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the
number of directors on the board, will be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office
(even though less than a quorum) or by the sole remaining director. Any director so elected shall hold office for the remainder of the
full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred or to which the new directorship is assigned, and until that director’s
successor will have been elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier death, resignation or removal. No decrease in the number
of directors constituting the board will shorten the term of any incumbent director, except as may be provided in any certificate of
designation with respect to a series of preferred stock with respect to any additional director elected by the holders of that series of
preferred stock.

These provisions would preclude a third party from removing incumbent directors and simultaneously gaining control of the
board by filling the vacancies created by removal with its own nominees. Under the classified board provisions described above, it
would take at least two elections of directors for any individual or group to gain control of the board. Accordingly, these provisions
could discourage a third party from initiating a proxy contest, making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to gain control of the
Registrant.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification

The charter provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, the Registrant’s directors are not liable to the
Registrant or any of its stockholders or creditors for monetary damages for breaches of fiduciary duties as a director or officer. In
addition, the Registrant indemnifies, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any person involved in any suit or action by
reason of the fact that such person is a director or officer of the Registrant or, at the Registrant’s request, a director, officer, employee
or agent of another corporation or entity, against all liability, loss and expenses incurred by such person. The Registrant will pay
expenses of a director or officer in defending any proceeding in advance of its final disposition, provided that such payment is made
upon receipt of an undertaking by the director or officer to repay all amounts advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the
director or officer is not entitled to indemnification..

No Shareowner Action by Written Consent; Special Meetings

The charter provides that (except as otherwise provided in the terms of any series of preferred stock), any action required to
be taken or which may be taken at any annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders may not be taken without a meeting and may
not be effected by any consent in writing by such holders. Except as otherwise required by law and subject to the rights of the holders
of any series of the Registrant’s preferred stock, special meetings of the Registrant’s stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be
called only by its Secretary at the written request of the holders of not less than 66%% of the total voting power of the Registrant’s
outstanding capital stock or at the request of at least 75% of the members of the board then in office. The Registrant’s bylaws provide
that no business other than that stated in the notice of special meeting will be transacted at any special meeting.




Amendments

The charter provides that, subject to the rights of the holders of any series of its preferred stock, the affirmative vote of the
holders of at least 66%:% of the aggregate voting power of the Registrant’s outstanding
capital stock generally entitled to vote upon all matters submitted to its stockholders, voting together as a single class, is required to
adopt, amend or repeal any provision of the charter or to add or insert any provision in the charter, provided that the foregoing
enhanced voting requirement will not apply to any adoption, amendment, repeal, addition or insertion (1) as to which Delaware law
does not require the consent of the Registrant’s stockholders or (2) which has been approved by at least 75% of the members of its
board then in office. The charter further provides that the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66%:% of the aggregate voting
power of its outstanding capital stock generally entitled to vote upon all matters submitted to its stockholders, voting together as a
single class, is required to adopt, amend or repeal any provision of its bylaws, provided that the foregoing enhanced voting
requirement will not apply to any adoption, amendment or repeal approved by the affirmative vote of not less than 75% of the
members of its board then in office.

Supermajority Voting Provisions

In addition to the supermajority voting provisions discussed under “-Amendments” above, the charter provides that, subject
to the rights of the holders of any series of its preferred stock, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66%:% of the aggregate
voting power of its outstanding capital stock generally entitled to vote upon all matters submitted to its stockholders, voting together
as a single class, is required for:

° its merger or consolidation with or into any other corporation (including a merger consummated pursuant to Section
251(h) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware and notwithstanding the exception to a vote of the stockholders for
such a merger set forth therein), provided, that the foregoing voting provision will not apply to any such merger or consolidation (1) as
to which the laws of the State of Delaware, as then in effect, do not require the vote of the Registrant’s stockholders (other than
Section 251(h) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware), or (2) that at least 75% of the members of the board then in
office have approved;

° the sale, lease or exchange of all, or substantially all, of its assets, provided, that the foregoing voting provisions will
not apply to any such sale, lease or exchange that at least 75% of the members of the board then in office have approved; or
° its dissolution, provided, that the foregoing voting provision will not apply to such dissolution if at least 75% of the

members of the board then in office have approved such dissolution.
Anti-Takeover Statutes and Stockholder Protections

Under Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, a Delaware corporation is prohibited from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” (a stockholder who owns 15% or more of the corporation’s
voting stock) for three years following the time that such stockholder became an interested stockholder unless certain exceptions have
been met. A Delaware corporation may opt out of Section 203 in its certificate of incorporation or a stockholder approved bylaw. The
Registrant has not elected to opt-out of Section 203.




Exhibit 19.1

INSIDER TRADING POLICY
Introduction

Under federal and state securities laws, it is illegal for any person to trade in securities on the basis of material
nonpublic information. It is also illegal to communicate, disclose or “tip” material nonpublic information to
others so that they may trade in securities on the basis of that information. These illegal activities are
commonly referred to as “insider trading.”

This Insider Trading Policy applies to all directors, officers and employees of Liberty Media Corporation
(“Liberty Media”) and of each other company in which Liberty Media directly or indirectly owns and has the
right to vote shares or other interests representing more than 50% of the voting power of such company (each, a
“Controlled Company”) with respect to the election of directors or similar officials, other than publicly traded
Controlled Companies that have their own insider trading policy. Any reference herein (i) to “the Company” is
to Liberty Media and (ii) to “covered persons” is to the directors, officers and employees to whom this policy
applies.

This Insider Trading Policy applies to the trading of Company securities as well as the trading of securities of
publicly traded Controlled Companies or publicly traded companies with which the Company has a business
relationship. The obligations of covered persons under this policy extend to trading by their family members
who reside with them, and to other family members of a control person whose trading is directed by such
covered person or is subject to the covered person’s influence or control (such as parents or children who
consult with them before they trade).

The objectives of this policy are (i) to help prevent any actual or perceived impropriety, either of which could
lead to allegations of insider trading and the potential for significant liability on the part of any implicated
parties and (ii) to protect the Company’s reputation for integrity and ethical conduct.

The ultimate responsibility for compliance with this policy and applicable laws, and avoiding improper trading,
rests with you. If you have any questions regarding this policy or its application to you or to any proposed
transaction, please contact any attorney in Liberty Media’s Legal Department (each, a “Securities Trading
Officer”).

Statement of Policy

No Trading While Aware of Material Nonpublic Information. You may not trade in Company securities if you
are aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company. Similarly, you may not trade in the
securities of any other company if you are aware of material nonpublic information about that company
obtained in the course of your employment with the Company or




any of its subsidiaries. These latter companies include customers, suppliers and affiliates, as well as companies
with which the Company may be negotiating a major transaction, such as a merger, sale or investment.

No Tipping. You may not pass on or disclose material nonpublic information obtained in the course of your
employment by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to others or recommend to anyone (including family
members and friends) the purchase or sale of securities when you are aware of such information. This practice,
known as “tipping,” violates the securities laws and can result in the same civil and criminal penalties that apply
to insider trading, even if the “tipper” does not trade or gain any benefit from another’s trading.

Outside Inquiries; Disclosure of Information. If you receive inquiries from securities analysts, reporters or
others, you should decline comment and direct them to the Company’s Investor Relations Department. You
should not discuss material nonpublic information with others outside the Company other than with persons
(such as auditors, outside counsel and other advisors) engaged by the Company to provide assistance, and then
only on a “need to know” basis. To do otherwise is a violation of the Company’s Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics. Similarly, you may not discuss confidential information on any Internet “chat” site or message
board.

Additional Restrictions for Certain Insiders. To help prevent inadvertent violations of the federal securities
laws and to avoid even the appearance of trading on the basis of material nonpublic information, this policy also
generally prohibits senior management with access to sensitive business or financial information about the
Company from trading in Company securities during quarterly and event-specific blackout periods, as described
below.

Definition of Material Nonpublic Information

For information to form the basis of an insider trading claim, it must have two important elements -- it must be
both material and nonpublic.

Material Information. Information is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor
would consider it important in deciding whether to buy, hold or sell a security. Any information that could
reasonably be expected to affect the price of the security is material. Common examples of material
information are:

o Projections of future earnings or losses or other earnings guidance

o Actual revenues, earnings or losses that are inconsistent with prior projections or guidance or the
consensus expectations of the investment community

o A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer or an acquisition or disposition of
significant assets, or other strategic business plans

o A change in executive management or the board

o Major events regarding or affecting an issuer’s securities, such as the offering of additional or

new securities

o Changes in dividend policies




o Actual or prospective significant changes in liquidity, positive or negative, including as a result
of changes in financing arrangements or creditworthiness

o Discovery of any significant deficiencies in an issuer’s financial reporting or internal controls

o Actual or threatened major litigation, or the resolution of such litigation

° Any violation or possible violation of material laws or regulations in any domestic or foreign
jurisdiction

o The receipt of a communication, written or oral, from any domestic or foreign regulatory agency

or government representative concerning any inquiries, investigations or allegations of
noncompliance with any laws or regulations in any jurisdiction

o New major contracts, orders, suppliers, customers or finance sources, or the loss thereof

The foregoing are examples only. Any other information that could reasonably be expected to affect the price
of an issuer’s securities should be viewed as material as to that issuer. The materiality of information as it
relates to the Company will normally be determined in the context of the Company and its subsidiaries
considered as a whole.

Both positive and negative information can be material. Because trading that receives scrutiny will be
evaluated after the fact with the benefit of hindsight, questions concerning the materiality of particular
information should be resolved in favor of materiality, and trading should be avoided. If you are unsure if you
are in possession of material nonpublic information and wish to trade, please contact a Securities Trading
Officer.

Nonpublic Information. Nonpublic information is information that is not generally known or available to the
public. Information is considered to be available to the public when it has been released broadly to the
marketplace (such as by a press release issued through a major wire service or included in a report filed with the
SEC) and the investing public has had time to absorb the information fully (as reflected in the trading price of
the applicable security). For purposes of this policy, information will be presumed to be generally available to
the public when 48 hours have elapsed from the time the information is released.

Penalties for Insider Trading; Company Sanctions

Federal and state laws impose severe civil and criminal penalties for trading while aware of, or communicating,
material nonpublic information, both for individuals involved in the unlawful conduct and persons (which may
include employers and supervisors) who may be deemed “control persons” of the involved individuals. A
person who violates the insider trading laws or who is deemed a control person of a person who violates them
can be sentenced to a substantial prison term and required to pay a penalty of several times the amount of
profits gained or losses avoided as a result of the violation.

Civil Penalties. In addition to disgorgement of the profits made or losses avoided, civil penalties may be
imposed that are up to three times the profits gained or losses avoided as a result of the
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violation. Persons violating insider trading or tipping rules may also face private actions for damages.

Criminal Penalties. Under federal law, any person convicted of insider trading is subject to a maximum $5
million criminal penalty ($25 million for corporations and other entities that are not natural persons) and up to
20 years imprisonment.

Controlling Person Liability. The SEC is empowered to seek substantial penalties from any person who, at the
time of an insider trading violation, directly or indirectly controlled the person who committed the violation. If
the Company fails to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading (such as through the adoption of an
insider trading policy like this one), the Company may have “controlling person” liability for a trading
violation, with civil penalties of up to the greater of $1,000,000 or three times the amount of the profit gained or
loss avoided. Control person liability has also been imposed on directors, officers and other supervisory
personnel who failed to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading.

Company Sanctions. Failure to comply with this policy may also subject you to Company-imposed sanctions,
including dismissal for cause, whether or not your failure to comply with this policy results in a violation of
law.

Scope of Policy

Transactions to which this Policy Applies. This policy applies to all trading (purchases or sales) in securities of
the Company, as well as in the securities of any publicly traded Controlled Company or other company with
which the Company has a business relationship and as to which a covered person has possession of material
nonpublic information. The term “securities” for this purpose includes stock, derivative securities (such as put
and call options) and debt securities. The trading restrictions imposed by this policy include certain transactions
under the Company’s benefit plans, as follows:

e Stock Options. The trading restrictions generally do not apply to the exercise of stock options.
The trading restrictions do apply, however, to any sale of the underlying stock or to a cashless
exercise of options through a broker, as this entails selling a portion of the underlying stock to
cover the costs of exercise.

Post-Termination Transactions. If you are aware of material nonpublic information when your employment or
service relationship with the Company or subsidiary terminates, you may not trade in Company securities until
that information has become public (as described above) or is no longer material.

Blackout Periods

To help to prevent inadvertent violations of the laws against insider trading and to avoid even the appearance of
trading on the basis of material nonpublic information, this policy also prohibits any trading in Company
securities during specified blackout periods by those persons with access to sensitive business or financial
information about the Company.




Quarterly Blackout Periods. The Company’s announcement of its quarterly and annual financial results has the
potential to have a material effect on the market for the Company’s securities. Therefore, the Company’s
directors and executive officers and other covered persons who are notified by a Securities Trading Officer that
they are subject to quarterly blackouts are prohibited from trading securities of the Company for the period
commencing at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on the last day of each fiscal quarter of the Company, until 48 hours
after the Company publicly announces its quarterly or annual earnings, as applicable.

Event-Specific Blackout Periods. From time to time an event may occur that is material to the Company and is
known by only a few persons. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the following blackout
procedures will apply. The existence of an event-specific blackout will not be announced, other than to those
who are aware of the event giving rise to the blackout. Any person who is made aware of an event-specific
blackout should not disclose the existence of the blackout to any other person. The failure to advise a person of
the existence of an event-specific blackout will not relieve that person of the obligation not to trade while
actually aware of material nonpublic information.

Directors and executive officers may also be subject to event specific blackouts pursuant to the SEC’s
Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction (“Regulation BTR”), which prohibits certain sales and other transfers
by insiders during certain pension plan blackout periods. The Company will give such persons notice of any
blackout period required under Regulation BTR.

Hardship Exceptions. Generally, the existence of a personal financial hardship or emergency does not excuse
compliance with the foregoing blackout restrictions. However, persons subject to a quarterly blackout period
may request a hardship exception by submitting a written request to the Chief Legal Officer of Liberty Media
describing the proposed trade not less than two days prior to the proposed trade date. A hardship exception may
be granted only if the Chief Legal Officer of Liberty Media concludes that the Company’s financial results for
the applicable period do not constitute material nonpublic information. Under no circumstances will a hardship
exception be granted to persons subject to an event-specific blackout.

Pre-clearance of Trades

You are not required to pre-clear transactions involving the Company’s securities, assuming those transactions
otherwise would comply with the provisions regarding blackout periods set forth above. Nevertheless, there
may be circumstances in which you determine that you should seek to pre-clear a transaction. In such a case,
you should contact a Securities Trading Officer. That officer may ask you to submit a written request for pre-
clearance describing the proposed trade. The Securities Trading Officer is under no obligation to approve a
trade submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the trade. If a trade is pre-cleared, either
that trade should be completed within three trading days or a new request for pre-clearance should be submitted.

Exceptions for Rule 10bS-1 Plans
The SEC has adopted Rule 10b5-1, which allows corporate insiders to transact in securities on certain

conditions without the imposition of insider trading liability. Rule 10b5-1 requires that the transactions be
effected pursuant to a plan that was adopted by the corporate insider at a time when
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that person is not in possession of material nonpublic information regarding the issuer of the security.

Trades in the Company’s securities that are executed pursuant to a properly adopted Rule 10b5-1 plan are not
subject to the restrictions on trading imposed by this Insider Trading Policy, including the restrictions relating to
blackout periods described above.

Rule 10b5-1 plans may not be adopted during a blackout period and may only be adopted when the person
adopting the plan is unaware of material nonpublic information about the Company. We recommend that all

Rule 10b5-1 plans be submitted in advance to a Securities Trading Officer.

For information concerning the establishment of a Rule 10b5-1 plan, please contact Liberty Media’s Legal
Department.

Questions and Requests for Assistance

Your compliance with this policy is of the utmost importance both for you and the Company. If you have any
questions about this policy or its application to any proposed transaction, you may obtain additional guidance
from a Securities Trading Officer. Do not try to resolve uncertainties on your own, as the rules relating to
insider trading are often complex, are not always intuitive and are subject to changing interpretations.

Certification

All employees must certify their understanding of, and intent to comply with, this Insider Trading Policy upon
request by the Company.

This Insider Trading Policy is effective as of August 15, 2023.
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Exhibit 21

As of December 31, 2024

A table of subsidiaries of Liberty Media Corporation is set forth below, indicating as to each the state or jurisdiction of
organization and the names under which such subsidiaries do business. Subsidiaries not included in the table are inactive or,
considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Entity Name Domicile
Allsport Management S.A. Switzerland
|Alpha Prema UK Limited UK
Beta Holdings Limited Jersey
Causeway QE Blocker, Inc. DE
Delta 2 (Lux) S.arl. Luxembourg
Delta 3 (UK) Limited UK
Delta Topco Limited Jersey
Exclusive GP LTD. UK
F1 Academy Limited UK
Formula Motorsport Limited (fka GP2 Motorsport Limited) UK
Formula One Administration Limited UK
Formula One Asset Management Limited UK
Formula One Digital Media Limited UK
Formula One Hospitality and Event Services Limited UK
Formula One Licensing B.V. Netherlands
Formula One Management Limited UK
Formula One Marketing II Limited UK
Formula One Marketing Limited UK
Formula One Marketing US, INC. DE
Formula One Research, Engineering and Development Limited (fka Beta D3 Limited) UK
Formula One World Championship Limited UK
GHH Europe B.V. Netherlands
Goldman & Goldman Enterprises LLC DE
Hammerhead B. V. Netherlands
Las Vegas Grand Prix, Inc. DE, NV
Libertad Especia, S.L.U. Spain




Liberty GR Cayman Finance Company 11

UK

Liberty GR Cayman Holding Company

Cayman Islands

Liberty GR Holding Company Limited UK
Liberty GR US Sub 1 Corp. DE
Liberty HK, Inc. DE
Liberty LYV, LLC DE
Liberty Programming Company LLC DE
Liberty Property Holdings Common Management, LLC DE
Liberty Property Holdings Lot 7A-1, LLC DE
Liberty Property Holdings Lot 7A-2, LLC DE
Liberty Property Holdings Lot 7A-3, LLC DE
Liberty Property Holdings, Inc. DE
Liberty QE Holdings, LLC DE
Liberty Satellite Radio, Inc. DE
LMC CC Technologies, LLC DE
LMC LYV, LLC DE
LSAT Astro LLC DE
LSR Foreign Holdings 2, LLC DE
LSR Foreign Holdings, LLC DE
LV Diamond Production, LLC DE
LV Diamond Property I, LLC DE, NV
Monaco Star Events Monaco
Quint Events Australia PTY Ltd Australia
Quint Events International LLC DE
Quint Events International LLC London Ltd. UK
Quint Events, LLC DE
Quint QFC LLC Qatar
SLEC Holdings Limited Jersey
Sportsnet Corporation PTY Ltd. Australia
TSAT Holding 2, Inc. DE




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-274043) on Form S-8 and (No. 333-281660) on
Form S-3/ASR of our reports dated February 27, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Liberty Media
Corporation and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 27, 2025




Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-274043) and on Form S-
3/ASR (No. 333-281660) of Liberty Media Corporation of our report dated February 20, 2025, with respect to the consolidated
financial statements of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 27, 2025




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Derek Chang, certify that:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Liberty Media Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

1.

2.

3.

4.
a)
b)
)
d)

5.

Date:

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report based on such
evaluation; and

disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

February 27, 2025

/s/ DEREK CHANG

Derek Chang
President and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

1, Brian J. Wendling, certify that:

Date:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Liberty Media Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this annual report;

The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual
report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
annual report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this annual report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

February 27, 2025

/s/ BRIAN J. WENDLING
Brian J. Wendling
Chief Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32
Certification

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United
States Code), each of the undersigned officers of Liberty Media Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), does hereby certify,

to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 (the "Form 10-K") of the Company fully complies with
the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 10-K fairly

presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated:  February 27, 2025 /sl DEREK CHANG
Derek Chang
President and Chief Executive Officer
Dated:  February 27, 2025 /s/ BRIAN J. WENDLING

Brian J. Wendling
Chief Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and
(b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code) and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-K or as a separate disclosure

document.




Exhibit 99.1

Unaudited Attributed Financial Information for Tracking Stock Groups

The following tables present Liberty Media Corporation’s (“Liberty” or the “Company”) assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 and revenue, expenses and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. The tables further present
our assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash flows that are attributed to the Liberty Formula One Group (“Formula One Group”), the
Liberty Live Group, the Liberty SiriusXM Group (prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, as defined in note 1) and the Liberty
Braves Group (“Braves Group”) (prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, as defined in note 1), respectively. The Reclassification,
as described in note 1, is reflected in the attributed financial statements on a prospective basis from August 3, 2023. The financial
information should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Notwithstanding the following attribution of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and cash flows to the Formula One Group, the
Liberty Live Group, the Liberty SiriusXM Group (prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, as defined in note 1) and the Braves
Group (prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, as defined in note 1), our tracking stock capital structure does not affect the
ownership or the respective legal title to our assets or responsibility for our liabilities. We and our subsidiaries are each responsible for our
respective liabilities. Holders of Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock are holders of our common stock
and are subject to risks associated with an investment in our company and all of our businesses, assets and liabilities. The issuance of
Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock does not affect the rights of our creditors.




SUMMARY ATTRIBUTED FINANCIAL DATA

Formula One Group

Summary Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in affiliates, accounted for using the equity method
Goodwill

Intangible assets subject to amortization, net

Total assets

Long-term debt, including current portion

Attributed net assets

Summary Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue

Cost of Formula 1 revenue

Selling, general and administrative expense (1)

Operating income (loss)

Interest expense

Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net

Unrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interest

Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments, net
Income tax (expense) benefit

Earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders

December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
amounts in millions

$ 2,631 1,408

$ 33 41

$ 4,134 3,956

$ 2,689 2,858

$ 11,759 10,267

$ 2,992 2,906

$ 7,388 6,419

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

$ 3,653 3,222 2,573
$ (2,294) (2,240) (1,750)
$ (408) (316) (288)
$ 287 297 173
$ (208) (214) (149)
$ (10) 4) —
$ — 15 54
$ (120) 42 115
$ (47) @7 311
$ (30) 185 558

(1) Includes stock-based compensation of $30 million, $20 million, and $16 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and

2022, respectively.




Liberty Live Group

Summary Balance Sheet Data

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023

amounts in millions

Cash and cash equivalents $ 325 305
Investments in affiliates, accounted for using the equity method $ 458 333
Total assets $ 1,223 1,162
Long-term debt, including current portion $ 1,556 1,317
Attributed net assets $ (359) (188)
Summary Statement of Operations Data
Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

Selling, general and administrative expense (1) $ (11) (11)
Operating income (loss) $ (11 (1n
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net $ 238 22
Income tax (expense) benefit $ 8 38
Earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders $ 31) (142)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation of $4 million and $2 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION
December 31, 2024

(unaudited)
Attributed (note 1)
Liberty
Formula One Live Inter-Group Consolidated
Group Group Eliminations Liberty
amounts in millions
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,631 325 — 2,956
Trade and other receivables, net 114 — — 114
Other current assets 277 — — 277
Total current assets 3,022 325 — 3,347
Investments in affiliates, accounted for using the equity method
(note 1) 33 458 — 491
Property and equipment, at cost 1,007 — — 1,007
Accumulated depreciation (197) — — (197)
810 — — 810
Goodwill 4,134 — — 4,134
Intangible assets subject to amortization, net 2,689 — — 2,689
Deferred income tax assets (note 3) 577 217 (34) 760
Other assets 494 223 — 717
Total assets $ 11,759 1,223 (34) 12,948
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 645 3 — 648
Current portion of debt (note 1) 26 — — 26
Deferred revenue 267 — — 267
Financial instrument liabilities 138 — — 138
Other current liabilities 54 — — 54
Total current liabilities 1,130 3 — 1,133
Long-term debt (note 1) 2,966 1,556 — 4,522
Other liabilities 275 1 (34) 242
Total liabilities 4,371 1,560 (34) 5,897
Equity / Attributed net assets 7,388 (359) — 7,029
Noncontrolling interests in equity of subsidiaries = 22 = 22
Total liabilities and equity $ 11,759 1,223 (34) 12,948




Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables, net

Other current assets

Current assets of discontinued operations

Total current assets

Investments in affiliates, accounted for using the
equity method (note 1)

Property and equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Goodwill

Intangible assets subject to amortization, net

Deferred income tax assets (note 3)

Other assets

Noncurrent assets of discontinued operations
Total assets

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of debt (note 1)
Deferred revenue
Financial instrument liabilities
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt (note 1)
Other liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations
Total liabilities
Equity / Attributed net assets
Noncontrolling interests in equity of subsidiaries

Total liabilities and equity

BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

December 31, 2023
(unaudited)
Attributed (note 1)
Liberty Liberty
Formula One Live SiriusXM Inter-Group Consolidated
Group Group Group Eliminations Liberty
amounts in millions
$ 1,408 305 — — 1,713
123 — — — 123
180 — — — 180
— — 1,361 — 1,361
1,711 305 1,361 — 3,377
41 333 — — 374
973 — — — 973
(135) — — — (135)
838 — — — 838
3,956 — — — 3,956
2,858 = = = 2,858
608 167 — 3) 772
255 357 = — 612
— — 28,540 — 28,540
$ 10,267 1,162 29,901 3) 41,327
$ 472 2 — — 474
36 70 — — 106
247 — = — 247
— 8 — — 8
32 — — — 32
— — 3,876 — 3,876
787 80 3,876 = 4,743
2,870 1,247 — — 4,117
191 — — @3) 188
— — 12,834 — 12,834
3,848 1,327 16,710 3) 21,882
6,419 (188) 10,165 — 16,396
= 23 3,026 = 3,049
$ 10,267 1,162 29,901 3) 41,327




STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION
December 31, 2024

Revenue:
Formula 1 revenue
Other revenue

Total revenue

Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of Formula 1 revenue (exclusive of
depreciation shown separately below)
Other cost of sales
Other operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative, including
stock-based compensation (note 2)
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment and acquisition costs

Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on
financial instruments, net
Other, net

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit (note 3)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to the
noncontrolling interests
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty
stockholders

(unaudited)

Attributed (note 1)

Liberty Liberty
Formula One Live SiriusXM Consolidated
Group Group Group Liberty
amounts in millions

3,318 — — 3,318
335 — — 335
3,653 — — 3,653
2,294 — — 2,294
194 — — 194
13 — — 13
408 11 — 419
352 — — 352
105 — — 105
3,366 11 — 3,377
287 (11) — 276
(208) (29) — (237)
(10) 238 — 228
(120) (263) — (383)
68 24 — 92
(270) (30) — (300)
17 41) — 24)
(47) 8 — 39)
(30) (33) — (63)
— (2,412) (2,412)
(30) (33) (2,412) (2,475)
2) (410) (412)

(30) @31 (2,002) (2,063)




STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION

December 31, 2023
(unaudited)
Attributed (note 1)
Liberty Liberty
Formula One Live SiriusXM Braves Consolidated
Group Group Group Group Liberty
amounts in millions
Revenue:
Formula 1 revenue $ 3,222 — — — 3,222
Other revenue — — = 350 350
Total revenue 3,222 — — 350 3,572
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of Formula 1 revenue (exclusive of depreciation
shown separately below) 2,240 — — — 2,240
Other operating expenses — — — 274 274
Selling, general and administrative, including stock-
based compensation (note 2) 316 11 — 69 396
Depreciation and amortization 369 — — 37 406
Impairment and acquisition costs — — — 1 1
2,925 11 — 381 3,317
Operating income (loss) 297 (11) — 31) 255
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (214) (10) 4) (20) (248)
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net @) 22 127 12 157
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial
instruments, net 42 (153) (59) 3 (167)
Unrealized gains (losses) on intergroup interests 15 — — (83) (68)
Other, net 75 (28) (6) 5 46
(86) (169) 58 (83) (280)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes 211 (180) 58 (114) (25)
Income tax (expense) benefit (note 3) 27) 38 (13) 3 1
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 184 (142) 45 (111) (24)
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations = = 986 == 986
Net earnings (loss) 184 (142) 1,031 (111) 962
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling
interests (1) — 202 — 201
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders $ 185 (142) 829 (111) 761




STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS INFORMATION
December 31, 2022

Revenue:
Formula 1 revenue
Other revenue
Total revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of Formula 1 revenue (exclusive of depreciation shown
separately below)
Other operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative, including stock-based
compensation (note 2)
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment and acquisition costs

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Share of earnings (losses) of affiliates, net
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) on financial
instruments, net
Unrealized gains (losses) on inter-group interests
Other, net

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income
taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit (note 3)
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Net earnings (loss) from discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling
interests
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to the redeemable
noncontrolling interests

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Liberty stockholders

(unaudited)

Attributed (note 1)

Liberty
Formula One SiriusXM Braves Consolidated
Group Group Group Liberty
amounts in millions

$ 2,573 — — 2,573
— — 588 588
2,573 — 588 3,161
1,750 — — 1,750
— — 434 434
288 — 105 393
362 — 71 433
— — 6 6
2,400 — 616 3,016
173 — (28) 145

(149) ®) (29) (186)
— 72 32 104
115 396 13 524
54 — (35) 19
58 23 20 101
78 483 1 562
251 483 27 707
311 (101) ®) 202
562 382 35 909
— 1,120 — 1,120
562 1,502 395 2,029
17 210 — 227

(13) — — (13)
$ 558 1,292 35 1,815




STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
December 31, 2024
(unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Non-cash impairment costs
Share of (earnings) loss of affiliates, net
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments, net
Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Intergroup tax allocation
Intergroup tax (payments) receipts
Other charges (credits), net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Current and other assets

Payables and other liabilities

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expended for property and equipment, including internal-use software and

website development

Cash proceeds from dispositions of investments

Cash (paid) received for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Investments in equity method affiliates and debt and equity securities

Return of investment in equity method affiliates
Other investing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings of debt
Repayments of debt
Issuance of Series C Liberty Formula One common stock
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for stock-based compensation
Other financing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations:
Cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

Attributed (note 1)

Liberty Liberty
Formula One Live SiriusXM Consolidated
Group Group Group Liberty
amounts in millions
$ (30) (33) (2,412) (2,475)
_ — 2,412 2,412
352 — — 352
30 4 — 34
73 — — 73
10 (238) — (228)
120 263 — 383
6 — — 6
35 (6) — 29
(107) 2) — (109)
129 2 — 131
14 (4) — 10
39 — — 39
(104) — — (104)
567 (14) — 553
(75) — — (75)
10 107 — 117
(205) — — (205)
3) 3 — (1)
1 — — 1
(15) 1 — (14)
(292) 105 — (187)
645 — — 645
(677) (71) — (748)
939 — — 939
14 3) — a7
72 3 — 75
965 (71) — 894
(10) — — (10)
— — 882 882
— — (709) (709)
— — (488) (488)
— — (315) (315)
1,230 20 (315) 935
1,408 305 315 2,028
$ 2,638 325 — 2,963




STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Share of (earnings) loss of affiliates, net
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments,
net
Unrealized (gains) losses on intergroup interests, net
Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Intergroup tax allocation
Intergroup tax (payments) receipts
Other charges (credits), net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Current and other assets
Payables and other liabilities
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expended for property and equipment, including internal-
use software and website development
Cash proceeds from dispositions of investments
Investments in equity method affiliates and debt and equity
securities
Other investing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings of debt
Repayments of debt
Settlement of intergroup interests
Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. Split-Off
Reclassification
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for stock-based compensation
Distribution from former subsidiary
Other financing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations:
Cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of
period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

December 31, 2023
(unaudited)

Attributed (note 1)

Liberty Liberty
Formula One Live SiriusXM Braves Consolidated
Group Group Group Group Liberty
amounts in millions
184 (142) 1,031 (111) 962
— — (986) — (986)
369 — — 37 406
20 2 — 7 29
4 (22) (127) (12) (157)
(42) 153 59 3) 167
(15) — — 83 68
(1) 35 — — 34
18 (37) 13 3) )
(176) — (1) (1) (178)
122 — — (1) 121
4 (2) 6 4 12
46 (5) — (34) 7
86 5 1 66 158
619 (13) 4) 32 634
(426) — — (35) (461)
110 1 — — 111
(173) 3) — — (176)
(21) 3 — — (18)
(510) 1 — (35) (544)
— 1,135 — 30 1,165
(70) (918) — (20) (1,008)
(273) — — — (273)
— — — (188) (188)
(100) 100 — — —
©) — — ) (10)
— — 3 — 3
17 — — 9 26
(435) 317 3 (170) (285)
1 — — — 1
— — 1,830 — 1,830
— — (696) — (696)
— — (1,188) — (1,188)
— — (54) — (54)
(325) 305 (55) (173) (248)
1,733 NA 370 173 2,276
1,408 305 315 — 2,028
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
December 31, 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating
activities:
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Non-cash impairment costs
Share of (earnings) loss of affiliates, net
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on financial instruments, net
Unrealized (gains) losses on intergroup interests, net
Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Intergroup tax allocation
Intergroup tax (payments) receipts
Other charges (credits), net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Current and other assets
Payables and other liabilities
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expended for property and equipment, including internal-use
software and website development
Cash proceeds from dispositions of investments
Investments in equity method affiliates and debt and equity securities

Subsidiary initial public offering proceeds returned from (invested in) trust

account
Return of investment in equity method affiliates
Other investing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings of debt
Repayments of debt
Settlement of intergroup interests
Taxes paid in lieu of shares issued for stock-based compensation
Repayment of initial public offering proceeds to subsidiary shareholders
Liberty stock repurchases
Distribution from former subsidiary
Other financing activities, net
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations:
Cash provided (used) by operating activities
Cash provided (used) by investing activities
Cash provided (used) by financing activities
Net cash provided (used) by discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

(unaudited)

Attributed (note 1)

Liberty
Formula One SiriusXM Braves Consolidated
Group Group Group Liberty
amounts in millions
$ 562 1,502 (35) 2,029
— (1,120) — (1,120)
362 — 71 433
16 — 12 28
— — 5 5
— (72) (32) (104)
(115) (396) (13) (524)
(54) — 35 (19)
(14) — — (14)
(306) 166 (10) (150)
(109) (65) 18 (156)
72 — 8 80
4 (23) 3 (16)
(87) — (10) 97
203 (1) 1 203
534 ©9) 53 578
(291) — (18) (309)
53 — 48 101
(52) — (&) (57)
579 — — 579
9 — 28 37
96 — — 96
394 — 53 447
2,884 250 155 3,289
(3,564) (914) (309) (4,787)
(64) — (14) (78)
24 — — 24
(579) — — (579)
37 — — 37
— 672 — 672
67 1 ) 59
(1,269) 9 177) (1,437)
— 1,968 — 1,968
— (493) — (493)
— (1,711) — (1,711)
— (236) — (236)
(341) (236) (71) (648)
2,074 606 244 2,924
$ 1,733 370 173 2,276
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M

Notes to Attributed Financial Information
(unaudited)

A tracking stock is a type of common stock that the issuing company intends to reflect or "track" the economic performance of
a particular business or "group," rather than the economic performance of the company as a whole.

On July 18, 2023, the Company completed the split-off (the “Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off”) of its wholly owned
subsidiary, Atlanta Braves Holdings, Inc. (“Atlanta Braves Holdings”). The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off was
accomplished by a redemption by the Company of each outstanding share of Liberty Braves common stock in exchange for one
share of the corresponding series of Atlanta Braves Holdings common stock. Atlanta Braves Holdings was comprised of the
businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Braves Group immediately prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off,
except for the intergroup interests in the Braves Group attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group and the Formula One Group,
which were settled and extinguished in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off.

On August 3, 2023, the Company reclassified its then-outstanding shares of common stock into three new tracking stocks —
Liberty SiriusXM common stock, Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock, and, in connection
therewith, provided for the attribution of the businesses, assets and liabilities of the Company’s remaining tracking stock groups
among its newly created Liberty SiritusXM Group, Formula One Group and Liberty Live Group (the “Reclassification”). As a
result of the Reclassification, each then-outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock was reclassified into one share of
the corresponding series of new Liberty SiriusXM common stock and 0.2500 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty
Live common stock and each outstanding share of Liberty Formula One common stock was reclassified into one share of the
corresponding series of new Liberty Formula One common stock and 0.0428 of a share of the corresponding series of Liberty
Live common stock.

Each of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification were intended to be tax-free to stockholders of the
Company, except with respect to the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares. In July 2024, the IRS completed its review of
the Reclassification and notified the Company that it agreed with the nontaxable characterization of the transaction. In
September 2024, the IRS completed its review of the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and notified the Company that it agreed
with the nontaxable characterization of the transaction. The Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off and the Reclassification are
reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and these attributed financial statements on a prospective basis.

On September 9, 2024, Liberty completed the split-off (the “Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off”) of its wholly owned
subsidiary, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Inc. (“Liberty Sirius XM Holdings”). The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was
accomplished through the redemption by the Company of each outstanding share of Liberty SiriusXM common stock in
exchange for 0.8375 of a share of Liberty Sirius XM Holdings common stock, with cash paid in lieu of fractional shares.
Liberty Sirius XM Holdings was comprised of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group
immediately prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off. The Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off was intended to be
tax-free to holders of Liberty SiriusXM common stock (except with respect to cash received in lieu of fractional shares).

Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the
Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off represents a strategic shift that had a major effect on the Company’s operations and
financial results.

While the Formula One Group and Liberty Live Group have separate collections of businesses, assets and liabilities attributed
to them, no group is a separate legal entity and therefore cannot own assets, issue securities or enter into legally binding
agreements. Holders of tracking stock have no direct claim to the group's stock or assets and therefore, do not own, by virtue of
their ownership of a Liberty tracking stock, any equity or voting interest in a public company, such as Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc. (“Live Nation”), in which Liberty holds an interest and that is attributed to a Liberty tracking stock group,
the Liberty Live Group. Holders of tracking stock are also not represented by separate boards of directors. Instead, holders of
tracking stock are stockholders of the parent corporation, with a single board of directors and subject to all of the risks and
liabilities of the parent corporation.

As of December 31, 2024, the Formula One Group is primarily comprised of Liberty’s interests in Formula 1 and QuintEvents,
LLC (“QuintEvents”), cash and Liberty’s 2.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2027. As of
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)
(unaudited)

December 31, 2024, the Formula One Group has cash and cash equivalents of approximately $2,631 million, which includes
$1,389 million of subsidiary cash.

As of December 31, 2024, the Liberty Live Group is primarily comprised of Liberty’s interest in Live Nation, cash, other
minority investments, Liberty’s 2.375% Exchangeable Senior Debentures due 2053 and an undrawn margin loan obligation. As
of December 31, 2023, the Liberty Live Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $305 million.

Prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM common stock was intended to track and reflect the
separate economic performance of the businesses, assets and liabilities attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group. At the time of
the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off, the Liberty SiriusXM Group was comprised of Liberty’s interest in Sirius XM
Holdings, corporate cash, Liberty’s 3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028, Liberty’s 2.75% Exchangeable Senior
Debentures due 2049 and a margin loan obligation incurred by a wholly-owned special purpose subsidiary of Liberty. As
previously disclosed, Liberty Sirius XM Holdings is presented as a discontinued operation in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements. Prior to the Reclassification, Liberty’s interest in Live Nation, Liberty’s 0.5% Exchangeable Senior
Debentures due 2050 and a margin loan secured by shares of Live Nation were attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group and
are presented as continuing operations in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the Braves Group was primarily comprised of Braves Holdings, LLC, which
indirectly owns the Atlanta Braves Major League Baseball Club (the “Braves”), certain assets and liabilities associated with the
Braves’ stadium (the “Stadium”) and a mixed-use development around the Stadium that features retail, office, hotel and
entertainment opportunities and cash.

On March 29, 2024, the Company agreed, subject to certain conditions, to acquire approximately 86% of the equity interests in
Dorna Sports, S.L. for a purchase price of approximately €3.0 billion, to be funded with cash. The Company entered into
foreign currency forward contracts for close to the full purchase price. In December 2024, The European Commission notified
the Company that a Phase II investigation would occur, extending regulatory review beyond December 31, 2024. The Company
agreed to pay €126 million to the sellers to extend the longstop date to June 30, 2025 in order to accommodate the Phase II
investigation. The €126 million is considered prepaid purchase consideration and is included in other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. Subsequent December 31, 2024, the Company extended a
portion of its foreign currency forward contracts through the extended longstop date.

On November 13, 2024, the Company announced that it is pursuing a plan to split-off the Liberty Live Group (the “Liberty
Live Split-Off”). Immediately prior to the Liberty Live Split-Off, QuintEvents would be reattributed from the Formula One
Group to the Liberty Live Group in exchange for certain private assets and cash. The Liberty Live Split-Off would be effected
through the redemption of Liberty Live common stock in exchange for common stock of a newly formed company, Liberty
Live Holdings, Inc. The Company would redeem each outstanding share of its Series A, Series B and Series C Liberty Live
common stock for one share of the corresponding series of common stock of Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. As a result of the
Liberty Live Split-Off, the Company and Liberty Live Holdings, Inc. would be separate publicly traded companies, and the
Company would no longer have a tracking stock structure. The Liberty Live Split-Off is subject to various conditions including,
among other things, shareholder approval and the receipt of an opinion of tax counsel. The Liberty Live Split-Off is intended to
be tax-free to stockholders of the Company.

As of December 31, 2021, 6,792,903 notional shares represented an 11.0% intergroup interest in the Braves Group previously
held by the Formula One Group, 2,292,037 notional shares represented a 3.7% intergroup interest in the Braves Group
previously held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group and 5,271,475 notional shares represented a 2.2% intergroup interest in the
Formula One Group previously held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

The intergroup interests represented quasi-equity interests which were not represented by outstanding shares of common stock;
rather, the Formula One Group and Liberty SiriusXM Group had attributed interests in the Braves Group, which were generally
stated in terms of a number of shares of Liberty Braves common stock, and the Liberty SiriusXM Group also had an attributed
interest in the Formula One Group, which was generally stated in terms of a number of shares of Liberty Formula One common
stock. Each reporting period, the notional shares representing the intergroup interests were marked to fair value. The changes in
fair value were recorded
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)
(unaudited)

in the Unrealized gain (loss) on intergroup interests line item in the unaudited attributed consolidated statements of operations.

The Braves Group intergroup interests attributable to the Formula One Group and the Liberty SiriusXM Group were reflected
in the Investment in intergroup interests line item, and the Braves Group liabilities for the intergroup interests were reflected in
the Redeemable intergroup interests line item in the unaudited attributed consolidated balance sheets. Similarly, the Formula
One Group intergroup interest attributable to the Liberty SiriusXM Group was reflected in the Investment in intergroup
interests line item, and the Formula One Group liability for the intergroup interest was reflected in the Redeemable intergroup
interests line item in the unaudited attributed consolidated balance sheets. Both accounts were presented as noncurrent, as cash
settlement of the intergroup interests was not required. Appropriate eliminating entries were recorded in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

During September 2022, the Formula One Group and the Braves Group paid approximately $64 million and $14 million,
respectively, to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to settle a portion of the intergroup interests in the Formula One Group and Braves
Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase of a portion of Liberty’s 1.375% Cash Convertible
Senior Notes due 2023 (the “Convertible Notes™).

During March 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $202 million to the Liberty SiriusXM Group to settle a
portion of the intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty SiriusXM Group, as a result of the repurchase
of a portion of the Convertible Notes. On July 12, 2023, the Formula One Group paid approximately $71 million to the Liberty
SiriusXM Group to settle and extinguish the remaining intergroup interest in the Formula One Group held by the Liberty
SiriusXM Group.

In connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, the intergroup interests in the Braves Group attributed to the Liberty
SiriusXM Group and Formula One Group were settled and extinguished through the attribution, to the respective tracking stock
group, of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock on a one-for-one basis equal to the number of notional shares
representing the intergroup interest. On July 19, 2023, the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock attributed
to the Formula One Group to settle and extinguish the intergroup interest in connection with the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-
Off were distributed on a pro rata basis to holders of Liberty Formula One common stock. During November 2023, Liberty
exchanged the shares of Atlanta Braves Holdings Series C common stock attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group with a third
party to satisfy certain debt obligations attributed to the Liberty SiriusXM Group.

For information relating to investments in affiliates accounted for using the equity method and debt, see notes 7 and 9,
respectively, of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Cash compensation expense for our corporate employees is allocated among the Formula One Group and the Liberty Live
Group and was allocated to the Liberty SiriusXM Group prior to the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off and the Braves
Group prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off, based on the estimated percentage of time spent providing services for
each group. On an annual basis estimated time spent is determined through an interview process and a review of personnel
duties unless transactions significantly change the composition of companies and investments in either respective group which
would require a timelier reevaluation of estimated time spent. Other general and administrative expenses are charged directly to
the groups whenever possible and are otherwise allocated based on estimated usage or some other reasonably determined
methodology. Stock compensation related to each tracking stock is calculated based on actual awards outstanding.

While we believe that this allocation method is reasonable and fair to each group, we may elect to change the allocation
methodology or percentages used to allocate general and administrative expenses in the future.

‘We have accounted for income taxes for the Formula One Group, the Liberty Live Group, the Liberty SiriusXM Group (prior to
the Liberty Sirius XM Holdings Split-Off), and the Braves Group (prior to the Atlanta Braves Holdings Split-Off) in the
accompanying attributed financial information in a manner similar to a stand-alone company basis. To the extent this
methodology differs from our tax sharing policy, differences have been reflected in the attributed net assets of the respective
groups.
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)

(unaudited)
Liberty Formula One Group
Income tax benefit (expense) consists of:
Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Current:
Federal $ 40 31 36
State and local 6 1 (7)
Foreign (58) (41) (24)
(12) ©) 5
Deferred:
Federal (7) (40) (24)
State and local 1 — —
Foreign (29) 22 330
(35) (18) 306
Income tax benefit (expense) $ (47) 27) 311

Income tax benefit (expense) differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21% for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 as a result of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

Computed expected tax benefit (expense) $ 4) (44) (53)
State and local income taxes, net of federal income taxes 6 2 5)
Foreign income taxes, net of foreign tax credit 15 3 22
Change in valuation allowance affecting tax expense 2) %) 338
Stock-based compensation 15 6 11
Non-deductible executive compensation (10) 3) (6)
Non-taxable gain / (non-deductible loss) (49) 3) 3
Foreign currency adjustments — 25 —
Non-deductible interest 7) (6) 4)
Capitalized transaction costs @) 2) (@)
Intergroup interest — 3 11
Other, net 4 3) 5)

Income tax benefit (expense) $ 47) 27) 311
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)
(unaudited)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred income tax assets and deferred
income tax liabilities are presented below:

December 31,

2024 2023

amounts in millions

Deferred tax assets:

Tax loss and credit carryforwards $ 609 666
Intangible assets 8 =
Other accrued liabilities 14 15
Accrued stock compensation 5 10
Discount on debt — 5
Deferred tax assets 636 696
Valuation allowance (10) (8)
Net deferred tax assets 626 688
Deferred tax liabilities:
Investments 2 —
Intangible Assets — 4
Fixed assets 80 79
Discount on debt 1 —
Deferred tax liabilities 83 83
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 543 605
Liberty Live Group

Income tax benefit (expense) consists of:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Current:
Federal $ 2 1 NA
State and local — — NA
Foreign — — NA
2 1 NA
Deferred:
Federal 6 37 NA
State and local — — NA
Foreign — — NA
6 37 NA
Income tax benefit (expense) $ 8 38 NA
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)
(unaudited)

Income tax benefit (expense) differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21% for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 as a result of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Computed expected tax benefit (expense) $ 9 38 NA
State and local income taxes, net of federal income taxes — 1 NA
Stock-based compensation 1 — NA
Non-deductible executive compensation (1) — NA
Other, net (1) 1) NA
Income tax benefit (expense) $ 8 38 NA

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred income tax assets and deferred
income tax liabilities are presented below:

December 31,

2024 2023

amounts in millions

Deferred tax assets:

Tax loss and credit carryforwards $ 19 21
Investments 105 123
Intangible assets 4 6
Accrued stock compensation 2 —
Discount on debt 87 17
Deferred tax assets 217 167
Valuation allowance — —
Net deferred tax assets 217 167

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 217 167

Liberty SiriusXM Group

Income tax benefit (expense) consists of:

Current:
Federal
State and local
Foreign

Deferred:
Federal
State and local
Foreign

Income tax benefit (expense)

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

$ — — 60
— 5
— — 65
— 13) (161)
— — ()
— (13) (166)

$ — 13) (101)
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)
(unaudited)

Income tax benefit (expense) differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21% for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 as a result of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Computed expected tax benefit (expense) $ = (12) (100)
State and local income taxes, net of federal income taxes — (1) —
Other, net — — €))
Income tax benefit (expense) $ — (13) (101)

Braves Group

Income tax benefit (expense) consists of:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions
Current:
Federal $ NA — (18)
State and local NA — —
Foreign NA — —
NA — (18)
Deferred:
Federal NA 4 14
State and local NA (1) 4)
Foreign NA — —
NA 3 10
Income tax benefit (expense) $ NA 3 ®)

Income tax benefit (expense) differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 21% for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 as a result of the following:

Years ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
amounts in millions

Computed expected tax benefit (expense) $ NA 23 5
State and local income taxes, net of federal income taxes NA (1) 4
Capitalized transaction costs NA (1) 1)
Intergroup interest NA 17) 7
Other, net NA (1) (1)

Income tax benefit (expense) $ NA 3 ®)

(4)  The intergroup balances as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 also include the impact of the timing of certain tax
benefits which are subject to the tracking stock tax sharing policies.

(5)  The Liberty Formula One common stock and Liberty Live common stock have voting and conversion rights under our restated
charter. Following is a summary of those rights. Holders of Series A common stock of each group are entitled to one vote per
share, and holders of Series B common stock of each group are entitled to ten votes per share. Holders of Series C common
stock of each group are entitled to 1/100th of a vote per share in certain limited cases and are otherwise not be entitled to vote.
In general, holders of Series A and Series B
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Notes to Attributed Financial Information (Continued)
(unaudited)

common stock vote as a single class. In certain limited circumstances, the board of directors may elect to seek the approval of
the holders of only Series A and Series B Liberty Formula One common stock or only Series A and Series B Liberty Live
common stock.

At the option of the holder, each share of Series B common stock of each group will be convertible into one share of Series A

common stock of the same group. At the discretion of our board of directors, the common stock related to one group may be
converted into common stock of the same series that is related to another other group.
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